INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UM®

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Santa Barbara

The Biopsychology of Sexual Motivation in the Male Rat:

Effects of Primary and Secondary Incentives

A Dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in Psychology

by

Hassan Habib López

Committee in charge:

Professor Aaron Ettenberg, Chair

Professor Deborah Olster

Professor Leda Cosmides

Professor Loy Lytle

August 2001

UMI Number: 3024430

UMI®

UMI Microform 3024430

Copyright 2001 by Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

> Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company 300 North Zeeb Road P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

This dissertation of Hassan Habib López is approved.

Loy

Loy Lytle

Rede (comides

Leda Cosmides

Dehach H. Olste

Deborah Olster

Aaron Ettenberg, Committee Chair

August 2001

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

-

- 23

The Biopsychology of Sexual Motivation in the Male Rat:

Effects of Primary and Secondary Incentives

Copyright © 2001

by

Hassan Habib López

iii

•

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to acknowledge the enormous impact that certain psychologists, past and present, have had on my scientific passion and theoretical views. These include Sigmund Freud, Jaak Panksepp, Jordan Peterson, and Donald Symons. Second, many thanks to my committee members, Aaron Ettenberg, Deborah Olster, Leda Cosmides, and Loy Lytle, for their guidance, encouragement, and advice throughout this difficult and often tedious process.

I owe a great debt to the close friends I have made in graduate school who have expanded my understanding of human nature through countless discussions and pointless arguments: Elliott Waldron, Brad Duchaine, Adam Fox, Debra Lieberman, Keith Rozendal, Brendan Walker, and Emily Street. My deepest gratitude is extended to all those who contributed their own time and effort in helping me complete this research project. This includes my many undergraduate research assistants, Tara Edde, Lara Greco, Emily Schick, Elnaz Shahabi, Erin Dominy, and David Vaknin, as well as our superb laboratory technicians, Brian Necessary, Leslie Lipman, and Rick Bernardi, and Psychology's invaluable staff members, Joe Jablonski, George Tetrick, and Stephanie Richardson. Lastly, to my parents, Mariam and Adalberto López, I offer my most profound love and appreciation, for providing me with the best of all possible childhood environments, for encouraging my academic interests without applying excessive pressure, for funding my entire life, and for granting me unreserved, unconditional support throughout every trial and tribulation. Thank you.

iv

VITA OF HASSAN HABIB LOPEZ

August 2001

Personal Information

Date of Birth: 10-15-73 Gender: Male Ethnicity: Puerto Rican Marital Status: Single Citizenship: U.S.

Contact Information

Work: University of California Department of Psychology Santa Barbara, California 93106 Phone: (805) 893-4249 Fax: (805) 893-4303 E-mail: lopez@psych.ucsb.edu

Home: 137 Mohawk Rd. Santa Barbara, CA 93109 Phone: (805) 899-4077

Educational Background

1995-2001: University of California, Santa Barbara Ph.D., Psychology (August, 2001) Dissertation entitled, "The Biopsychology of Sexual Motivation in the Male Rat: Effects of Primary and Secondary Incentives" (advisor, Dr. Aaron Ettenberg)

1991-1995: Harvard University B.A., Psychology (magna cum laude), awarded June, 1995 Senior Honors Thesis entitled, "The Effects of Brief Social Isolation on Pain Sensitivity" (advisor, Dr. Jordan Peterson)

Professional Employment

Acting Instructor (Summer, 1999, 2000, 2001) Department of Psychology, University of California at Santa Barbara Psychology 163HL: Human Sexual Behavior Psychology 122: Motivation

v

Teaching Assistant (1997-present)

Department of Psychology, University of California at Santa Barbara.

Psychology 1: Introduction to Psychology Psychology 7: Introduction to Experimental Psychology Psychology 106: Introduction to Physiological Psychology Psychology 122: Motivation Psychology 116L: Animal Learning Psychology 169L: Neuroanatomy Psychology 133A: Psychopharmacology

Awards and Honors

John Harvard Scholarship for Academic Excellence, Harvard University, 1993-1995.

University of California Regents Fellowship, University of California, Santa Barbara, 1995, 2000.

Ford Foundation Predoctoral Graduate Fellowship, University of California, Santa Barbara, awarded 1996 (not accepted).

National Science Foundation Graduate Fellowship, University of California, Santa Barbara, 1996-1999.

Ford Foundation Minority Doctoral Fellowship, University of California, Santa Barbara, 2000-2001.

John Towbes Fellowship for Academic Excellence, University of California, Santa Barbara, 1995-2001.

Publications

Lopez, H.H., Olster, D.H., and Ettenberg, A. (1999). Sexual motivation in the male rat: the role of primary incentives and copulatory experience. *Hormones and Behavior*, *36*, 176-185.

Lopez, H.H. and Ettenberg, A. (2000). Haloperidol challenge during copulation prevents subsequent increase in male sexual motivation. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 67*, 387-393.

Lopez, H.H. and Ettenberg, A. (2001). Dopamine antagonism attenuates the unconditioned incentive value of estrous female cues. *Pharmacology*, *Biochemistry, and Behavior, 68*, 411-416.

Conference Presentations and Invited Talks

Lopez, H.H. (May, 2001). The biopsychology of male sexual motivation: effects of primary and secondary incentives. Invited talk given to Psychology Department, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA.

Lopez, H.H. and Ettenberg, A. (November, 2000). Dopamine antagonism attenuates the unconditional incentive value of female cues. Poster presented at the Society for Neuroscience annual meeting, New Orleans, LA.

Lopez, H.H. and Ettenberg, A. (August, 2000). Male sexual motivation: dopaminergic regulation of primary and secondary incentives. Poster presented at the Society for Behavioral Neuroendrocrinology annual meeting, Madrid, Spain.

Lopez, H.H. (May, 2000). The dopaminergic regulation of male sexual motivation. Invited talk at the International Behavioral Development Symposium, Minot, North Dakota.

Lopez, H.H. (May, 2000). The biopsychology of male sexual motivation. Invited talk at Developmental and Evolutionary Psychology departmental seminar, University of California at Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara, CA.

Lopez, H.H., Olster, D.H., and Ettenberg, A. (November, 1998). The effects of sexual experience upon sexual motivation in the male rat. Poster presented at the Society for Neuroscience annual meeting, Los Angeles, CA.

Lopez, H.H. (May, 1997). Social and sexual motivation in the male rat. Invited talk at the annual UCSB Mini-Convention, Department of Psychology, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA.

Lopez, H.H. (June, 1997). Social and sexual motivation in the male rat. Invited talk at the annual UCSB NRI Symposium, University of California, Santa Barbara, CA.

Lopez, H.H., Olster, D.H., and Ettenberg, A. (November, 1996). Social and sexual motivation in the male rat. Poster presented at the Society for Neuroscience annual meeting, Washington, D.C.

Teaching Experience

Summer Session Teaching Associate (Acting Instructor) Department of Psychology, University of California at Santa Barbara Psychology 163HL: Human Sexual Behavior (Summer, 1999)

vii

Psychology 122: Motivation (Summer, 2000, 2001)

Teaching Assistant

Department of Psychology, University of California at Santa Barbara Psychology 122: Motivation (Spring, 1997) Psychology 106: Introduction to Physiological Psychology (Fall, 1997)

Psychology 133A: Psychopharmacology (Winter, 2001)

Laboratory Instructor

Department of Psychology, University of California at Santa Barbara Psychology 7: Introduction to Experimental Psychology (Spring, 1999). Psychology 116L: Animal Learning Laboratory (Winter, 2000)

Psychology 169L: Neuroanatomy (Fall, 2000)

Discussion Leader

Department of Psychology, University of California at Santa Barbara Psychology 1: Introduction to Psychology (Winter, Spring, Summer, Fall 1998; Winter, Spring, Fall, 1999).

Invited Lectures

"The Nature of Sexual Motivation" Delivered to Psychology 122: Motivation (May, 1997, 1999).

Professional Activities

Graduate Student Representative (1998-1999), Psychology Department Executive Committee, University of California at Santa Barbara.

Professional Affiliations

Society for Neuroscience (student member, 1998-2001)

Society for Behavioral Endocrinology (student member, 1999-2001)

American Psychological Association (student member, 2000-2001)

American Psychological Society (student member, 2000-2001)

ABSTRACT

The Biopsychology of Sexual Motivation in the Male Rat: Effects of Primary and Secondary Incentives

by

Hassan Habib López

A series of experiments exploring the motivational impact of primary and secondary sexual incentives was conducted using male laboratory rats. In order to measure appetitive processes independent of consummatory ability, an operant paradigm was adopted in which subjects traversed a straight-arm runway in order to approach a variety of stimulus targets. Subjects never experienced sexual reinforcement within the apparatus, thus precluding the establishment of S-R, instrumental associations. The first pair of experiments demonstrated that sexually-naïve adult male rats are inherently attracted to estrous female cues, and that systemic administration of the dopamine-receptor antagonist, haloperidol, attenuates the unconditional incentive value of estrous cues. The second pair of experiments further noted that when male subjects are provided with one copulatory episode of sexual experience, culminating in ejaculation, they are subsequently more motivated to approach an estrous female in

ix

the runway apparatus. However, this incentive enhancement does not occur if subjects are merely given one intromission of sexual experience, or if haloperidol pretreatment is administered prior to copulatory activity. In a third pair of experiments, subjects were conditioned to associate two previously neutral olfactory scents with either social isolation or copulation with a receptive female. The sex-paired scent (CS+) was subsequently capable of eliciting approach behavior within the runway, an effect that was attenuated by haloperidol pre-treatment. Lastly, in order to identify neural regions that are activated by the perception of sexual incentives, an experiment comparing incentive-induced *c-fos* expression in naïve and experienced subjects was conducted. Results indicated that estrous cues cause enhanced *c-fos* expression in the nucleus accumbens of experienced but not naïve males. Taken together, these results suggest that both primary female and secondary, conditioned incentives activate sexual motivational systems via dopaminergic release, and that reward-mediated incentive-enhancement is also dependent upon dopaminergic activity.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgementsiv
Curriculum Vitav
Abstractix
Chapter I: Introduction1
Chapter II: Sexual Motivation in Naïve Male Rats
A. The Inherent Attractiveness of Sexual Incentives
B. Haloperidol Attenuates Sexual Motivation
Chapter III: The Role of Sexual Experience
A. Enhancement of Primary Female Incentives
B. Blocking of Incentive Enhancement by Haloperidol74
Chapter IV: Sexually-Conditioned Incentives
Chapter V: Sexual Incentive-Induced <i>c-fos</i> Expression108
Chapter VI: Summary and Conclusions
References147

xi

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4. Mean (+SEM) run times, pre- and post-sexual experience, for the four groups of experimental subjects. Panel A represent the vehicle controls, panels B-D depict data from subjects given haloperidol 45 minutes prior to sexual experience. Black bars represent mean run times prior to sexual experience, while white bars represent mean run times following sexual experience. Within each panel, the two leftmost bars are subject run times when the goalbox contained a nonestrous female target, and the two rightmost bars are subject run times for estrous female targets...81

Figure 6. Mean (+SEM) retreats per trial, pre and post-sexual experience, for two groups of experimental subjects. Panel A depicts the retreat behavior of the vehicle controls, and panel B displays the retreat data of the 0.10 mg/kg haloperidol-treated subjects. Black bars represent mean number of retreats prior to sexual experience,

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Chapter I: Introduction

Motivational Theory

Motivational states function to choose and initiate behavioral sequences that increase the probability of achieving a particular goal-state, given current environmental circumstances. Representations of goals may become activated either by internal homeostatic mechanisms sensitive to a particular threshold (e.g., nutrient deprivation) or by the perception of external stimuli associated with a goal (e.g., estrous pheromones). Once a desired goal-state is activated, the organism must determine a course of action that will bring it closer to acquisition of that goal. Motivational systems co-opt suites of decision-making algorithms that continually compare "present-state" with "desired-state", select behaviors that might efficiently diminish the existing discrepancy, and only become quiescent when the two are equivalent. These algorithms may activate representations of sub-goals that are necessary prerequisites, and in turn, recruit the aid of other motivational systems (e.g., hunger stimulating predatory aggression). Motivation, under this formulation, is composed of a set of hierarchically organized information-processing modules that function to increase the survival probability and reproductive success of an individual organism.

Homeostatic regulation of motivation has historically been linked to the notion of an internal "drive" mediating behavior (Hull, 1943). These drives presumably exist to ensure the organism engages in specific, goal-directed behaviors on a periodic basis in order to fulfill physiological needs essential for survival. In contrast, "incentive-motivation" theory stresses behavioral responsiveness to goal-

2

related, environmental stimuli (Bindra, 1976; Bolles, 1975; Toates, 1986; Tolman, 1932). The perception of reward-predictive cues tends to stimulate approach behavior. Incentive-mediated processes function to bring an organism into consummatory contact with a desirable goal once it is in relative close spatial proximity, and perhaps to encourage an organism to take advantage of opportune circumstances, even if physiological requirements are not dire. Modern motivational theorists tend to synthesize external (incentive) and internal (homeostatic)-driven mediators of behavior, in an attempt to portray a comprehensive explanation of goaldirected activity (Bolles, 1975; Dickinson & Balleine, 1994; Wilson et al., 1995).

A possible exception to this may be sexual motivation, as current theoretical speculations within this domain tend to be driven by incentive-motivational hypotheses (Agmo, 1999; Pfaus, 1996; Stewart, 1995). The reason for this bias is most likely rooted in the fact that copulation is not required for individual survival, and consequently, no obvious homeostatic mechanism that increasingly encourages sexual activity after periods of deprivation has been discovered. In addition, copulation often requires a complex behavioral interaction between two organisms, such that individual "drive" is considered an inadequate determinant. The existence of more observable "sexual signals", emitted by male and female members of many species, also lends credence to the notion that the perception of external incentives is fundamental in the generation of sexual motivation.

Sexual Motivation: Theoretical Considerations

The ultimate goal of a sexually-motivated organism is copulation with a designated sex-object. What constitutes "sex-object" differs between species, sexes, and often even individuals within a species. This dissertation specifically focuses on heterosexual motivation within the adult, male laboratory rat. Use of a non-human species allows for examination of neurobiological substrates, but introduces the complication of finding an accurate, observable measure of a predominantly "inner" process. Motivation is generally viewed as an intervening variable between a homeostatic trigger and/or sensory perception of relevant incentives, and the activation of appropriate goal-seeking behavioral programs. Therefore, the state of being sexually motivated presumably exists throughout the process of seeking a receptive mate and the copulatory act itself. If researchers are interested in studying those processes or neural correlates that underlie male sexual motivation, independent of those that control the actual sexual act, it is in their best interest to examine behaviors that immediately precede copulation.

The theoretical dichotomy between sexual desire and performance mimics the classic ethological distinction between appetitive and consummatory behaviors (Everitt, 1990; Krebs & Davies, 1993). Appetitive behaviors are reflective of a motivational state insofar as they are correlated with goal-seeking behavior. They tend to be more labile, dependent upon environmental input, and subject to variation between individuals (Pfaus, 1996). Consummatory responses are initiated once an organism comes into contact with a desired goal, and often consist of stereotyped

behavioral patterns reflecting activation of a fixed motor program. Precopulatory courtship behavior would be considered appetitive, while the mammalian male pattern of mounting a female followed by repeated penile intromission is clearly consummatory.

This distinction between appetitive and consummatory processes spawned Frank Beach's proposal (1956) that male sexual behavior is determined by the operation of two relatively independent mechanisms: a sexual arousal mechanism (SAM) and an intromission and ejaculatory mechanism (IEM). The function of SAM is to bring sexual excitement to a critical threshold at which point the IEM is activated, coordinating a sequence of mounts and intromissions culminating in ejaculation. This formulation has more or less endured to the present, although a number of reappraisals and revisions have been proposed. Most notably, Sachs and Barfield (1976) conducted a detailed factor analysis of ten measures of male copulatory behavior, and concluded that four factors, representing four relatively independent processes, underlie the entire sexual response: initiation, copulatory rate, hit rate, and intromission count. The initiation factor was virtually identical to Beach's SAM, while the IEM was now divided into three interactive mechanisms that regulate male consummatory sexual behavior.

Beach's basic theoretical formulation has shaped many neuroscientists' approaches to studying male sexual motivation. It is generally believed that neurological systems underlying appetitive processes are distinct from those that coordinate copulation itself (Everitt, 1990). Both neuroanatomical and

pharmacological manipulations can alter motivation independent of performance, and vice-versa. To explore this dichotomy, researchers have adopted a number of behavioral variables that they believe reflect motivational intensity independent of copulatory ability.

Methodological Issues

Male rats do not engage in a stereotyped courtship pattern prior to copulation that can be quantified and interpreted as an index of motivational intensity. Although males often display a certain amount of female-investigation (especially anogenital) and pursuit prior to their first mount, these behaviors vary widely between individuals and are highly dependent upon the responsiveness of the female. For these reasons, researchers studying sexual motivation in the male rat have applied one of three methodological strategies.

The first targets particular aspects of male copulatory behavior as indices of preceding motivation. Many studies have analyzed mount, intromission and ejaculation latencies, as well as post-ejaculatory intervals (Hull et al., 1986; Melis & Argiolas, 1995; Pfaus & Phillips, 1989). The underlying assumption is that highly motivated males will take less time to initiate copulation and achieve ejaculation. However, not only are these variables easily influenced by female motivation and receptivity, but they also confound appetitive processes with performance and arousal aspects of copulation (Everitt, 1990). In response to these critiques, many laboratories have developed methodologies that minimize the role of female

responsiveness and equate male sexual motivation with a well-defined behavioral output. The two most widely used approaches are partner preference and operant response paradigms.

Preference studies typically involve simultaneously presenting subjects with the stimulus properties of two target animals within a preference apparatus. The targets are located in different areas, and are often harnessed behind mesh barriers so as to prevent physical interaction between subject and target. Choice of one partner, as reflected by a greater amount of time spent in the vicinity of that target, indicates a higher motivation to associate with that partner. Thus, if a male rat spends more time around an estrous female than a nonestrous female, he is expressing an increase in sexual motivation generated by perception of estrous cues. However, preference scenarios present a difficult interpretive problem (Everitt, 1990). Choice of an estrous female over a nonestrous female may indicate either that the stimulus cues of the estrous target are positively motivating, or that they are merely less aversive than those of the nonestrous target. This criticism is particularly applicable in scenarios where subject males are given the choice between an estrous female and another male (e.g., Eliasson & Meyerson, 1981; Vega Matuszczyk, Appa, & Larsson, 1994; Vega Matuszczyk & Larsson, 1993).

Operant procedures generally eliminate this drawback by providing only one target for motivational arousal. A number of procedures and apparatuses have been utilized in the study of sexual motivation, including obstruction-grids (Moss, 1924; Warner, 1927), lever-pressing chambers (Everitt et al., 1987; Everitt & Stacey, 1987;

Jowaisas et al., 1971; Schwartz, 1956), X-mazes (which combine aspects of partner preference and operant emission; Hull et al., 1991; Warner et al., 1991), bi-level chambers (Mendelson & Gorzalka, 1987; Mendelson & Pfaus, 1989; Van Furth & Van Ree, 1996ab), and straight-arm runways (Beach & Jordan, 1956; Sheffield, Wulff, & Backer, 1951; Ware, 1968). Each procedure requires that subjects emit an arbitrary behavioral response in order to obtain access to a receptive female. The reinforcing properties of copulation and ejaculation increase the subsequent probability of the instrumental response under test conditions. Following training, the rate/intensity/strength of the operant behavior becomes a measure of the animal's motivation to copulate with the female target. These procedures possess the advantage of measuring subjects' motivation outside of a choice-scenario. However, because copulatory experience is used as a reinforcer, they suffer from two essential flaws: 1) they do not allow for the analysis of sexual motivation in sexually-naive males, and 2) they introduce a critical confound into the interpretation of data. Specifically, subjects' motivation to gain access to a female on a given trial may be dependent on the incentive value of perceived estrous cues (present within the apparatus), conditioned incentives, and the past history of reinforcement within that environment. Dissociating these multiple factors is crucial if one hopes to understand the effect that individual motivational variables have on male sexual biopsychology.

To circumvent this array of difficulties in our research program, we have developed an operant runway task that does not require extensive training or the introduction of copulatory reinforcement. In addition, the task incorporates aspects of

place preference methodology (i.e., approaching a place associated with incentive cues) but does not involve a choice between targets. For each of the experiments discussed in Chapers II and III, subjects are presented with comparable procedural scenarios. Prior to each trial, they are pre-exposed to a target animal located within the runway goalbox. A Plexiglas partition within the goalbox allows subjects to perceive visual, olfactory and auditory cues emitted by the target, but prevents them from engaging in physical contact. Subjects are removed after a set period of time and placed in the runway's startbox. Their motivation to return to the goalbox and approach the target within is objectively assessed by recording their "run time" down the alley. Using this methodology, it becomes possible to isolate the behavioral impact of numerous motivational factors, including primary female incentives, sexual experience, and with some modifications, conditioned incentives (as discussed in Chapter IV).

Factors that Influence Male Sexual Motivation

Numerous specific factors influence the activation of male sexual motivation, such that reproductive behavior only occurs under certain conditions. Some factors are internal, in the sense that they are rooted in the physiological state of the organism, and may further be categorized as static (e.g., male-typical sexuallydimorphic brain regions) or dynamic (e.g., changing levels of steroid hormones). These factors often bias the interpretation of perceived external stimuli within the local environment of an organism that signal the possibility of goal-attainment

(Stewart, 1995). This dissertation focuses primarily on the motivational impact of perceived sexual incentives, and the effect that one internal factor (degree of sexual experience) has on the value of such cues. However, it is important to note that many other factors influence male sexual motivation; while these factors are not explicitly studied within the following experiments, their effect is consistently present and the patterns of results found may reflect their influence alongside that of the variables under examination. For this reason, a brief discussion of these alternate factors, and how they were controlled for, follows.

Internal Factors

a. Other motivational states

Motivational states are continuously interacting in the generation of behavior. As such, numerous other motivational processes may affect sexual desire, positively and negatively. Perhaps the most common examples of this in the experimental setting are the inhibitory effects of fear and stress. Male rats are less likely to initiate copulation in novel environments, where they may experience anxiety over potential danger (Pfaus & Wilkins, 1995). If potential predators (e.g., human researchers) or unfamiliar male rats are in close proximity, caution may negate any desire for copulation until conditions are deemed safer. Extreme hunger, thirst, or fatigue may also reduce sexual motivation. To control for these effects in the following experiments, all animals were given free access to food and water, were handled for several days by all researchers upon arrival, were acclimated to all experimental-

10

environments and apparatuses prior to testing, and were always transported between the vivarium and the laboratory in individual holding containers.

b. Degree of sexual experience

Male rats with sexual experience tend to be more motivated to engage in copulatory behavior with female rats, when compared to sexually-naïve males. The evidence and meaning of this effect is discussed in greater detail in a later section of this chapter.

c. Degree of sexual satiation/deprivation

Male rats experience a significant reduction in sexual motivation immediately following ejaculation with a female partner (Pfaus, 1996). During this "refractory period," males are generally unresponsive to female solicitation and are, to some degree, physiologically incapable of continuing copulation. In addition, male rats will achieve "sexual exhaustion" if given unrestricted access to a receptive female, following 10 to 15 ejaculations. Alternately, if a male rat is allowed to intromit with a receptive female but is prevented from ejaculating, he will experience an increase in sexual motivation until he is allowed to complete the copulatory sequence (Sheffield, Wulff, & Backer, 1951).

Most motivational states increase in intensity from the last occurrence of goalsatisfaction. For example, an organism feels hungrier the longer it has been since last feeding, and a greater desire to rest since the last occurrence of sleep (Finan & Taylor, 1940). Sexual deprivation has also been shown to impact sexual motivation under certain experimental circumstances, which suggests the existence of a hidden "sexual drive" (Lorenz & Leyhausen, 1973; Warner, 1927). In order to control for this, when subjects in the following experiments (particularly within Chapter III) were given copulatory experience, motivational testing occurred after an equivalent amount of time had passed for all subjects.

d. Age of male

Sexual motivation varies across the life-span in male rats (Eliasson & Meyerson, 1981; Spruijt, Meyerson, & Hoglund, 1989; Vega Matuszczyk, Appa, Larsson, 1994). Prior to puberty, males express little interest in sexual activity or estrous females, in comparison to their interest in parental figures or other male conspecifics. Motivation reaches its peak during adolescence, when testosterone secretion is highest. As old age approaches, sexual motivation declines steadily; senescent mammals express less interest in sexual activity and suffer more difficulties in sexual performance. For these reasons, all subject males in the following experiments were within the late adolescent, early adulthood age-range (70-150 days old).

e. Individual variation

Mating tests reveal that male rats of similar age and health nonetheless vary in their sexual motivation, as measured by mount latency, run times in an alley, etc. In addition, roughly 20-40% of male laboratory rats persistently fail to mate despite numerous opportunities with a receptive female (Whalen, 1964). The proximate causes of these variations in motivation between individuals are unknown, although numerous theories have been proposed, including differences in basal testosterone,

social status, and emotionality (Pottier & Baran, 1973). In studies of male sexual motivation, such "non-copulators" are often dropped from the experiment following failure in an initial mating pre-test. This tradition was abandoned in these dissertation experiments for two reasons: 1) if one wishes to study sexual motivation in sexually-naïve males, copulatory pre-tests are precluded, and 2) this tradition potentially excludes low-motivation subjects, creating an interpretive bias.

External Factors

a. Primary Incentives

Primary incentives are defined as those stimulus features of a goal that have become tagged with either positive or negative valence depending upon whether they are predictive of either a rewarding or aversive experience. From a cognitiveevolutionary perspective, it seems reasonable to assume that if particular behavioral interactions with specific objects reliably grant fitness benefits to an organism, then that organism should possess information-filtering mechanisms that grant certain classes of goal-related stimuli privileged access to domain-specific motivational centers. Thus, incentives are defined by their adaptive significance, and provide a link between the ecological history of a species and the design features of an individual mind. In reference to the heterosexual motivation of male rats, certain stimuli associated with the presence of female rats are considered primary sexual incentives. These include both general feminine cues (Beach, 1942), and those specifically emitted by females in "heat." Spontaneous ovulators, such as rats, engage in a periodic hormonal cycle that is directly tied with their sexual and

reproductive status. Increasing levels of the ovarian hormone estradiol cause a surge in lutenizing hormone every 4-5 days within the female rat, initiating the process of ovulation (Feder, 1981). It is at this point that the female enters the estrus state. She experiences an increase in sexual motivation (Erskine, 1989; Meyerson & Lindstrom, 1973; Warner, 1927) and in sexual receptivity – i.e., her willingness to engage in copulation with a male rat (Beach, 1976; Boling and Blandau, 1939; Whalen, 1974). She also begins to emit specific cues across a variety of sensory domains, including vaginal pheromones and behavioral proceptive displays (hop-darts and ear-wiggles; Beach, 1976).

Adult male rats display a consistent and replicable preference for estrous females over nonestrous females, presumably due to the positive incentive value of those behavioral and physiological cues associated with estrus (Beach, 1956, 1976). Males spend more time in the vicinity of an estrous female, even if direct physical contact with the female is prevented (Hetta & Meyerson, 1978; Landauer, Wiese, & Carr, 1977; Merkx, 1983), and prefer the odor of an estrous female over that of a nonestrous female (Carr, Loeb, & Dissinger, 1965; LeMagnen, 1952; Lydell & Doty, 1972; Stern, 1970). Sexually-experienced, sexually-naive, and castrated males are all more likely to initiate copulatory sequences with females displaying proceptive behaviors than with nondisplaying females (Hlinak & Madlafousek, 1972; Landau & Madden, 1983; Madlafousek, Hlinak, & Beran, 1976; Tiefer, 1969). However, there is debate over whether such cues are inherently attractive to adult males or acquire

incentive value following sexual experience; Chapter II focuses on this central issue and provides fairly compelling evidence in favor of the former hypothesis.

b. Attractiveness of female

Individual females of any species differ in their genotype and phenotype, resulting in variations in mate-value. Female mate-value, or "attractiveness", in large part is dependent on the perceived reproductive value and/or fertility of a particular female (Symons, 1979). Thus, cues of post-pubescent age, health, and reproductive viability (such as previous successful pregnancies) may sexually motivate males of many mammalian species, including rats. Unfortunately, while a great deal of intriguing psychological work has been conducted on the nature of human female attractiveness (Buss, 1994; Symons, 1979), we have no idea what role this factor plays in the motivation of male rats. A number of preference experiments (e.g., comparing a subject's desire to approach old vs. young females, or healthy vs. sick females) could be conducted to identify those physical characteristics that determine relative attractiveness. In the following experiments, all females fell within the postpubescent, fertile age-range (70-180 days), and noticeably sick females were immediately excluded from further experimentation.

c. Novelty of female

Male rats given unlimited exposure to a receptive female will achieve sexual satiation following 10 to 15 ejaculations. At that point, the male will not initiate any further copulatory behavior with that female, but if a novel female is introduced he will rapidly begin a new mounting sequence (Fisher, 1962; Tiefer, 1969; Wilson,

Kuehn, & Beach, 1963). This is the commonly known "Coolidge effect," and is strongest in species where females within the community come into estrus together and male parental investment is relatively low (Daly & Wilson, 1983). Presumably it evolved because males that were sexually-aroused by female novelty and were physiologically capable of copulating with a variety of different females during this time period would have accrued significant reproductive benefits compared to males that limited their copulatory advances to a small sub-set of the available females. The Coolidge effect requires that males be able to distinguish between individual females, recognize females with whom they have mated, and be attracted to females that possess novel characteristics. However, it is not clear to what extent female novelty plays a role in the sexual motivation of a non-satiated male. The experiments detailed in Chapter IV utilize a methodology in which male subjects were given multiple sexual episodes over a period of several days. To maximize the probability of inducing copulation, a different female was paired with the male for each session; each subject experienced five sexual episodes with five different females.

d. Secondary incentives

The definition and role of secondary incentives are discussed in detail in the next section, "The Role of Sexual Experience."

e. General environmental conditions

Rats are nocturnal creatures, and generally engage in copulatory behavior at night, when light cues are absent (Wallen & Turek, 1981). Thus, sexual behavior and, presumably, motivation follow circadian rhythms (Stefanick, 1983). Within the

laboratory, the presence of white light often disrupts the initiation of copulation, such that mating tests are typically scheduled during the dark portion of the rats' photoperiod and conducted under red light (so that the experimenters can observe the behavior). This protocol was adhered to throughout the following experiments.

The Role of Sexual Experience

It has been well-documented that sexually-experienced male rats initiate copulation sooner than inexperienced males (Dewsbury, 1969; Rabedeau & Whalen, 1959). They are also less sensitive to losses of sensory information (Beach, 1942). For example, sexually-experienced males that have been rendered anosmic will continue to approach, mount, and complete copulatory sequences with receptive females, while anosmic sexually-naive males will not (Larsson, 1975; Saito & Moltz, 1986; Thor & Flannelly, 1977). In addition, sexually-experienced males are less sensitive to the anxiety-provoking effects of novel environments (Pfaus & Wilkins, 1995), to the loss of testosterone following castration (Mitchell & Stewart, 1989), and to lesions of the medial preoptic area of the hypothalamus (Allendash & Gorski, 1983; DeJonge et al., 1989).

These observations suggest that sexual experience impacts motivation by either increasing the incentive value of female cues or reducing a hypothetical "copulatory threshold" (Beach, 1942) through sexual reward-mediated processes. It is certainly true that copulation acts as an effective reinforcer within a variety of operant paradigms (Beach & Jordan, 1956; Everitt et al., 1987; Everitt & Stacey,

1987; Hull et al., 1991; Jowaisas et al., 1971; Moss, 1924; Schwartz, 1956; Sheffield, Wulff, & Backer, 1951; Ware, 1968; Warner et al., 1991; Warner, 1927). In addition, ejaculation can establish a reliable place preference in a conditioned place preference apparatus (Agmo & Berenfeld, 1990; Mehrara & Baum, 1990).

This dissertation asserts that sexual experience influences motivational systems through two pathways: the value-enhancement of currently existing incentives and the establishment of new, conditioned incentives. Chapter III presents two experiments that demonstrate the former process. Conditioned (or secondary) incentives are environmental stimuli that become associated with copulation through Pavlovian learning, and thus acquire positive value. The perception of conditioned incentives on subsequent occasions is capable of increasing sexual motivation. For example, Everitt (1990) demonstrated that male rats trained under second-order instrumental conditions learn to bar-press for presentation of a light previously associated with copulation. In addition, male rats will spend a majority of their time on a sex-paired side of a conditioned place-preference apparatus, even if conditioning consists of only a single ejaculation, suggesting that the local environmental cues of the preference apparatus acquire positive value (Agmo & Berenfeld, 1990). Chapter IV presents two experiments that explore the process by which sexual experience establishes a conditioned incentive, and how conditioned incentives stimulate approach behavior.

It should be noted that many researchers within this field make the implicit assumption that all sexual incentives, including estrous cues, are conditioned

incentives. Thus, the distinction between primary and secondary incentives is merely one of proximity to the goal: primary incentives are those stimuli directly tied to the goal-object (such as the smell given off by a food, or the ultrasonic call of an estrous female rat), while secondary incentives are more distal environmental stimuli physically separate from the goal. As I shall discuss in Chapter VI, this distinction is not only trivial, but incorrect.

Dopamine: Incentive Salience, Reinforcement, or Both?

The link between midbrain dopaminergic pathways and motivational processes has been under debate for several decades. While it has been commonly observed that the administration of dopamine-receptor antagonist drugs to laboratory animals tends to inhibit the display of goal-directed, motivated behavior (see Blackburn, Pfaus, & Phillips, 1992; Salamone, 1994 for reviews), there are several possible interpretations of this effect. First, as it is well-established that dopaminergic activity (particularly within the nigrostriatal pathway) plays an essential role in the initiation of voluntary movement, non-specific dopamine-receptor blockade may cause motor impairment not dissimilar to that exhibited by Parkonsonian patients (Everitt, 1990; Melis & Argiolas, 1995). This motor impairment may be interpreted incorrectly as a motivational deficit, since motivation is usually measured by behavioral output.

Second, dopamine-receptor antagonists may disrupt the rewarding or reinforcing effects associated with the goal (e.g., copulation, feeding), and thus

indirectly decrease the motivation of the subject to seek that goal in the future. Indeed, midbrain dopamine systems have been implicated in the reinforcing consequences of numerous natural rewards and drugs of abuse, independent of their role in generating motor responses (for reviews, see Ettenberg, 1989; Koob, 1992; Koob & Goeders, 1989; Phillips, 1984; Wise, 1982; Wise & Rompre, 1989). These conclusions are based in part upon the finding that dopamine-receptor antagonists reduce operant responding for food and water (e.g., Ettenberg & Horvitz, 1990; Gerber, Sing, & Wise, 1981; Mason et al., 1980; Tombaugh, Tombaugh, & Anisman, 1979; Wise et al., 1978; Wise, Spindler, & Legault, 1978), electrical brain stimulation (Fouriezos, Hansson, & Wise, 1978; Fouriezos & Wise, 1976; Gallistel et al., 1982; Stellar & Corbett, 1989; Stellar, Kelley, & Corbett, 1983), amphetamine (Yokel & Wise, 1976), cocaine (de Wit & Wise, 1977; Roberts, Corcoram & Fibiger, 1977), and morphine (Bozarth & Wise, 1981). The pattern of decline in operant responding observed under such conditions mimics that which occurs following removal of a reinforcer, during extinction curves (e.g., Franklin, 1978; Franklin & McCoy, 1979; Gallistel et al., 1982; Wise et al., 1978), suggesting that dopaminergic blockade attenuates the positive reinforcing gualities of both natural and artificial rewards. Based upon these observations, it has been proposed that the euphoric properties of drugs of abuse stem from their ability to activate central dopamine pathways whose primary function is to reinforce adaptive behaviors, such as feeding and copulation (Di Chiara et al., 1993; Nesse & Berridge, 1997).
A third alternative interpretation is that dopamine-receptor blockade directly inhibits motivational centers, possibly by reducing the incentive value of goal-related stimuli. This view, common among contemporary motivational theorists, proposes that mesolimbic dopamine acts as a response signal triggered by the perception of potentially rewarding and/or aversive stimuli, thus leading to activation of systems that mediate approach and avoidance behavior (Berridge & Robinson, 1998; Blackburn, Pfaus, & Phillips, 1992; Blackburn, Phillips, & Fibiger, 1987; Blackburn et al., 1989; Horvitz, 2000; Ikemoto & Panksepp, 1999; Kiyatkin, 1995; Mogenson, Jones, Yim, 1980; Phillips, Pfaus, & Blaha, 1991; Robbins & Everitt, 1996; Salamone, 1994, 1996; Schultz, 1998; Schultz, Dayan, & Montague, 1997; Schultz et al., 1982).

As an example of this process, Shultz and colleagues have conducted a series of experiments in which they record the activity of dopaminergic neurons within the ventral striatum of primates in response to the presentation of a primary reward (food) and a conditioned stimulus predictive of the presence of food (Schultz, 1998; Schultz, Dayan, & Montague, 1997; Schultz et al., 1992). Prior to conditioning, it was noted that dopaminergic activity increased during food consumption. Over the course of training, the dopaminergic signal shifted from the consummatory phase to presentation of the predictive stimulus. Eventually, the signal completely dissipated, presumably reflecting the reduced role of attentional and incentive processes in the performance of a S-R "habit." The authors concluded from this pattern of results that dopamine acts specifically as a signal of unexpected reward. This view has been

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

expounded by a number of other researchers (Berridge & Robinson, 1998; Horvitz, 2000), as it seems to provide a plausible synthesis of dopamine's role in both reinforcement and incentive-motivation.

Dopamine and Male Sexual Behavior

It certainly seems to be the case that dopamine plays a significant role in the generation of male copulatory behavior and in the mediation of sexual reward (for reviews, see Bitran & Hull, 1987; Everitt, 1990, 1995; Hull et al., 1999; Melis & Argiolis, 1995; Pfaus & Everitt, 1995; Wilson, 1993). Conclusions regarding the dopaminergic regulation of sexual activity have been primarily founded upon the effects of systemic and central administration of dopamine-receptor agonists and antagonists; these treatments tend to stimulate and inhibit male sexuality, respectively. However, behavioral changes following dopaminergic manipulation may reflect alterations in sexual motivation, the capacity to perform, and/or the experience of sexual reward. Indeed, the lack of specific methodologies able to dissociate these variables (as discussed above), and the consequent failure to resolve the exact role of dopamine was a primary justification for the series of experiments detailed within this dissertation. Having said this, prior research does suggest that dopamine may play a specific role in mediating the behavioral-activating effects of sexual incentives and the generation of male sexual motivation.

Dopamine-receptor agonists, such as apomorphine, and the dopamine precursor, I-DOPA, are capable of stimulating copulatory behavior in both sexually inactive and castrated male rats (Malmnas, 1976, 1977; Scaletta & Hull, 1990; Tagliamonte et al., 1974). Systemic administration of apomorphine also reduces mount latencies and the number of intromissions necessary for ejaculation (Bitran & Hull, 1987). Selective dopamine D2-receptor agonists, such as LY 171555 and LY 163502, stimulate sexual behavior in a similar fashion to apomorphine (Melis & Argiolas, 1995).

In contrast, systemic administration of dopamine-receptor antagonists, such as chlorpromazine, haloperidol, and pimozide, delay or inhibit the initiation of copulation, reduce frequency of intromissions, decrease the total number of ejaculations achieved in a test-situation, and in some cases, increase the postejaculatory interval (reviewed in Pfaus & Phillips, 1989). Interestingly, at moderate doses, both haloperidol and pimozide also reduce anticipatory level-changing in a bilevel chamber without having a significant effect on the initiation of copulation (Pfaus & Phillips, 1991). At high doses however, these drugs completely abolish both the initiation of copulation and level-changing behavior (Pfaus & Phillips, 1991). Clozapine and the D2-receptor antagonist, sulpiride, cause dose-dependent delays in the initiation of copulation in male rats, but have no effect on copulation once it has been initiated (Pfaus & Phillips, 1989). These drugs also attenuate levelchanging behavior (Pfaus & Phillips, 1991). The selective D2-receptor antagonist, raclopride, abolishes copulatory behavior in male rats, while the selective D1-receptor antagonist, SCH 23390, increases mount and intromission latencies but does not eliminate sexual behavior, even at high doses (Pfaus & Phillips, 1991). Finally, the

mixed D1/D2-receptor antagonist, alpha-flupenthixol, dose-dependently decreases responding for access to a receptive female under a second-order schedule, and prolongs mount and intromission latencies at doses that have no effect on copulatory performance (Everitt, 1990). The different behavioral effects of these various antagonists have been interpreted as indicating that drugs selectively blocking dorsal striatal dopamine receptors predominantly affect copulatory performance, while those blocking ventral-striatal dopamine receptors, such as the atypical neuroleptics, specifically attenuate motivation (Everitt, 1990).

Clearly, what is objectively defined as "motivation" differs across many of these studies, and is often a reflection of more than one component of the male sexual response, or the impact of multiple external and internal factors. For example, many studies interpret facets of sexual performance (such as mount latency) as motivational indicators, potentially confounding the influence of appetitive and consummatory processes. This is particularly problematic, considering the aforementioned importance of dopamine in mediating voluntary movement. For those studies utilizing operant methodologies, the typical decrease in operant responding for access to receptive females observed in male rats following dopamine-receptor blockade (Everitt, 1990; Pfaus & Phillips, 1991) may be due to a direct attenuation of sexual motivation (based on the incentive devaluation of either the test-female or conditioned cues), or may reflect a reduction in the reinforcing properties of copulation that, over trials, extinguishes the instrumental response. The resolution of this issue lies in the need to experimentally isolate the motivational impact of primary

incentives, secondary incentives, and sexual reward, and individually test the effects of dopamine-receptor antagonists on each of these factors. A large portion of this dissertation was geared towards that end, as will be discussed in Chapters IIB, IIIB, and IV.

Neuroanatomy of Sexual Motivation

The neuroanatomical circuitry underlying the male sexual response has been slowly delineated over the past 40 years through application of numerous techniques including neural ablation, electrical stimulation, electrophysiology, localized injection of pharmacological substrates, and immunocytochemical staining of immediate early gene products. The shared goal of these various procedures is assignment of a functional role to distinct populations of neurons, to link the activation of a particular cluster with some aspect of male copulation. Unfortunately, the methodological failings mentioned earlier abound within this literature as well, often making it difficult to determine whether a chosen neural region is primarily tied to appetitive or consummatory processes. Nonetheless, a number of potential brain regions responsible for the initiation of male copulatory behavior have been proposed. These include the central and basolateral nuclei of the amygdala, the medial preoptic area of the hypothalamus (MPOA), the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), and the nucleus accumbens (NA).

Central Amygdala

Within rats, olfactory information from both the accessory and main olfactory bulbs is passed onto the central nuclei of the amygdala (Kostarczyk, 1986). This immediately suggests that this region may be an initial processing station for certain sexual incentives, in particular pheromonal odors emitted by estrous females. In support of this hypothesis, it has been found that lesions to the central nucleus of the amygdala lead to reliable deficits in copulatory performance within male rats. Lesioned males decrease their courtship activities and avoid females more than nonlesioned controls, suggesting a specific decrease in sexual motivation (Michal, 1972). In accord with this hypothesis, Rasmusen et al. (1960) noted that male rats with amygdala lesions are less likely to cross an electrified grid in order to reach an estrous female. Lesions to the central amygdala completely suppress copulatory behavior in sexually inexperienced males (Kondo, 1992). Furthermore, lesioned rats do not express reduced ejaculation latencies when allowed to copulate following preexposure to an estrous female (presented behind a wire mesh screen so as to prevent physical contact), as non-lesioned controls do (De Jonge et al., 1992). Presumably, the pre-exposure period increases the sexual motivation and arousal of the subjects, and the integrity of the central amygdala is necessary for this "priming" effect to occur.

Electrophysiological recordings have revealed that central amygdala neurons fire selectively when a male subject is presented with a receptive female, but not in non-sexual social circumstances (e.g., for a nonreceptive female or another male) or

in non-social circumstances (e.g., eating, sleeping, exploring; Minerbo et al., 1994). These discharges occur considerably before copulation actually begins, implying that this region is primarily involved in appetitive, motivational processes.

Basolateral Amygdala

In striking contrast to the findings above, lesions to the basolateral nuclei of the amygdala do not affect the normal copulatory behavior of male rats (Harris & Sachs, 1975; Kondo, 1992). Males continue to investigate receptive females, mount and intromit, and achieve ejaculation. However, Everitt and colleagues have proposed that the basolateral amygdala is an essential link in a neural circuit designed to build stimulus-reward associations and establish secondary incentives (Everitt. Cador, & Robbins, 1989; Everitt et al., 1991). In a series of studies, male rats were trained to lever-press within an operant chamber for access to a receptive female. Subsequently, a light was paired with the delivery of sexual reinforcement. Subjects then lever-pressed for presentation of the light under a second-order reinforcement schedule. Bilateral lesions of the basolateral amygdala resulted in a marked decrease in instrumental responses maintained by the light, even though they had no impact upon the unconditioned sexual behavior of the males (Everitt, Cador, & Robbins, 1989). Thus, the basolateral amygdala may contribute to sexual motivation by processing information regarding relevant secondary incentives (i.e., stimuli that have predicted copulation in the past), while the central amygdala processes primary incentives (particularly olfactory cues).

Bed Nucleus of Stria Terminalis and Medial Preoptic Area

Both the BNST and MPOA receive a major afferent input, via the stria terminalis, from the central amygdala, placing them squarely in the center of the neuroanatomical circuit underlying male sexual behavior (Kondo & Yamanouchi, 1995; Simerly & Swanson, 1986). Lesions to the BNST cause partial deficits in the initiation of copulation, as well as more severe deficits in the achievement of ejaculation (Emery & Sachs, 1976). More recently, it was found that lesions to the BNST severely impair the ability of males to demonstrate non-contact erections in response to the presentation of an estrous female, with only moderate effects on copulation (Liu, Salamone, & Sachs, 1997). These studies suggest that the BNST integrates information regarding the presence of sexual incentives, and communicates with the male genitalia in coordination of the erectile response.

Electrical stimulation of the MPOA accelerates copulation by reducing the number of mounts and intromissions preceding ejaculation, as well as reducing the ejaculation latency and post-ejaculatory interval (Malsbury, 1971). In contrast, electrolytic and neurotoxic lesions of the MPOA permanently eliminate copulatory behavior in most male subjects, including mounts, intromissions, and ejaculations (Giantonio, Lund, & Gerall, 1970; Hansen, 1982; Hansen et al., 1982; Heimer & Larsson, 1966; Larsson & Heimer, 1964). Unilateral lesions of the MPOA, when combined with contralateral but not unilateral lesions of the corticomedial amygdala, abolish copulatory behavior in male rats (Kondo & Arai, 1995). Interestingly, bilateral transections of the stria terminalis do not disrupt copulatory behavior as

28

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

much as lesions of the medial amygdala, suggesting the existence of a nonstrial pathway flowing from the medial amygdala to the MPOA (Kondo & Yamanouchi, 1995). MPOA lesions also reduce self-grooming and female-pursuit in some male subjects (Paredes, Highland, & Karam, 1993). These observations, along with the fact that neurons within the MPOA fire during both precopulatory pursuit and actual copulation (Shimura, Yamamoto, & Shimokochi, 1994), suggest that the MPOA is critically involved in both motivational and performance dimensions of male sexual behavior.

However, the role of the MPOA has been an area of intense debate, with some experimenters claiming that the region primarily regulates copulatory performance independent of motivation. Several researchers have reported that MPOA-lesioned males continue to vigorously pursue and investigate estrous females, even attempting incomplete mounts without the stereotyped pelvic thrust pattern necessary for intromission (Giantonio, Lund, & Gerall, 1970; Hansen, 1982; Hansen et al., 1982). Similarly, rhesus monkeys with MPOA lesions show increased autosexual behavior when presented with receptive females, but are incapable of successfully mounting them (Slimp, Hart, & Goy, 1978). Lesioned male rats continue to show a preference for estrous females over nonestrous females, although the magnitude of the preference is significantly lower compared to that of nonlesioned controls (Edwards & Einhorn, 1986; Edwards, Walter, & Liang, 1996; Hughes, Everitt, & Herbert, 1990). Lastly, MPOA lesions disrupt neither instrumental responding for presentation of a conditioned cue associated with copulation nor investigation of the

receptive female once she is introduced, while such lesions do abolish mounts, intromissions, and ejaculation (Everitt & Stacey, 1987).

Experiments involving central pharmacological manipulation have further complicated this debate. Central infusions of haloperidol into the MPOA increase both mount and intromission latencies, and decrease anticipatory level-changing in a bilevel chamber, suggesting a strong motivational effect (Pfaus & Phillips, 1991). Central administration of cis-flupenthixol leads to fewer copulatory initiations, a slower copulatory rate, a decreased number of ejaculations, reduced penile erection, and a longer PEI (Pehek et al., 1988; Warner et al., 1991). In addition, males display reduced sexual motivation in an X-maze, as reflected by a reduction in percentage of trials on which they choose a goalbox containing a receptive female over an empty goalbox (Warner et al., 1991). Administration of both the D1-receptor antagonist, SCH-23390, and the D2-receptor antagonist, raclopride, also decreases sexual motivation under these conditions (Moses et al., 1995). Both dopamine agonists and antagonists administered to the MPOA produce only minor alterations in noncopulatory behaviors, such as eating, drinking, and global activity (Pehek et al., 1988). These effects suggest that dopamine-receptor antagonism within the MPOA leads to an overall inhibition of sexual motivation, performance, and arousal.

In vivo microdialysis and voltammetry have revealed that extracellular dopamine increases within the MPOA both prior to copulation, when a male is presented with an estrous female behind a mesh barrier, and during copulation (Hull et al., 1995). No increase in dopamine was found when male subjects were presented

with other males, ate a highly palatable food, or exercised in running wheels. Most interestingly, all males that showed increases in dopamine during precopulatory exposure to the female subsequently copulated; this included all intact animals, all testosterone-treated castrates, and 9 of 14 one-week castrates. Dopamine levels did not increase in any male that subsequently failed to copulate, including the remaining one-week, and all two-week castrates. These results provide strong evidence that the MPOA is involved both in copulatory performance and in the generation of sexual motivation, that dopamine released within the MPOA in response to primary incentives (estrous cues) is an integral part of this process, and that testosterone may promote copulation through a permissive action on dopamine release (Hull et al., 1995).

Nucleus Accumbens

The NA is the critical terminal site along the mesolimbic dopamine pathway, and has been implicated in mediating the reinforcing effects of numerous natural rewards and drugs of abuse (Bozarth, 1991). In addition, it seems to play a role in sexual behavior, although whether this role lies in mediating sexual reward and/or motivation is unclear. Electrolytic lesions of the NA cause only minor impairments in copulatory behavior (Barr & Leipheimer, 1993) while neurotoxic lesions induced by 6-hydroxy-dopamine markedly delay the initiation of copulation, an effect enhanced when males are paired with non-proceptive females (Everitt, 1990; Liu, Sachs, and Salamone, 1998). Infusions of amphetamine and apomorphine into the NA dose-dependently reduce mount and intromission latencies, but have no effect on

consummatory measures, such as copulatory rate or number of intromissions (Everitt, 1990). These same treatments also dose-dependently increase the rate of instrumental responding for a receptive female presented under a second-order schedule of sexual reinforcement (Everitt, 1990). In addition, dopamine-receptor agonist infusions to the NA are capable of restoring instrumental responding to baseline levels following basolateral amygdala lesions that radically reduce responding (Everitt, Cador & Robbins, 1989). This has led Everitt and colleagues to propose that the basolateral amygdala and nucleus accumbens comprise an integrated neural circuit responsible for the behaviorally-activating effects of conditioned incentives.

Central infusions of dopamine antagonists into the NA tend to inhibit sexual motivation. Bilateral infusion of haloperidol into the NA reduces anticipatory levelchanging in a bilevel chamber without affecting consummatory measures of sexual behavior (Pfaus & Phillips, 1991). Cis-flupenthixol dose-dependently reduces responding under a second-order schedule and increases mount and intromission latencies, while having no further effect on copulatory behavior (Everitt, 1990). The specific D2-receptor antagonist raclopride produces slightly longer mount and intromission latencies when males are paired with receptive and proceptive females; however, when tested with females treated with alpha-flupenthixol, which abolishes proceptive behavior, the majority of male subjects never initiate a copulatory sequence (Everitt, 1990). These results suggest that NA dopaminergic activity may also be involved in regulating the value of primary incentives, such as estrous odor and proceptive displays.

Initial *in vivo* neurochemical tests indicated that dopamine concentrations within the NA rose during male copulatory activity (Pfaus et al., 1990; Pleim et al., 1990). It was later specified that dopamine levels increase significantly when males simply perceive a receptive female (even if she is located behind a mesh barrier preventing physical interaction), and increase further during actual copulation (Damsma et al., 1992; Fiorino, Coury, & Phillips, 1997). Intriguingly, dopamine concentration within the NA falls to baseline levels during periods of sexual satiety, but is augmented following exposure to, and copulation with, a novel female (but not one previously copulated with). These data suggest that dopaminergic fluctuations within the NA directly parallel changes in sexual motivation, and that these changes may account for the well-known Coolidge Effect (Fiorino, Coury, & Phillips, 1997).

Perhaps most interestingly, NA dopamine concentration increases during a male rat's very first exposure to a sexually receptive female (Wenkstern, Pfaus, & Fibiger, 1993). Estrous female odors alone, but not odors of other males or nonestrous females, also induce selective increases in dopamine release within the NA of both sexually naive and experienced males (Louilot et al., 1991; Mitchell & Gratton, 1991, 1992). Repeated exposure to estrous female bedding leads to an increased, or sensitized, dopaminergic response within the NA (Mitchell & Gratton, 1991). Such sensitization to primary female incentives may explain the progressive decrease in mount and intromission latencies typically observed in male rats following repeated sexual experience (Wenkstern, Pfaus, & Fibiger, 1993).

The pattern of accumbal dopamine release observed in microdialysis and voltammetry studies during male sexual behavior suggests the existence of two distinct phases: a small increase in response to the perception of primary and secondary sexual incentives, and a larger, more sustained increase during active copulation (Mitchell & Gratton, 1994). The increased mesolimbic dopamine transmission during the preparatory and consummatory phases of sexual behavior in male rats could serve both to reward ongoing sexual activity and to facilitate preparatory sexual behaviors that are elicited by primary or secondary incentives.

Primary Questions

This survey of the biopsychological literature on the sexual motivation of male rats reveals a number of central questions that remain unanswered. First and foremost, while the perception of female incentives and in particular, estrous cues, seems to be pivotal in the stimulation of male sexual motivation, it remains unclear whether male rats are endowed with the inherent capacity to attribute positive salience to such stimuli, or must learn through copulatory experience that certain feminine cues tend to predict positive sexual outcomes. The field as a whole appears to be biased in the latter direction, as can be seen within the following quotations from relatively recent reviews:

> "Presumably, [wild] rats learn to inhibit their sexual advances toward inappropriate stimuli during adolescence... and learn to associate certain olfactory and pheromonal cues, behavioral responses, and ultrasonic vocalizations exclusively with estrus. Male rats in the laboratory almost never learn to distinguish sexually receptive from nonreceptive females." (Pfaus, 1998)

"Whether copulation is to be initiated or not, in the inexperienced animal, is determined by the random occurrence of appropriate tactile stimulation. In the experienced animal, the execution of copulatory acts may have been conditioned." (Agmo, 1999)

Thus, it is assumed that a successful copulatory encounter with an estrous female is an essential ingredient in the ontogeny of male sexual motivation. The delicate issue of how the male is supposed to know where/who to turn to in order to achieve that initial goal is carefully avoided through evocation of "random" exploratory behavior. The organism is allowed to possess inherent mechanisms that classify sexual activity as rewarding, as well as a small set of general-purpose learning systems that allows for the establishment of stimulus-response, CS-US, or action-outcome associations. This theoretical stance is not only popular in sexual biopsychology, but throughout the motivational literature:

> "An individual's initial contact with a hedonic reward may occur incidentally, triggering 'liking' as the individual explores its world, sampling food, etc. Such natural rewards have hedonic value presumably because of their survival value in evolutionary history." (Berridge, 1998)

An adaptationist perspective on male sexual motivation finds such a hypothesis untenable due to the vast computational improbability of matching an appropriate (utilitarian) behavioral response to a particular environmental scenario without the aid of motivational predispositions acquired through natural selection. The primary hypothesis of this dissertation was therefore that sexually-naïve male rats would be capable of discriminating between nonestrous and estrous females, and would be

more motivated to approach and engage the latter because of their greater incentive value.

However, it is also clear that sexual experience does have a profound impact on the subsequent copulatory behavior of male rats. It was a further goal of this dissertation to determine whether sexual experience affects motivation, independent of its effects on copulatory efficiency (i.e., a practice effect). Intuitively, it seems as if a change in subsequent sexual motivation could be mediated by two distinct processes: first, the enhancement of primary female incentives (or those cues associated with the female herself). A memory of the rewarding experience might then be layered upon motivational predispositions that already exist. Second, experience could allow for the establishment of conditioned incentives, or in other words, teach the male that certain recurring environmental stimuli are reliable predictors of copulation and should therefore be approached. The experiments within Chapters III and IV were dedicated to the dissociation of these processes.

The third primary question this dissertation attempted to resolve concerned the role of dopamine in regulating male sexual motivation. The brief review included above indicates that there is a significant degree of debate within the field over whether dopamine is involved in sexual reward (and reinforcement-mediated learning) or incentive-motivation. As discussed, the methodological structures of the vast majority of experiments reviewed do not allow one to dissociate these possibilities. Therefore, we developed a protocol in which sexual motivation can be measured without introducing the confounding effects of copulatory reinforcement.

Peripheral administration of haloperidol, a dopamine-receptor antagonist, under a variety of experimental conditions allowed us to detail dopamine's role in these multiple processes. Specifically, subjects were given haloperidol prior to engaging in copulation to test whether dopaminergic release during sexual activity is involved in mediating the potential motivational changes that transpire. In other experiments, subjects were treated with haloperidol prior to being exposed to either primary female incentives or secondary, conditioned incentives, to determine dopamine's role in mediating behavioral responsiveness to motivationally-salient cues. Systemic administration of a drug unfortunately tells one nothing about which neural locations are involved in the processes under consideration. In lieu of performing a subsequent series of experiments involving the central administration of haloperidol, a study examining *c-fos* induction in male rats following exposure to female incentives was conducted, and is discussed in Chapter VI.

Chapter II: Sexual Motivation in Naïve Male Rats

A. The Inherent Attractiveness of Sexual Incentives

Adult male rats display a consistent and replicable preference for estrous females over nonestrous females, presumably due to the motivating properties of those behavioral and physiological female cues (e.g., pheromones, hop-darts) emitted specifically during estrus (Beach, 1956, 1976). Males spend more time in the vicinity of an estrous female, even if direct physical contact with the female is prevented (Hetta & Meyerson, 1978; Landauer, Wiese, & Carr, 1977; Merkx, 1983), and prefer the odor of an estrous female over that of a nonestrous female (Carr, Loeb, & Dissinger, 1965; LeMagnen, 1952; Lydell & Doty, 1972; Stern, 1970). Sexuallyexperienced, sexually-naive, and castrated males are all more likely to initiate copulatory sequences with females displaying proceptive behaviors than with nondisplaying females (Hlinak & Madlafousek, 1972; Landau & Madden, 1983; Madlafousek, Hlinak, & Beran, 1976; Tiefer, 1969).

The process by which male rats come to find these female precopulatory cues sexually attractive has remained largely obscure. One possibility is that males come pre-equipped with specialized neuronal mechanisms designed to respond to sexuallyrelevant sensory information. Beach (1942) reported that sexually-naive males were unconditionally motivated to engage estrous females but not nonestrous females, and that even elimination of a single sensory modality within these males did not eradicate their preference for estrous females. Later studies demonstrated that sexually-naive males do express preferences for estrous over nonestrous females (Landauer, Wiese, & Carr, 1977; Merkx, 1983), estrous female odor over nonestrous female odor (LeMagnen, 1952), and increased sexual motivation in response to

female proceptive displays (Hlinak & Madlafousek, 1972). Recent work by Sachs (1997) has shown that sexually-naive Long-Evans males display noncontact erections in response to inaccessible, estrous females located upwind, even when the females are not visible, indicating that male rats are unconditionally aroused by female precopulatory cues, in particular olfactory pheromonal signals. Perhaps most interestingly, Van Furth and Van Ree (1996a) have demonstrated that sexually-naive Wistar Albino males increase their number of anticipatory level changes in a bi-level chamber over time, if they perceive the presence of estrous odors within the chamber. If "level-changing" behavior is an accurate measure of sexual motivation, as the authors argue, then this suggests that olfactory precopulatory cues unconditionally activate appetitive systems within this strain.

An alternative view is that males learn with repeated sexual experience that estrous cues are associated with positive sexual outcomes, and are punished by failed copulatory attempts with nonreceptive females (e.g., Pfaus, 1996). In support of this proposition, many experiments have documented that sexually inexperienced males do not express estrous odor preferences (Carr at al., 1965; Carr, Loeb, & Wylie, 1966; Landauer, Wiese, & Carr, 1977; Lydell & Doty, 1972; Stern, 1970).

As discussed in Chapter I, the majority of experiments within this field have adopted either partner preference paradigms that intrinsically suffer from interpretive problems, or operant response procedures that preclude the examination of sexual motivation in naïve males. In order to circumvent these difficulties, and potentially resolve some of the discrepancies within this literature, we tested sexually-naïve male

subjects within an operant runway for their motivation to approach one of five potential goalbox targets: an empty goalbox, a conspecific male, a nonestrous female, a receptive but non-proceptive female, and a fully estrous female. We hypothesized that subjects would demonstrate faster run times for estrous females over nonestrous females, for females over males, and for males over an empty goalbox.

Method

Animals

A total of 12 male and 6 female Long-Evans rats were obtained from Charles Rivers Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). The males were 70-90 days old and the females were 90-120 days old at the start of testing. All animals were housed individually in hanging wire cages within a 22°C vivarium environment maintained under a reverse 14:10 light-dark schedule (lights on 2300 h-1300 h). Food (Purina Rat Chow) and water were provided on an *ad libitum* basis.

Prior to arrival at our vivarium, the males were group housed with other males (typically, 10-15 individuals) but did not have access to females. Therefore, they were sexually-naive insofar as they lacked heterosexual (but possibly not homosexual) copulatory experience. In addition, it should be noted that in the Charles Rivers facilities, males and females are group housed within the same room, such that it is possible that males receive exposure to cues of estrous (e.g., pheromones) prior to use in the following experiments.

Surgery

Females were ovariectomized (OVX) through a single lower abdominal incision two months prior to testing using standard aseptic surgical techniques and under deep anesthesia. Atropine (0.3 mg/kg; Pittman-Moore, Washington Crossing, NJ) was administered intraperitoneally (IP) before anesthesia to reduce potential respiratory problems. Each animal received 30 mg/kg IP sodium pentobarbital (Nembutal: Pittman-Moore) 15 minutes after atropine treatment. Supplementary doses of Nembutal and methoxyflurane (Metofane: Pittman-Moore) were administered during surgery as needed.

<u>Apparatus</u>

The test apparatus was a straight-arm runway consisting of a startbox (25 cm x 25 cm x 20 cm), an alley (160 cm x 10 cm x 20 cm), and a cylindrical Plexiglas goalbox (45 cm diameter, 40 cm height). Removable doors were located between the startbox and alley, and between the alley and goalbox. Infrared photocell emitter-detector pairs were located within the alley just outside the startbox and just inside the goalbox. Interruption of the photobeam outside the startbox initiated a timer that stopped when the subject entered the goalbox. This apparatus is comparable to that used successfully by our laboratory for studying other motivating goalbox events including food (Chausmer & Ettenberg, 1997; Ettenberg & Camp, 1986a; Horvitz & Ettenberg, 1989; McFarland & Ettenberg, 1998), water (Ettenberg & Camp, 1986b; Ettenberg & Horvitz, 1990), and drugs of abuse (Ettenberg & Geist, 1993; Ettenberg, MacConnell, & Geist, 1996; McFarland & Ettenberg, 1995, 1997). Within the

goalbox, a removable Plexiglas partition divided the arena into two semi-circular halves. Sixteen 1.2 cm diameter holes drilled into the partition and spaced 8 cm apart from one another allowed air to pass between the two sides. Thus, the partition prevented even minimal tactile contact between subject and target, although visual, auditory and olfactory cues were accessible.

Procedure

On two separate days, all 12 subjects were allowed to individually explore the entire apparatus for 10 minutes. The targets (three females and one male) were each given two 10 minute exposures to the goalbox. This was done to acclimate the animals to the novel runway environment. All testing took place under red light conditions during the dark portion of the rats' photoperiod.

On any given test day, all 12 subjects ran for the same target in the goalbox; only one trial per day per subject was conducted. Before a day's trials, the designated target animal was placed into the goalbox for several minutes. The partition was then introduced into the goalbox, with the target animal placed on the side farthest from the goalbox entrance. At this point, the trials began: first, a subject male was placed into the goalbox on the opposite side of the partition from the target for five minutes. The subject was then removed and immediately placed into the startbox. After 10 seconds, the goal-door and start-door were lifted, and the time required for the subject to traverse the alley was recorded. Once the subject had re-entered the goalbox, the door was closed and the animal was left for one minute before being removed and returned to his home cage. The next subject's trial was then initiated. Testing

43

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

continued, one animal at a time, until all 12 subject males were run. The order of subjects run was held constant throughout the experiment.

Over the course of five days, subjects ran for five different targets: this constituted one cycle. Every five days a new cycle was begun with the order of target conditions counterbalanced. A total of seven cycles (35 days) was completed with the first cycle regarded as practice and not included in statistical analysis. The five target conditions were as follows: 1) empty goalbox; 2) male; 3) OVX female treated with vehicle (0.1 ml sesame oil injected subcutaneously (SC) 48 and 24 hours before testing, and an additional SC injection of 0.1 ml propylene glycol 4-5 hours before testing); 4) OVX female treated with 15 µg of estradiol benzoate (dissolved in sesame oil and administered SC 48 and 24 hours before testing, with an additional SC injection of 0.1 ml propylene glycol 4-5 hours before testing); and 5) OVX female treated with both 15 μ g estradiol benzoate and 500 μ g progesterone (estradiol prepared in sesame oil and injected SC 48 and 24 hours before testing, followed by a SC progesterone injection prepared in a vehicle of propylene glycol given 4-5 hours before testing). Steroid hormones were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, MO. Each of the three target females was rotated through each of the three female conditions twice.

On every test day that entailed the use of a female target, a brief one minute pretest was conducted in another room to assess the female's responsivity to a Long-Evans stimulus male (taken from another experiment). These tests confirmed that non-hormonally treated females (nonreceptive condition) never displayed lordosis or

44

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

any proceptive behaviors, females given only estradiol injections (receptive condition) always displayed lordosis upon physical contact with the male but few, if any, proceptive behaviors (always less than five hop-darts and ear-wiggles total), and females given both estradiol and progesterone (receptive+proceptive condition) displayed both lordosis and numerous proceptive behaviors in the space of a minute (always over ten hop-darts and ear-wiggles total).

Dependent Measures

The primary dependent measure in this experiment was run time - i.e., the time elapsed between when the subject left the startbox and entered the goalbox. Lower run times reflect a greater motivation to approach the goalbox target. Past experiments utilizing the runway apparatus have shown that subjects will often stop at some point along the alley, turn around, and return to the startbox rather than continue directly to the goalbox. These "retreats" (Ettenberg & Geist, 1993) are presumed to reflect the subject's motivational state insofar as they have been shown to increase in number as the valence of the goalbox experience becomes less positive (Geist & Ettenberg, 1997). The total number of retreats produced by each subject on each trial was also recorded.

In addition, when the target female had received both estradiol and progesterone injections, the number of proceptive behaviors (hop-darts and earwiggles) displayed to the male subject during the five-minute exposure period prior to running was recorded. No female in either of the other two conditions (no hormones or estradiol-treated) ever displayed proceptivity behind the Plexiglas partition.

Results

Run Time

Each subject male ran for every goalbox target six separate times. To assess whether operant running for the same target changed over the course of the experiment, a one-way repeated measures ANOVA was computed on the mean run times of the single group of subjects across the six replications (i.e., assessing the effects of repeated testing independent of goalbox condition). This ANOVA revealed no reliable effect of repeated testing, F(5,20)=0.747, p=0.598. Note that this stable performance produced by the one-trial per day protocol is in marked contrast to most operant conditioning studies in which subjects increase the rate/intensity of behavioral responding over the course of the experiment. The data for each of the six replications were therefore averaged for each target condition.

Figure 1, panel A displays the subjects' mean run time as a function of the target condition. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA comparing these means yielded a highly significant main effect of target condition, F(4, 44) = 7.432, p<0.005. A limited set of planned comparisons (paired-sample, one-tailed, student *t*-tests) were conducted, comparing subjects's run times for 1) an empty goalbox vs. a male, 2) a male vs. a nonreceptive female, 3) a nonreceptive female vs. a receptive/proceptive female, and 4) a receptive female vs. a receptive/proceptive female. These analyses revealed a significant difference in run times between the male and nonreceptive female and receptive female, t(11)=2.391, p=0.018.



Figure 1. Mean (+SEM) performance of 12 subject males for each of the five goalbox targets (averaged across six trials). Panel A (top) depicts mean run times while panel B (bottom) depicts the mean number of retreats per trial.

Retreats

Figure 1, panel B illustrates the mean number of runway "retreats" exhibited by the subjects within the alley for each condition. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA on these data revealed a significant main effect of target condition, F(4, 44)= 3.150, p=0.023. Further analysis revealed that subjects committed significantly more retreats when running for a male target than when running for a nonreceptive female target, t(11)=2.366, p=0.018.

Proceptive Displays

Only one of the three female targets, when given the estradiol+progesterone hormone treatment, emitted proceptive displays in the presence of a male subject on the opposite side of the Plexiglas barrier. Specifically, the target female displayed to seven of the subject males: the mean (\pm SEM) run time of this subgroup was 11.8 (\pm 1.48) seconds. The five remaining subjects were not exposed to any proceptive behaviors over the course of these two trials: the mean (\pm SEM) run time of this subgroup was 29.7 (\pm 9.94) seconds. An independent samples, one-tailed *t*-test comparing the means of these two subgroups was computed and yielded a significant difference in run times, *t*(10)=2.125, *p*=0.030.

Discussion

The present data confirm that running behavior within an alley can be a useful index of a subject's motivation to seek a goal stimulus, even when the subject is not allowed to engage in consummatory behavior within the goalbox. The present results

also confirm previous findings that copulatory experience is not necessary for males to prefer the proximity of estrous over nonestrous females (Hetta & Meyerson, 1978; Landauer, Wiese, & Carr, 1977; Merkx, 1983), or estrous females over other males (Eliasson & Meyerson, 1981; Vega Matuszczyk, Appa, & Larsson, 1994; Vega Matuszczyk & Larsson, 1993). However, the experiments conducted here were able to address the interpretive difficulties of the preference literature in two important ways. Analysis of the retreat data (see Fig 1, panel B), which are reflective of the subjects' ambivalence about entering the goalbox (Ettenberg & Geist, 1993; Geist & Ettenberg, 1997), suggests that faster running for female targets compared to male targets might indeed be due to a negative motivational state associated with returning to a place in which a male target is located. In contrast, the faster running of males for a receptive+proceptive female over a nonreceptive female cannot easily be accounted for by differences in the negative valence of the targets since there was not a significant difference in the mean numbers of retreats subjects' exhibited when running for these targets. Procedurally, the current operant runway approach has the additional advantage over preference methods in that run times expressed for each of the target conditions can be compared to an appropriate control condition (i.e., an empty goal-box).

Van Furth and Van Ree (1996a) have argued that many of the conflicting results in this literature can be explained by strain differences in the regulation of masculine sexual arousal. Specifically, sexually-naive Sprague-Dawley and Long-Evans males fail to demonstrate a preference for estrous females, whereas sexually-

naive Wistar males do. Data from the present experiment were inconsistent with this distinction, in that sexually-naive Long-Evans males did demonstrate a greater motivation to return to a goalbox containing an estrous female versus a nonestrous female. However, there may be strain differences in pheromonal sensitivity. Sexually-naive Long-Evans males do not show preferences for the mere odor of estrous females (Carr at al., 1965; Carr, Loeb, & Wylie, 1966; Landauer, Wiese, & Carr, 1977; Lydell & Doty, 1972), while naive Wistar males do (LeMagnen, 1952). It is possible that Long-Evans males require more than olfactory sensory information (i.e., visual, auditory, etc.) in order to be sexually motivated by estrous females. However, as stated in the introduction, Sachs (1997) recently demonstrated that olfactory cues are sufficient to provoke noncontact erections in sexually-naive Long-Evans males. These disparate findings suggest the nonintuitive hypothesis that Long-Evans males requires a state in the introduction arousal (i.e., erections) to pheromones, but are not sexually *motivated* by them (i.e., as reflected by approach behavior).

In Experiment 1, only one female target treated with estradiol and progesterone displayed proceptive behaviors in the proximity of male subjects. This is in stark contrast to the high number of hop-darts and ear-wiggles that females in estrus will normally display when allowed to physically interact with a male (Fadem, Barfield, & Whalen, 1979; Tennent, Smith, & Davidson, 1980; Whalen, 1974), an observation that was confirmed when the estradiol and progesterone-treated female targets were paired with a stimulus male in one-minute pretests. It would seem then that actual physical contact between a male and female is necessary to stimulate the

full expression of these behaviors. Nevertheless, when proceptive displays did occur, subject run times achieved their lowest mean: 11.8 seconds. One interpretation of this finding is that sexually-naive males are unconditionally motivated by female proceptive displays, as others have concluded (Hlinak & Madlafousek, 1972). However, the correlational nature of this analysis does not allow for a firm conclusion regarding a potential causal link between female proceptivity and male sexual motivation.

In contrast to what some researchers have suggested, this experiment successfully demonstrated that sexually-naïve male rats are not only capable of distinguishing between nonestrous and estrous females, but are more motivated to approach the latter (Pfaus, 1996; Agmo, 1999). The next goal of our research program was to test whether dopaminergic activity plays a causal role in mediating subjects' approach behavior towards sexual incentives. Chapter II: Sexual Motivation in Naïve Male Rats

.

B. Haloperidol Attenuates Sexual Motivation

Numerous excellent reviews have discussed the importance of dopaminergic transmission for the generation of male sexual motivation (Bitran & Hull, 1987; Everitt, 1990, 1995; Hull et al., 1999; Melis & Argiolis, 1995; Pfaus & Everitt, 1995; Wilson, 1993). In general, researchers note that the administration of dopamine-receptor agonists stimulates male sexual motivation, while antagonists inhibit it. Perhaps most revealing have been the results of recent *in vivo* neurochemical analyses that have correlated central dopaminegic release with several aspects of male sexual behavior, including precopulatory perception of estrous female cues (for reviews, see Mitchell & Gratton, 1994; Phillips, Pfaus, & Blaha, 1991).

However, it remains to be determined exactly how dopamine modulates sexual motivation. Numerous internal factors (hormonal condition, degree of sexual experience, etc.) and external inputs (female pheromones, proceptive displays, sexually-conditioned contextual cues, etc.) influence a male's desire for copulation. While dopamine may indeed regulate the processing of some or all of these factors, research methods employed to study male sexual motivation have often been unable to delineate and isolate their relative impact. The use of copulatory performance variables or sexually-reinforced operant behaviors as indices of motivation have made conclusions regarding dopamine's role ambiguous. It is often unclear as to whether dopamine receptor blockade is directly affecting sexual motivation by reducing the incentive value of primary female cues and/or sexually-conditioned cues, or indirectly reducing sexual motivation by attenuating the rewarding consequences of sexual reinforcement, leading to eventual extinction of the measured operant response. The

use of sexually-experienced subjects is also potentially problematic in that it can confound the motivational impact of primary incentives with the effects of prior sexual experience. By using experienced males, it may be difficult to determine whether experimental manipulations affect the unlearned or *unconditioned* incentive value of primary female cues.

In the current study, we attempted to replicate and extend our earlier findings on the inherent attractiveness of estrous female cues by examining the ability of a dopamine-receptor antagonist to alter this incentive-motivational process. We hypothesized that haloperidol would dose-dependently attenuate the incentive value of estrous female cues, such that male subjects would run equally fast for a nonestrous and estrous female in an operant runway. The effect of drug administration on running for an empty goalbox would serve as a control for the potential motor-debilitating activity of haloperidol.

Method

Animals

A total of 38 male and 3 female Long-Evans rats were obtained from Charles Rivers Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). The males were approximately 100 days old and the females 100-150 days old at the start of testing. All animals were housed individually in hanging wire cages within a 22°C vivarium environment maintained under a reverse 14:10 light-dark schedule (lights on 2300 h-1300 h). Food and water were provided on an *ad libitum* basis. Prior to arrival in the vivarium, the males were group housed but did not have access to females. Therefore, they were sexuallynaive insofar as they lacked heterosexual copulatory experience.

Surgery

All females were ovariectomized (OVX) through a single lower abdominal incision 1-6 weeks prior to testing using standard aseptic surgical techniques and under deep anesthesia. Anesthesia was induced by IP administration of 90 mg/kg ketamine and 2 mg/kg xylazine, in a volume of 1 ml/kg. All females received at least one week post-operative care prior to initiation of the experiment.

Apparatus

The apparatus used in this experiment was the same straight-arm runway described in Chapter IIA.

Procedure

All 38 male subjects were allowed to individually explore the empty runway apparatus for 5-7 minutes on each of two initial trials. The three female targets were also individually placed within the goalbox for 10 minutes on two days. This was done to acclimate the animals to the runway environment. All testing took place under red light conditions during the dark portion of the rats' photoperiod.

On any given test day, all 38 subjects ran for the same target in the goalbox; only one trial per day per subject was conducted. Before a day's trials, the designated target female was placed into the goalbox for 2-3 minutes. The partition was then introduced into the goalbox, with the target female placed on the side farthest from the goalbox entrance. At this point, the trials began: first, a subject male was placed

into the goalbox on the opposite side of the partition from the target female for four minutes. The subject was then removed and immediately placed into the startbox. After 10 seconds, the goal-door and start-door were lifted, and the time required for the subject to traverse the alley was recorded. Once the subject had entered the goalbox, the door was closed and the animal was left for one minute before being removed and returned to his home cage. The next subject's trial was then initiated. This procedure continued, one animal at a time, until all 38 subject males were tested within the runway for their motivation to approach the female target. The order of subjects run was held constant throughout the experiment. The dependent measure of interest was run time - i.e., the time elapsed between the subject's leaving the startbox and entering the goalbox. Shorter run times presumably reflect a greater motivation to approach the goalbox target.

Subjects ran for three different targets: an empty goalbox, a nonestrous female (OVX female) or an estrous female. Estrus was induced via subcutaneous (SC) administration of 15 μ g of estradiol benzoate (in 0.1 ml sesame oil) 48 and 24 hours before testing, with an additional SC injection of 500 μ g progesterone (in 0.1 ml propylene glycol) 3-5 hours before testing. Steroid hormones were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, MO. Behavioral estrus was confirmed prior to the days' trials during a brief one minute pretest conducted in another room in which the target female was paired with an adult Long-Evans male (taken from another experiment). Each of the three target females was rotated through each hormonal condition three to four times over the course of the experiment.
Subjects initially ran a total of nine trials (one trial per day), three for each goalbox target, to establish baseline run times. Following these nine trials, the subjects were divided into three groups such that the mean run times for the three baseline goalbox conditions were approximately the same for all groups. Subjects were then re-tested within the runway for their motivation to approach the three goalbox targets, under differing drug conditions. Subjects within the vehicle control group (N=12) were given intraperitoneal (IP) injections of 0.002 M lactic acid vehicle 45 minutes prior to testing. Subjects in the second group (N=13) were pretreated with IP injections of 0.075 mg/kg haloperidol (dissolved in lactic acid vehicle), and subjects in the third group (N=13) were pretreated with IP injections of 0.15 mg/kg haloperidol. All injections were administered in a volume of 1 ml/kg. Subjects were tested under these drug-conditions once for each goalbox target (yielding a total of 3 drug-trials/subject). In between drug trials, subjects were tested under non-drug conditions for each of the three goalbox targets. Thus, the testing schedule following establishment of baseline run times was as follows: drug-day, 3 non-drug days, drugday, 3 non-drug days, drug-day. The order of haloperidol trials was counterbalanced between groups, as was the goalbox condition, such that one-third of the subjects within each group experienced a different order (empty/nonestrous/estrous, nonestrous/estrous/empty, estrous/empty/nonestrous).

Results

The baseline run times for each group of subjects were nearly equivalent, hence the data were collapsed in order to simplify statistical analysis. Baseline mean (+SEM) run times for all 38 male subjects are displayed in Figure 2, panel A.

A repeated measures one-way ANOVA on the data in panel A revealed a significant effect of goalbox target on subjects' run time, F(2,37)=30.177, p<0.001. A series of planned comparisons using one-tailed, paired-sample *t*-tests revealed significant differences between subject run times for the empty goalbox and nonestrous female target, t(37)=3.835, p<0.001, between the empty goalbox and estrous female target, t(37)=5.493, p<0.001, and between the nonestrous and estrous female targets, t(37)=3.362, p<0.001.

The mean (+SEM) run times for the three experimental groups while under drug-treatment are displayed in Figure 2, panels B-D. A repeated measures one-way ANOVA comparing run times for the three goalbox targets was conducted on the data depicted in each of these panels. The vehicle group (panel B) behaved comparably to baseline, with the ANOVA confirming a significant main effect of goalbox target, F(2,11)=5.986, p=0.03, and the pattern of results comparable to that in Figure 2, panel A. For both the 0.075 mg/kg and 0.15 mg/kg haloperidol groups, there was no significant effect of goalbox target on subject run time, F(2,12)=1.454, p=0.251 and F(2,12)=0.207, p=0.657 respectively.

Figure 2 seems to indicate that the primary effect of haloperidol was to decrease the subjects' motivation to approach estrous female targets. Three one-way



Figure 2. Mean (+SEM) run times of sexually-naïve male rats running for each of three goalbox targets: an empty goalbox, a nonestrous female, and an estrous female. Panel A depicts the baseline run times for all 38 subjects for each of the three goalbox targets. Panels B-D depict run time data from three sub-groups of subjects given haloperidol pre-treatment (0.0, 0.075, or 0.15 mg/kg) 45 minutes prior to testing. Vehicle-treated controls (panel B) continued to motivationally differentiate between the goalbox targets, while drug-treated subjects (panels C and D) experienced a reduction in motivation to approach estrous female targets.

ANOVA's, testing the main effect of drug-dose on run time for each goalbox target, were conducted to test this possibility. There was no significant effect of haloperidol dose on subjects' run times for either the empty goalbox, F(2,35)=0.089, p=0.91, or the nonestrous female target, F(2,35)=0.092, p=0.91. However, there was a main effect of drug-dose on mean run time for the estrous female target, F(2,35)=3.204, p=0.05, indicating that haloperidol reduced the incentive value of estrous female cues. The fact that subjects' run times for the empty goalbox were unaffected by haloperidol pretreatment implies that the drug did not significantly reduce the motoric capacity of the subjects.

Discussion

Sexually-naïve male rats expressed an increased motivation to approach estrous females over nonestrous females, and an increased motivation to approach a female target over an empty goalbox, as reflected by run times in an operant runway. These data replicate prior work done in our laboratory demonstrating an inherent male tendency to be motivated by primary female cues. Our results also reveal that male rats are less motivated to approach female targets when pretreated with the dopamine receptor antagonist, haloperidol. Furthermore, the slowed approach behavior during haloperidol challenge was restricted to the estrous female target condition – there were no changes in the subjects' response to the empty goalbox or nonestrous female.

The fact that subject run times for the empty goalbox were unaffected by haloperidol treatment reduces the likelihood that the observed changes in runway behavior were a consequence of the potential motor-debilitating effects of haloperidol. However, it is possible that haloperidol differentially impaired faster running (for the estrous target) versus slower running (for the empty goalbox). There are several reasons to suspect that this is not the case. First, a number of studies (see Wise, 1982, for a review) have dissociated the performance-debilitating effects of neuroleptics from their motivational or reward actions. For example, the administration of such drugs does not influence the response-initiation latencies nor running speeds of subjects working in an operant runway for access to selfstimulation or food reward on the first few days of training (Horvitz & Ettenberg, 1989; Wise et al., 1978). Slowed running only appears once subjects have had repeated experience with the goalbox reward while drugged, suggesting an extinction-like effect. Indeed, this work was crucial in demonstrating the role of dopamine in reward processes (Wise, 1982). Second, prior work in our laboratory has shown that at the doses used in the current study, haloperidol does not compromise a rat's ability to respond normally in the alley on a single trial (McFarland & Ettenberg, 1995, 1998, 1999). Lastly, during pilot studies aimed at determining an appropriate dosage regimen for this research, we found that higher doses of haloperidol (i.e., 0.30 mg/kg) dramatically retarded operant running, even for an empty goalbox. Thus, the reported baseline run times for an empty goalbox in the current study do not represent a "ceiling" that prevents the detection of motor

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

impairment. Collectively, these considerations increase our confidence that the effect of haloperidol on the subjects' run times for the nonestrous and estrous female targets in the current study was primarily due to a motivational and not motoric impairment.

This study supports prior conclusions on dopamine's role in the generation of male sexual motivation (Bitran & Hull, 1987; Everitt, 1990, 1995; Hull et al., 1999; Melis & Argiolis, 1995; Pfaus & Everitt, 1995; Wilson, 1993). However, since our male subjects did not receive sexual experience within the test apparatus, we were able to dissociate dopamine's role in regulating the incentive value of primary female cues from that of secondary conditioned incentives (e.g., environmental stimuli) established via sexual reinforcement. Similarly, we were not faced with the need to control for the effects of sexual experience upon sexual motivation, which we have previously shown to dramatically alter male motivation to seek female targets. Thus, by keeping subjects sexually naïve throughout the experiment, and by adopting an operant paradigm that allows for the examination of motivational processes without the introduction of reinforcement, we can safely conclude that haloperidol reduces male sexual motivation by decreasing the unconditioned incentive value of female cues.

This conclusion is supported by recent *in vivo* analyses, utilizing both microdialysis and voltammetry, showing an increase in dopamine levels within the nucleus accumbens during a naïve male rat's *first* exposure to a sexually receptive female (Louilot et al., 1991; Wenkstern, Pfaus & Fibiger, 1993). This response occurs even if the male remains behind a wire-mesh screen and is not allowed to

initiate copulation. Such data strongly suggest that enhanced dopaminergic activity within the nucleus accumbens prior to copulation is an innate, unconditioned neurochemical event. However, *in vivo* observations do not explicitly identify a functional role for this dopaminergic response. Our experiment is the first to illustrate that blocking the postsynaptic effect of dopamine in response to the perception of primary female cues reduces sexual motivation in naïve males, as measured by approach behavior within a runway.

It should be noted that there is at least one alternative explanation of these results. It is not clear whether administration of systemic haloperidol prior to runway trials directly inhibits the sexual motivation of male rats, or indirectly influences it through action on other cognitive systems. For example, it could be the case that dopamine-receptor blockade attenuates the attentional capacities of the subjects such that the salience of the available female cues is reduced (Clark, Geffen, & Geffen, 1987; Horvitz, 2000; Matthysse, 1978; Ragozzino, 2000). In order to rule out this hypothesis, it would be necessary to demonstrate that subjects retained the ability to discriminate between sexual and non-sexual environmental stimuli under haloperidol-challenge.

Chapter III: The Role of Sexual Experience

A. Enhancement of Primary Female Incentives

Compared to sexually-naïve males, experienced male rats are more likely to initiate sexual behavior (Dewsbury, 1969; Fleming & Kucera, 1991) and express shorter mount latencies (Rabedeau & Whalen, 1959) when in the vicinity of a receptive female. One interpretation of these observations is that sexual experience enhances the incentive value of primary female cues through reward-mediated associations such that on subsequent sexual encounters, sexually-experienced males will be more motivated to approach an estrous female and initiate copulation. In order to test this hypothesis, we conducted an experiment comparing the sexual motivation of male rats, when sexually-naïve and when experienced. As in Chapter II, motivation was operationalized as the time taken to traverse an alley and enter a goalbox containing either a nonestrous or estrous female. Sexual experience consisted of a single copulatory experience with a receptive female culminating in either one ejaculation or one mount with intromission. Based on the results of our earlier experiments, we expected that subjects would be more motivated to approach an estrous female versus a nonestrous female when both naïve and experienced. However, experienced subjects should run faster for an estrous female target when compared to naïve males. Presuming that ejaculation is a necessary component of sexual reward, we also hypothesized that only those subjects given one complete copulatory episode with a receptive female, and not those given merely one intromission, would express an increase in sexual motivation following sexual experience.

Method

<u>Animals</u>

A total of 30 male and 11 female Long-Evans rats were obtained from Charles Rivers Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). The males were 70-90 days old and 6 target females 90-120 days old at the start of testing. An additional 5 females (3 to 7 months of age) were used to provide sexual experience for the male subjects. All animals were housed individually in hanging wire cages within a 22°C vivarium environment maintained under a reverse 14:10 light-dark schedule (lights on 2300 h-1300 h). Food and water were provided on an *ad libitum* basis.

Prior to arrival at our vivarium, the males were group housed but did not have access to females. Therefore, they were sexually-naive insofar as they lacked heterosexual (but possibly not homosexual) copulatory experience.

Surgery

Females were ovariectomized (OVX) through a single lower abdominal incision two months prior to testing using standard aseptic surgical techniques and under deep anesthesia. Atropine (0.3 mg/kg; Pittman-Moore, Washington Crossing, NJ) was administered intraperitoneally (IP) before anesthesia to reduce potential respiratory problems. Each animal received 30 mg/kg IP sodium pentobarbital (Nembutal: Pittman-Moore) fifteen minutes after atropine treatment. Supplementary doses of Nembutal and methoxyflurane (Metofane: Pittman-Moore) were administered during the surgery as needed.

66

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Apparatus

The apparatus used in this experiment was the same straight-arm runway described in Chapter IIA.

Procedure

Thirty sexually-naive males were used as subjects, running for one of three different target females, using an identical runway procedure as that described in Chapter IIA. On a given day, all 30 males traversed the alley for the same target. Target females were either nonestrous (OVX and given vehicle injections as in Chapter II) or estrous (OVX and given SC injections of both estradiol and progesterone as in Chapter II). Receptivity of the female target was confirmed during a brief one-minute pretest. Subject males ran a total of six trials, one trial per day (three for a nonestrous target and three for an estrous target) before they were provided with sexual experience. These trials not only established a baseline with which to compare subsequent run times, but also permitted subjects to learn the consequences of the operant task without the introduction of copulatory experience. Following these six trials, the subjects were divided into three groups such that the mean run time for nonestrous targets was approximately the same for all three groups, and the mean run time for estrous targets was approximately equivalent between groups.

Over the course of two days, all three groups were taken to a separate testing arena in order to provide them with a particular experience. Each subject male was tested individually under red light during the dark portion of the photoperiod. The

testing arena was composed of cylindrical Plexiglas, 45 cm diameter by 60 cm height, with the floor of the arena covered with wood-chips. A total of five OVX Long-Evans females, given estradiol and progesterone prior to testing, were used. For one group, each male was individually paired with a receptive female until he achieved one mount with intromission ("One Intromission" group). For another group, each male was paired with a receptive female until he achieved an ejaculation ("One Ejaculation" group). For the last group, each male was placed within the testing arena alone, without a female present, for a total of five minutes ("No Sexual Experience" group). Each subject male was returned to his home cage following his particular experience.

Two days after the final "experience" day, subjects were again tested within the runway for their motivation to approach either nonestrous or estrous female targets (note that while the same three females were used as targets throughout the runway portions of the experiment, none of these target females were used during the sex experience episodes). A total of eight post-sexual experience trials were conducted, one trial per day, four for a nonestrous target, four for an estrous target. Thus, over the course of the entire experiment, each of the thirty subjects ran a total of 14 trials.

Results

Prior to receiving any sexual experience, the mean (\pm SEM) run time of all 30 male subjects for the nonestrous female target was 53.6 (+7.6) and 32.7 (+4.4)

seconds for the estrous female target. A one-tailed, student *t*-test comparing these means revealed a significant difference, t(29)=2.670, p=0.012. The mean (+SEM) run times for the three experimental groups are displayed in Figure 3. A mixed two-factor (Pre/Post vs. Receptivity) ANOVA was conducted on the data for each sexual experience condition (i.e., on the data depicted in each panel of Fig 3). No reliable effects were obtained for either the No Sexual Experience group (top panel) or the One Intromission group (middle panel). Most significantly, there were no changes in mean run times, pre- to post-sexual experience. In contrast, the ANOVA conducted on the One Ejaculation group revealed a significant reduction in mean run time following sexual experience, F(1,9)=5.31, p=0.047. Subjects expressed this post-ejaculation increase in motivation when running for both nonestrous and estrous targets (see Fig 3, bottom panel); therefore, there was no Pre/Post x Receptivity interaction.

Discussion

The results of this experiment replicated the central finding of our initial work on the sexual motivation of male rats (Chapter IIA): sexually-naive males are more motivated to approach an estrous female over a nonestrous female. In addition, this experiment demonstrated that a single ejaculation is sufficient sexual experience to further enhance a male rat's sexual motivation. Only males that experienced an ejaculation, but not those who merely mounted and intromitted, reduced their mean



Figure 3. Mean (+SEM) run times for three groups of subject males (N=10 each): the "No Sexual Experience" (top), "One Intromission" (middle), and "One Ejaculation" (bottom) groups. Within each graph, the two bars to the left are subject run times when the goalbox contained a nonestrous (OVX) female, while the two bars to the right are subject run times when the goalbox contained an estrous (OVX+EB+P) female. The clear bars are mean run times prior to sexual experience (averaged across 3 trials), while the shaded bars represent run times following the groups' respective experience (averaged across 4 trials). run times for both nonestrous and estrous female targets. Presumably, ejaculatory reinforcement alters subsequent motivation by enhancing the incentive value of primary female cues. These cues include, but are not limited to, precopulatory cues emitted by females in estrus. It is noteworthy that males in the One Ejaculation group were also more motivated to encounter nonestrous female targets following their copulatory experience, suggesting that general feminine cues also obtained a higher incentive value.

While this and other experiments have demonstrated that ejaculation serves as an effective reward (e.g., Agmo & Berenfeld, 1990), it cannot be concluded that ejaculation is necessary for copulation to be reinforcing, or that a single ejaculation is the minimal amount of copulatory experience sufficient to influence subsequent motivation. Prior experiments have demonstrated that intromissions without ejaculation are capable of inducing learning in a T-maze (Kagan, 1955; Whalen, 1961) and shorter run times in an alley (Sheffield, Wulff, & Backer, 1951; Ware, 1968). However, in these experiments subjects received two intromissions per trial over a number of trials, rather than receiving sexual experience on a single occasion. The present results show that a single intromission is not rewarding enough to enhance the incentive strength of female cues. It is possible that if subjects had performed numerous intromissions without ejaculating, they would have manifested shorter run times in subsequent runway trials.

Figure 3 reveals an intruiguing pre-post effect among those subjects within the "no experience" and "one intromission" groups when running for an estrous female

target. In contrast to the "one ejaculation" subjects that subsequently decreased their mean run time following sexual experience, subjects within the other two groups increased their run times - i.e., expressed a decreased motivation to approach estrous females pre-to-post. This finding may be interpreted as a form of learning on the subjects' part, related to their diminishing expectancy of sexual reward in the context of the runway. Over the course of the experiment, they never receive sexual reinforcement within the runway and so the predictive value of the perceived sexual incentives extinguishes with time. Subjects that copulate to ejaculation with a receptive female midway through the experiment experience an enhancement in the incentive value of female cues such that their subsequent presence within the runway continues to be sexually motivating – indeed, even more so.

It is unlikely that sexual experience influenced subsequent running behavior due to a change in the incentive value of response variables or contextual cues (Domjan, Akins, & Vandergriff, 1992). Copulatory experience was not contingent upon the experimental operant response (running behavior within the alley). Providing subjects with copulatory experience in a different environment from the runway apparatus precluded the establishment of sexually-conditioned contextual cues. In addition, because the females used for copulation were different from the ones used as targets within the goalbox, it cannot be argued that males were more motivated to engage the target females because they had copulated with those particular females. Rather, subjects associated female cues with their sexual

72

.*

experience and generalized to other females exhibiting comparable cues when tested later during the post-experience trials.

Chapter III: The Role of Sexual Experience

B. Blocking of Incentive Enhancement by Haloperidol

The results of the previous experiment suggest that sexual experience enhances the incentive value of primary female cues through associative mechanisms dependent upon the rewarding nature of male ejaculation. Midbrain dopamine systems have been implicated in the processing of numerous rewarding events, including food and water, drugs of abuse, and intracranial self-stimulation (for reviews, see Ettenberg, 1989; Koob, 1992; Koob & Goeders, 1989; Phillips, 1984; Wise, 1982; Wise & Rompre, 1989). These conclusions are based in part upon the finding that systemic administration of dopaminergic antagonist drugs, such as haloperidol, effectively blocks the reinforcing consequences of such events. Thus, it seems plausible that the reward value of copulation and ejaculation may also be mediated by dopaminergic transmission, and subject to alteration via dopamine receptor blockade. If this were correct, then one would hypothesize that haloperidol challenge during sexual experience would prevent the subsequent expected increase in sexual motivation, by preventing reward-based incentive enhancement. The current experiment was devised to test this hypothesis.

Method

Animals

The subjects consisted of 34 male and 20 female Long-Evans rats obtained from Charles Rivers Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). Three of the females were used as runway targets, while the remaining 17 were paired with the males in order to provide them with sexual experience. The males were 70-100 days old and the

females 90-180 days old at the start of testing. All animals were housed individually in hanging wire cages within a temperature-controlled 22°C vivarium environment maintained under a reverse 14:10 light-dark schedule (lights on 2300 h-1300 h). Food and water were provided on an *ad libitum* basis.

Prior to arrival at our vivarium, the males were group housed but did not have access to females. Therefore, they were sexually-naive insofar as they lacked heterosexual (but possibly not homosexual) copulatory experience.

Surgery

All females were ovariectomized (OVX) through a single lower abdominal incision 1-6 weeks prior to testing, using standard aseptic surgical techniques conducted under deep anesthesia. Each animal was pretreated with 0.3 mg/kg IP atropine (Pittman-Moore, Washington Crossing, NJ) 15 minutes prior to the induction of anesthesia in order to reduce potential respiratory problems. Anesthesia was then induced by IP administration of 90 mg/kg ketamine and 2 mg/kg xylazine. All females received at least one week post-operative care prior to use within the experiment.

<u>Apparatus</u>

The apparatus used in this experiment was the same straight-arm runway described in Chapter IIA.

Procedure

On two separate days, each of the male subjects was allowed to individually explore the runway apparatus for 5-7 minutes. The three female targets were also

individually placed within the goalbox for 10 minutes each on two days. This was done to acclimate the animals to the novel runway environment. All testing took place under red light conditions during the dark portion of the rats' photoperiod.

On any given test day, all 34 male subjects ran for the same target in the goalbox; only one trial per day per subject was conducted. The procedure for individual trials in this experiment was identical to that described in Chapter IIIA. On different days/trials, subjects ran for one of two different targets, randomly determined: either a nonestrous female (OVX female) or an estrous female. Estrus was induced via subcutaneous (SC) administration of 15 μ g of estradiol benzoate (in 0.1 ml sesame oil) 48 and 24 hours before testing, with an additional SC injection of 500 μ g progesterone (in 0.1 ml propylene glycol) 3-5 hours before testing. Steroid hormones were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, MO. Behavioral estrus was confirmed prior to the days' trials during a brief one minute pretest. Each of the three target females was rotated through both hormonal conditions three to four times over the course of the experiment.

Subject males ran a total of ten trials, one trial per day (five for a nonestrous target and five for an estrous target) before they were provided with sexual experience. Following these ten trials, each subject was assigned to one of four groups (N = 8-9/group) such that the mean baseline run times for both nonestrous and estrous targets was approximately the same for all four groups. Over the course of two days, all four groups were taken to a separate testing arena in order to provide them with sexual experience. Each subject male was tested individually under red

light during the dark portion of the photoperiod. The testing arena was composed of cylindrical Plexiglas, 45 cm diameter by 60 cm height, with the floor of the arena covered with wood-chips. A total of seventeen OVX Long-Evans females, given estradiol and progesterone to induce robust receptivity, were used. It should be noted that while the same three females were used as targets throughout the runway portions of the experiment, none of these target females were used to provide sexual experience. Each male was individually paired with a female until he achieved one ejaculation. Males within the control group were given intraperitoneal (IP) vehicle injections of 0.002 M lactic acid 45 minutes prior to testing. Subjects in the remaining three groups were given an IP injection of haloperidol (0.05, 0.075, or 0.10 mg/kg) dissolved in 0.002 M lactic acid, 45 minutes prior to testing. All injections were made in a volume of 1 ml/kg.

When the males were provided with sexual experience, two measures of copulatory performance were recorded for each subject: mount latency (ML) and ejaculation latency (EL). Mount latency is defined as the time between introduction of the receptive female and the first successful mount conducted by the male. Ejaculation latency is the time between introduction of the female and ejaculation.

Each subject male was returned to his home cage following sexual experience. Two days later, subjects were re-tested within the runway for their motivation to approach either a nonestrous or an estrous female target. A total of ten post-sexual experience trials were conducted, one trial per day, five for a nonestrous target, five for an estrous target. Thus, over the course of the entire experiment, each of the 34

subjects ran a total of 20 trials within the runway, 10 prior to sexual experience and 10 afterwards.

Results

Baseline Run Times

Prior to receiving any sexual experience, the mean (\pm SEM) run time (over five trials) of all 34 male subjects was faster for the estrous female target than for the nonestrous female target: 35.8 (\pm 5.9) and 59.4 (\pm 6.9) seconds, respectively. A one-tailed, paired-sample *t*-test comparing these means revealed a significant difference, t(33)=3.915, p<0.001. Thus, even prior to any sexual experience, male rats are more motivated to approach an estrous female versus a nonestrous female.

Effect of Haloperidol on Sexual Behavior

The mean (\pm SEM) mount latencies for the four experimental groups (vehicle, 0.05, 0.075, and 0.10 mg/kg haloperidol) were: 39.4 (\pm 10.5), 56.7 (\pm 26.9), 181.1 (\pm 110.2), and 67.5 (\pm 24.3) seconds, respectively. The mean (\pm SEM) ejaculation latencies were: 693.8 (\pm 117.5), 426.7 (\pm 71.0), 544.4 (\pm 115.7), and 531.2 (\pm 55.3) seconds. A one-way ANOVA comparing the mean mount latencies between the four groups and another ANOVA comparing the mean ejaculation latencies were conducted to determine whether haloperidol had an inhibitory effect upon copulatory performance. At the doses used, there was no significant effect of haloperidol on mount latency, *F*(3, 30)=1.131, *p*=0.35, nor on ejaculation latency, *F*(3,30)=1.341,

p=0.28. Hence, haloperidol did not reliably alter these measures of male sexual performance.

Effect of Sexual Experience + Haloperidol on Run Times

The male subjects' performance in the runway (mean+SEM run times) during pre- and post-sexual experience trials is depicted for each group in Figure 4 (panels A-D). A mixed two-factor (Sexual Experience x Target Receptivity) ANOVA was conducted on the data within each group. For the vehicle-group, there was a significant main effect of sexual experience, F(1,7)=5.178, p=0.05, and a significant main effect of the target's sexual receptivity, F(1,7)=9.024, p=0.02, but no interaction between these two factors. Thus, subjects in this group ran reliably faster for target females following sexual experience, and faster for estrous females over nonestrous females. For the 0.05 mg/kg and 0.075 mg/kg haloperidol groups, there were no significant main effects of sexual experience or receptivity, nor a reliable interaction. For the 0.10 mg/kg haloperidol group, there was a main effect of sexual experience, F(1,7)=7.561, p=0.03, but no effect of receptivity nor an interaction. However, in contrast to the vehicle group, the high-dose subjects took significantly longer to approach target females following sexual experience.

In order to better visualize the effect of sexual experience (with and without haloperidol challenge) upon sexual motivation, difference scores were calculated by subtracting the post-sexual experience run time of each subject from his pre-sexual experience run time. The mean (+SEM) differences, plotted by the hormonal status of the target female, are depicted in Figure 5 (panels A and B). Large differences



Figure 4. Mean (+SEM) run times, pre- and post-sexual experience, for the four groups of experimental subjects. Panel A represent the vehicle controls, panels B-D depict data from subjects given haloperidol 45 minutes prior to sexual experience. Black bars represent mean run times prior to sexual experience, while white bars represent mean run times following sexual experience. Within each panel, the two leftmost bars are subject run times when the goalbox contained a nonestrous female target, and the two rightmost bars are subject run times for estrous female targets.



Figure 5. Mean (+SEM) difference in run time from pre-sexual experience trials to post-sexual experience trials, for four groups of experimental subjects. Top panel A depicts difference scores when subjects were running for nonestrous female targets, and bottom panel B depicts these data when subjects were running for estrous female targets. Positive difference scores represent faster running following sexual experience (i.e., an increase in motivation), while negative difference scores indicate that subjects ran slower for the target female following sexual experience.



Figure 6. Mean (+SEM) retreats per trial, pre and post-sexual experience, for two groups of experimental subjects. Panel A depicts the retreat behavior of the vehicle controls, and panel B displays the retreat data of the 0.10 mg/kg haloperidol-treated subjects. Black bars represent mean number of retreats prior to sexual experience, while white bars are mean retreats following sexual experience. Within each panel, the two leftmost bars are group retreats when the goalbox contained a nonestrous female target, and the two rightmost bars are retreats during trials when an estrous female target was in the goalbox.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

(deviations from zero) indicate changes in motivation following sexual experience; positive differences reflect an increase in motivation, while negative differences reflect a decrease. A two-way (Group x Target Receptivity) ANOVA comparing the difference scores across groups revealed a main effect of haloperidol dose, F(3,30)=3.476, p=0.028. A series of eight planned, one-tailed *t*-tests were conducted to determine whether each bar displayed in Figure 5 was significantly different from zero (i.e., was there a reliable change in run time following sexual experience). These analyses revealed a significant decrease in run time (increase in motivation) following sexual experience for subjects within the control condition, when running for both a nonestrous female, t(7)=2.221, p<0.05, and estrous female, t(7)=2.256, p<0.05. There were no significant pre-post differences for either the 0.05 or 0.075 mg/kg dose groups, when running for either nonestrous or estrous female targets. Subjects within the 0.10 mg/kg dose group took significantly more time (expressed decreased

motivation) to approach both nonestrous females, t(7)=-1.849, p<0.05, and estrous female targets, t(7)=-2.329, p<0.05, following sexual experience.

Effect of Sexual Experience + Haloperidol on Retreat Behavior

To further examine whether haloperidol influenced the motivational impact of sexual experience, we examined the retreat behaviors of the two experimental groups that expressed a significant change in run time following sexual experience: the vehicle group and the high haloperidol dose (0.10 mg/kg) group. The mean (+SEM) number of retreats displayed by these two groups, pre- and post-sexual experience, are shown in Figure 6. An overall three-way (Group x Sexual Experience x Target

Receptivity) ANOVA on these data revealed a significant main effect of group, F(1,14)=5.932, p=0.029, and a significant interaction between group and sexual experience, F(1,14)=13.498, p=0.003. This suggests that those subjects given the 0.10 mg/kg dose of haloperidol prior to sexual experience associated both positive and negative experiences with the female, later expressed as approach/avoidance conflict behavior (i.e., retreats) within the runway.

Discussion

This experiment successfully replicated several results from our earlier work on the sexual motivation of male rats. First, prior to receiving any sexual experience, male subjects were more motivated to approach estrous females over nonestrous females, reflecting an inherent motivational bias toward the former. Second, male subjects within the control group that received vehicle injections prior to copulating to ejaculation expressed an increased motivation to approach both nonestrous and estrous female targets in subsequent motivational testing. Thus, sexual experience consisting of one ejaculation is sufficient to enhance the incentive value of primary female cues.

Haloperidol challenge during copulation dose-dependently attenuated this effect. In particular, subjects within the 0.05 and 0.075 mg/kg groups did not experience an increase in sexual motivation following sexual experience. Their pattern of pre-to-post sexual experience run times mirrors that of subjects not given any sexual experience at all or merely one intromission without ejaculation. Based

upon these results, we suggest that the positive, rewarding properties of sexual behavior and ejaculation enhance the incentive value of female cues associated with copulatory experience through dopaminergic release.

Subjects within the high haloperidol dose group (0.10 mg/kg) expressed a decreased motivation to approach female targets following their sexual experience. There are at least three possible explanations for this. First, the haloperidol itself might have been punishing, causing the subjects to associate a negative drug experience with female cues. However, similar doses of haloperidol do not produce place aversions when paired alone with one side of a preference chamber, indicating that environmental cues associated with a haloperidol experience do not acquire negative valance (Spyraki, Fibiger, & Phillips, 1982ab). A second possibility is that the haloperidol compromised the sexual performance of the treated males, such that they were not able to engage in a similar degree of sexual behavior as control subjects. The data collected on mount and ejaculation latencies do not support this interpretation; there were no significant group differences on these measures, and all drug-treated males successfully achieved ejaculation following repeated mounting and intromission.

Although speculative, a third hypothesis is that the highest dose of haloperidol not only negated the positively reinforcing properties of sexual activity, but also caused the subjects to experience copulation as an aversive form of physical stimulation. This was not a consequence of either the haloperidol or the sexual behavior *per se*, but rather a negative result of the interaction or combination of the

two (at least at the highest haloperidol dose). If this were true then one might expect subjects, on subsequent trials, to approach the female targets because of their aforementioned inherent sexual attractiveness, but also avoid the targets because of the associated negative sexual experience. This approach-avoidance conflict would account for the increased frequency of post-experience runway retreats observed in the high-dose group (see Figure 6), particularly in view of the fact that such "retreat" behaviors have been shown to reflect motivational conflict under other circumstances (Ettenberg & Geist, 1993; Geist & Ettenberg, 1997).

As noted, at the doses administered, haloperidol had no significant effect upon either the mount or ejaculation latencies of the subject males. This finding is partly in contrast with earlier work demonstrating an inhibitory effect of dopamine antagonists on mount latency (Everitt, 1990; Pfaus & Phillips, 1989, 1991). However, in these earlier studies, decrements in sexual performance generally occurred following administration of higher haloperidol doses (0.1, 0.2, 0.5 mg/kg). The fact that haloperidol did not affect the sexual performance of our subjects diminishes the possibility that the subsequent differences in sexual motivation resulted from differences in the quantity of sexual experience received, rather than differences in the reinforcing quality of the act. Nevertheless, only two measures of sexual performance (mount and ejaculation latency) were examined. Hence, a more detailed observational analysis of the copulatory sessions, involving alternate behavioral measures such as copulatory hit rate, might have revealed subtle decrements in sexual function during dopamine antagonist challenge.

Surprisingly, evidence supporting a dopaminergic basis to sexual reward has been sparse. If true, one would expect that dopamine receptor antagonists would be capable of extinguishing operant responses maintained via sexual reinforcement, and prevent sexually-conditioned place preferences. While it has been reported that the mixed D1/D2 antagonist, alpha-flupenthixol, dose-dependently decreased responding for access to a receptive female under a second-order schedule (Everitt, 1990), Agmo and Berenfeld (1990) failed to block a sexually-conditioned place preference with a 1 mg/kg systemic dose of the dopamine antagonist, pimozide. However, their experiment more specifically focused upon the rewarding properties of the postejaculatory interval: males were placed in the preference chamber following copulation. Thus, pimozide did not challenge the reinforcing consequences of sexual behavior and ejaculation *per se*.

In contrast, numerous studies utilizing *in vivo* neurochemical techniques such as microdialysis and voltammetry, have documented a significant correlation between sexual activity and central dopamine release. Dopamine concentrations within the nucleus accumbens (Pfaus et al., 1990; Pleim et al., 1990) and the medial preoptic area of the hypothalamus (Hull et al., 1993, 1995; Sato et al., 1995) rise prior to (following exposure to estrous female cues) and during copulation. Moreover, repeated exposure to estrus female bedding leads to an increased, or sensitized, dopaminergic response within the nucleus accumbens (Mitchell & Gratton, 1991). It seems plausible then that dopaminergic activity during sexual behavior modulates the incentive value of primary female cues through this process of sensitization

(Wenkstern, Pfaus, & Fibiger, 1993). Increased mesolimbic dopamine transmission during copulation could serve both to reward ongoing sexual activity and to facilitate subsequent preparatory behaviors elicited by primary female incentives

These considerations attest to the difficulty in identifying the exact mechanism by which dopamine mediates changes in incentive value. While it is clear that dopaminergic activity during copulation induces learning, there are several potential explanations for this process. One possibility is dopamine specifically mediates the rewarding aspects of copulation but does not play a direct role in the associative process, which is controlled by non-dopaminergic pathways. In support of this possibility, Fleming and Kucera (1991) have noted that administration of the protein synthesis inhibitor, cycloheximide, or the noncompetitive NMDA antagonist, MK-801, during sexual behavior blocks the subsequent facilitation of male mounting behavior following sexual experience. This suggests that glutamatergic activity is also central to copulation-induced learning.

Schultz (1998) has suggested that dopamine mediates both the reward value of sexual experience and association formation itself, citing evidence that dopamine neurons activated by rewarding events are also implicated in the modification of synaptic transmission. Thus, sexual activity may increase the future responseproperties of neurons that signal the presence of sexually-relevant, female cues. Under this conception, dopamine-receptor antagonism during sexual activity would interfere with the modulation of female incentive value by preventing synaptic change. These considerations will be discussed further in Chapter V, in which an

experiment using immunocytochemistry to identify differences in c-fos expression between naïve and experienced male rats is discussed.

Chapter IV: Sexually-Conditioned Incentives

Primary female incentives form only one class of stimuli males find sexually inviting. Environmental stimuli that become associated with successful copulation, known as secondary or conditioned incentives, can also increase sexual motivation (Agmo, 1999; Stewart, 1995). For instance, male rats trained under second-order instrumental conditions learn to bar-press for presentation of a light previously associated with copulation (Everitt, 1990). Subjects allowed to periodically copulate with receptive females in a bi-level chamber eventually become behaviorally activated (display multiple level-changes) when placed into the chamber, indicating that the local environment has acquired motivational significance (Mendelson & Pfaus, 1989). Additionally, male rats spend a majority of their time on a sex-paired side of a conditioned place-preference apparatus, even if conditioning consists of only a single ejaculation (Agmo & Berenfeld, 1990). Males also demonstrate an ejaculatory-preference for receptive females marked with a scent previously paired with successful copulation (Kippin et al., 1998). Lastly, both male rats and Japanese quail initiate copulation and achieve ejaculation sooner with receptive females if a conditioned incentive is present (Domjan et al., 1986; Zamble, Mitchell, & Finlay, 1986).

As noted in Chapter I, there is growing evidence that dopamine plays a crucial role in mediating the behavioral activating effects of both primary and secondary incentives across a variety of motivational domains, including sex (Berridge & Robinson, 1998; Blackburn et al., 1987; Blackburn et al., 1989; Blackburn et al., 1992; Horvitz, 2000; Ikemoto & Panksepp, 1999; Kiyatkin, 1995; Mogenson et al.,
1980; Phillips et al., 1991; Robbins & Everitt, 1996; Salamone, 1994, 1996; Schultz, 1998; Schultz et al., 1997). However, many of the experimental methodologies employed in this research area confound the relative motivational impact of primary and secondary sexual incentives, making the interpretation of dopamine's exact effect somewhat difficult. For instance, subjects are often trained to emit an operant response (such as press a lever or traverse an alley) in order to gain access to a receptive female (Everitt, 1990; Moses et al., 1995; Warner et al., 1991). Administration of dopamine receptor antagonists under these conditions decreases the rate and/or intensity of operant responding. It is uncertain as to whether this reduced responding occurs because of a reduction in the incentive value of the female herself (who resides within the test-apparatus), the value of local conditioned cues, or the value of the operant response itself (Domjan, Akins, & Vandergriff, 1992). Additionally, dopamine receptor antagonism may block the reinforcing nature of the sexual encounter and thus lead to an extinction of operant responding (Ettenberg, 1989; Wise, 1982).

In order to address these issues, the current experiment was designed with the following goals in mind: 1) to establish a sexually-conditioned incentive following a minimum of sexual experience, 2) to experimentally isolate the motivational impact of a conditioned incentive, independent of other external factors, and 3) to examine dopamine's role in mediating the positive value and behaviorally-activating effects of a sexually-conditioned cue. In order to isolate the effect of a secondary incentive, we utilized an experimental protocol in which subjects do not receive sexual experience

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

within the same apparatus used to test their sexual motivation. Thus, a sexuallyreinforced operant response is not established. Male rats are conditioned to associate two neutral olfactory cues with copulation and social isolation respectively, within a Plexiglas arena. The incentive value of these cues is subsequently tested by presenting each of them individually to subjects within a straight-arm operant runway. The subjects' approach behavior towards the scent (located within the goalbox) is taken as an objective measure of its motivational value. This procedure allows for the examination of sexual motivation induced by sexually-conditioned cues independent of the effects of primary female incentives, as subjects never perceive nor encounter a female within the runway apparatus. Through administration of haloperidol prior to runway trials, the effects of dopamine receptor antagonism on the incentive value of a previously established conditioned cue can also be tested.

Method

<u>Animals</u>

A total of 93 male and 50 female Long-Evans rats were obtained from Charles Rivers Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). The males ranged from 80-100 days old and the females from 80-150 days old at the start of testing. All animals were housed individually in hanging wire cages within a 22°C vivarium environment maintained under a reverse 14:10 light-dark schedule (lights on 2300 h-1300 h). Food and water were provided on an *ad libitum* basis. Prior to arrival in the vivarium, the males were

group housed but did not have access to females. Therefore, they were sexuallynaive insofar as they lacked heterosexual copulatory experience.

Surgery

All females were ovariectomized (OVX) through a single lower abdominal incision 1-8 weeks prior to testing using standard aseptic surgical techniques and under deep anesthesia. For 30 females, anesthesia was induced by intraperitoneal (IP) administration of a 90 mg/kg ketamine, 2 mg/kg xylazine mix, in a volume of 1 ml/kg. For 20 females, isoflurane gas anesthesia (4% induction, 2% maintenance) was given. All animals were pretreated with 0.3 mg/kg IP atropine (Pittman-Moore, Washington Crossing, NJ) 15 minutes prior to the induction of anesthesia in order to reduce potential respiratory problems. Females received at least one week of postoperative care prior to initiation of the experiment.

Inducing Female Sexual Receptivity

Receptivity was induced in the female rats via hormonal administration consisting of subcutaneous (SC) administration of 15 μ g of estradiol benzoate (in 0.1 ml sesame oil) 48 and 24 hours before testing, with an additional SC injection of 500 μ g progesterone (in 0.1 ml propylene glycol) 3-5 hours before testing. Steroid hormones were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, MO.

Apparatus

Sexual conditioning took place within three cylindrical Plexiglas arenas (45 cm diameter, 40 cm height). Motivational testing occurred within the same straight-

arm runway described in Chapter IIA. However, neither of the experiments described here utilized a Plexiglas partition to divide the goalbox into two semi-circular halves.

Procedure

Phase 1: Conditioning

Two experiments were conducted, each employing an identical conditioning phase. On alternating days, subjects were given copulatory sessions in the presence of one of two distinct scents, either orange or almond extract (Felbro Food Products, Inc.), and isolation sessions in the presence of the other scent. Only one session per subject occurred each day. The scent paired with copulation will henceforth be referred to as the CS+, while the scent paired with social isolation will be referred to as the CS-. For half the subjects, the orange scent was the CS+ and almond the CS-, with the opposite being true for the other half. A total of five copulatory and five isolation sessions were given over the course of ten days. This ten-day period made up the entire conditioning phase of both experiments for the majority of subjects.

On each day, half of the male subjects were paired with a sexually receptive female until they achieved one ejaculation or until 30 minutes passed, whichever came first. Those subjects not given sexual experience spent an individual amount of time in the arena alone. The length of each subject's isolation period was equal to the amount of time it took that same subject to copulate to ejaculation on the preceding day. For the first day of conditioning, non-copulating subjects were arbitrarily isolated for 10 minutes. On half of the days (determined randomly), copulatory

sessions were conducted prior to the isolation sessions; on the remaining days, isolation sessions preceded the copulatory ones.

Immediately prior to each session, that day's scent was applied using a disposable wipe drawn along the top edge of the Plexiglas arena. On any given day, both copulatory and isolation sessions occurred in the presence of the same scent, such that the use of the two scents alternated day to day. At the end of all subject sessions each day, all three arenas were thoroughly cleaned with a 30% alcohol solution to remove any scent traces.

Periodically, some males would not immediately copulate with the introduced female, especially if it was their first conditioning session. In order to stimulate copulation, the initial female was replaced with a second, and sometimes third receptive female. If the male failed to copulate for 30 minutes, the session was terminated. At the end of the 10-day conditioning period, an 11th day of conditioning occurred during which all previously-noncopulating males were given an additional opportunity to copulate with a receptive female under identical circumstances as their earlier failure. If a subject failed to copulate on two or more conditioning sessions, including this 11th day, he was dropped from the experiment. A total of four males were dropped from Experiment 2 for this reason. No subjects were dropped from Experiment 1.

Female rats were rotated through hormone treatments such that receptivity was induced every four days. A different female was paired with a subject male each time he was given a copulatory session, such that over the course of the conditioning

phase he was exposed to five different females (possibly more, if female replacement had occurred due to lack of sexual activity). If a female was placed with a male but did not demonstrate immediate and sufficient receptivity for successful copulation, it was removed and replaced with another female.

Phase 2: Motivational Testing

Experiment 1:

All runway testing took place under red light conditions during the dark portion of the rats' photoperiod. Following the 10-day conditioning regimen, 16 male subjects were allowed to individually explore and habituate to the empty runway apparatus for 10 minutes on two consecutive days. Over the next four days, subjects were tested for their motivation to approach a goalbox placed under one of three conditions: unscented, CS+ scented, or CS- scented. Subjects were tested for the unscented goalbox (control condition) twice. For the scented-goalbox trials, a small glass container of the extract (holding approximately 30 ml) was placed, uncovered, at the far end of the goalbox 15 minutes prior to testing. On any given test day, all 16 subjects ran for the same goalbox condition; only one trial per subject per day was conducted. The order of trials across the four-day testing period was randomized for three separate groups of subjects.

Individual trials were conducted using the following procedure: first, a subject male was placed into the startbox for 15 seconds. The start-door was lifted and the subject was given access to the alley. Leaving the startbox interrupted an infrared photocell that triggered a timer, which stopped once the subject entered the

goalbox. At this point, the trial was ended and the subject returned to his home cage. The next subject's trial was then initiated. This procedure continued, one animal at a time, until all 16 subjects were tested. The order of subjects run was held constant throughout the experiment.

The dependent measure of interest was run time - i.e., the time elapsed between the subject's leaving the startbox and entering the goalbox. Thus, we view run time as an objective index of each subject's motivation to approach the goalbox stimuli; shorter run times presumably reflect greater motivation.

Experiment 2:

As in Experiment 1, all runway testing took place under red light conditions during the dark portion of the rats' photoperiod. After conditioning, 77 male subjects were habituated to the empty runway apparatus for 10 minutes on two consecutive days. On the following day, all subjects were given a baseline test to measure their motivation to approach an empty, unscented goalbox. Individual trials were conducted using an identical procedure as in Experiment 1. Subjects were then assigned to one of four haloperidol dosage groups.

The next day, each subject was tested within the runway for his motivation to approach either the CS+ or CS-, as described in Experiment 1. On this "test day", all subjects ran for the same goalbox condition. Half of the subjects within each dosage condition ran for their CS+ and half for their CS-, making a total of eight independent groups. Forty-five minutes prior to this test, subjects within each group were pretreated with either a vehicle injection or one of three doses of haloperidol, a

dopamine-receptor antagonist. Subjects in groups 1 and 2 were given IP vehicle injections of 0.002 M lactic acid. Subjects in groups 3 and 4, 5 and 6, and 7 and 8 were given IP injections of 0.075, 0.15, and 0.30 ml/kg haloperidol respectively. All injections were given in a volume of 1 ml/kg. To clarify, half the subjects in each dosage condition were pretreated with a given dose of haloperidol and then exposed to the CS+ on test day; the other half received the same treatment but were exposed to the CS-.

Results

Experiment 1

When tested for their motivation to approach the CS+, unexpected noises disrupted the trials of two subjects. Thus, the run times of these two subjects, but only for the CS+ goalbox condition, were excluded from analysis. Figure 7 shows the mean (+SEM) run time for all 16 subjects running for the three goalbox conditions (No Scent, CS+, and CS-). For the reason mentioned above, the mean for the CS+ condition only contains data from 14 subjects. A one-way repeated-measures ANOVA conducted on these data revealed a significant difference in run times across conditions, F(2, 26)=4.860, p=0.016. Three one-tailed, paired-sample *t*-tests compared the mean run times between each of the three conditions. There was no significant difference in subject run times between the No Scent and CS- condition, t(15)=-0.916, p=0.18. However, the difference between the No Scent



Figure 7. Mean (+SEM) run times for 16 male subjects tested for their motivation to approach an unscented (2 trials), an S+ scented (1 trial), and an S- scented goalbox (1 trial). Subjects took significantly less time to enter an S+ scented goalbox versus an S- scented or unscented goalbox.



Figure 8. Mean (+SEM) difference scores (test-baseline) for the eight groups of experimental subjects. Black bars represent difference scores for groups exposed to the S+ on test-day, while white bars represent difference scores for groups exposed to the S-. Positive difference scores indicate that subjects ran faster on test-day compared to baseline. Negative scores reflect slower run times on test-day compared to baseline. On test day, all subjects were pretreated with either vehicle or one of three doses of haloperidol 45 minutes prior to testing.

and CS+ condition was statistically significant, t(13)=2.206, p=0.023, as was the difference between the CS+ and CS- conditions, t(13)=-2.732, p=0.008.

Experiment 2

Figure 8 shows the mean (+SEM) difference scores (baseline-test run times) for all 8 groups of subjects. An overall 4 (dose) x 2 (test stimulus: CS+/CS-) ANOVA conducted on the data across all groups revealed a significant effect of dose, F(3, 69)=4.947, p=0.004. There was no overall effect of test stimulus nor a significant dose x stimulus interaction. To assess whether test-day performance reliably differed from baseline, individual one-tailed, one-sample *t*-tests were conducted on the data within each group, comparing the mean difference scores to zero. Subjects given vehicle injections and exposed to the CS+ on test-day ran significantly faster compared to baseline, t(10)=2.639, p=0.012. Subjects within both 0.30 mg/kg haloperidol dosage groups ran significantly slower on test-day compared to baseline, t(7)=-2.203, p=0.032 for the CS+ group, and t(8)=-1.932, p=0.045 for the CS- group.

Discussion

The results of both Experiment 1 and 2 indicate that male rats given five copulatory episodes in the presence of a distinct scent learned to associate it with sexual reward. In subsequent testing, subjects expressed a stronger motivation (as reflected by shorter run times) to approach the sexually-conditioned scent in an operant runway over a scent previously paired with isolation or an unscented goalbox. This approach behavior occurred even though subjects perceived the olfactory cue in a different environment from the one that they were conditioned in, and even though they did not experience sexual reinforcement within the runway itself. Thus, this methodology allows one to study the motivational impact of a secondary, conditioned incentive independent of other factors, including primary incentives and previously learned operant behaviors.

In addition, Experiment 2 provided evidence for a dopaminergic role in mediating these motivational effects. Vehicle-treated subjects exhibited run times for an CS+ scented goalbox that were significantly faster than times for an unscented goalbox (baseline), thereby replicating the data from Experiment 1. Subjects given the two lower doses of haloperidol (0.075 and 0.15 mg/kg) did not differentiate between an unscented goalbox and the CS+, signifying that the cue's incentive value had been abolished. The runway behavior of subjects given these same doses and presented with the CS- also did not differ from baseline. We believe this pattern of results indicates that haloperidol caused a selective motivational deficit, and not a general loss of motor ability. In contrast, subjects given the highest dose of haloperidol (0.30 mg/kg) ran significantly slower for both the CS+ and CS- in comparison to baseline, and their ability to initiate movement and traverse the runway appeared severely compromised. It is likely then that this dose of haloperidol caused both a motivational *and* motoric impairment.

It is conceivable that the two lower doses of haloperidol differentially impaired subjects' faster running for the CS+ versus their slower running for the CS-.

However, there are reasons to suspect that this explanation is inadequate. A number of studies have successfully dissociated the performance-debilitating effects of neuroleptics from their capacity to attenuate motivation (see Wise, 1982, for a review), and have shown that dopamine receptor antagonists do not necessarily compromise a rat's ability to respond normally on a single trial. In fact, prior research conducted in our laboratory has shown that haloperidol, within the dosage range adopted in the current study, does not affect the response-initiation latencies nor running speeds of subjects working in an operant runway for access to selfstimulation on the first few days of training (Horvitz & Ettenberg, 1989) or food or heroin during relapse-reinstatement (McFarland & Ettenberg, 1995, 1998, 1999). Our own previous work has shown that while doses of 0.075 and 0.15 mg/kg haloperidol slow a subject's approach behavior for a goalbox containing an estrous female (Lopez & Ettenberg, 2001), the same two doses do not affect subject run times when the goalbox contains a nonestrous female or is empty, again suggesting that haloperidol's actions can be specifically motivational and not motoric. Interestingly, pilot studies preceding that work also showed that a 0.30 mg/kg dose of haloperidol slowed subject run times for all targets, including an empty goalbox. Thus, taken together with our previous findings, the current experiment's pattern of results indicates that haloperidol doses of 0.15 mg/kg and below are capable of specifically targeting motivational systems, while those of 0.30 mg/kg (and presumably higher) tend to inhibit voluntary movement.

Our results support the large body of evidence implicating dopamine as a biochemical signal of motivationally significant stimuli (Blackburn et al., 1987; Blackburn et al., 1989; Blackburn et al., 1992; Kiyatkin, 1995; Mogenson et al., 1980; Phillips et al., 1991; Salamone, 1994; Schultz, 1998; Schultz et al., 1997). This dopaminergic signal can occur in response to the perception of primary incentives such as estrous female cues, even within a sexually-naïve male (for reviews, see Mitchell & Gratton, 1994; Phillips et al., 1991; for specific studies, see Louilot et al., 1991; Wenkstern, Pfaus, & Fibiger, 1993). The dopamine response may also become conditioned, tied to the perception of a stimulus that predicts the presence of a primary goal (Schultz, 1998; Schultz et al., 1997). West et al. (1992) noted that sexually-conditioned incentives increase the firing rate (percentage and magnitude) of cells within the nucleus accumbens, hypothesizing that this effect may be mediated by mesolimbic dopamine activation.

The two experiments described here successfully demonstrated that a conditioned incentive can be established through five pairings of sexual access with the presence of a distinct olfactory scent. This sexually-conditioned incentive is capable of eliciting behavioral approach within an operant runway, independent of other motivational factors (such as primary female incentives), and even though the scent had not been previously perceived within the runway apparatus. In addition, Experiment 2 illustrated that administration of the dopamine-receptor antagonist, haloperidol, prior to testing within the runway attenuates the incentive value and behavioral-activating effects of a sexually-conditioned cue. These results, along with

those presented in Chapters II and III, suggest that dopamine not only mediates the ability of sexual reward to enhance and establish incentives, but also the motivational impact of both primary and secondary sexual incentives. Chapter V: Sexual Incentive-Induced *c-fos* Expression

Numerous studies have documented copulation-induced expression of immediate early genes (IEG), such as *c-fos*, within a variety of brain regions and across a number of species (reviewed in Bialy & Kaczmarek, 1996; Pfaus & Heeb, 1997; Veening & Coolen, 1998). In the male rat, *c-fos* expression following sexual activity has been noted within the nucleus accumbens (NA) (Robertson et al., 1991), the medial preoptic area of the hypothalamus (MPOA) (Baum & Everitt, 1992; Baum & Wersinger, 1993; Coolen, Peters, & Veening, 1996; Greco et al., 1998ab; Lumley & Hull, 1999; Robertson et al., 1991), the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST) (Baum & Everitt, 1992; Baum & Wersinger, 1993; Coolen, Peters, & Veening, 1996; Greco et al., 1998ab; Robertson et al., 1991), and the amygdala (Baum & Everitt, 1992; Baum & Wersinger, 1993; Coolen, Peters, & Veening, 1996; Greco et al., 1998ab; Lumley & Hull, 1999), among others. These observations, along with the results of lesions studies and in vivo neurochemical analyses (reviewed in Bitran & Hull, 1987; Mitchell & Gratton, 1994; Sachs & Meisel, 1988), suggest that these regions comprise a neuroanatomic circuit dedicated to the generation of male sexual behavior.

However, the interpretation of these results is problematic, given the many potential causes of neuronal activation associated with male sexual behavior. Increased *c-fos* expression may be induced by the perception of sexually-relevant female cues, by changes in sexual motivation, or by the physical experience of copulation, including genital stimulation and ejaculation. Hence, it has been difficult to dissociate the relative contribution of appetitive versus consummatory components

(Beach, 1956; Everitt, 1990; Konorski, 1967) to neuronal activation when male subjects are allowed to engage in actual copulation. In order to address this concern, some experimenters have attempted to examine *c-fos* expression in males following the presentation of estrous cues (Baum & Everitt, 1992; Bressler & Baum, 1996; Greco et al., 1998b; Kollack-Walker & Newman, 1997; Yokosuka et al., 1999) or anogenital investigation of a nonestrous female (Coolen, Peters & Veening, 1997), independent of copulation. The degree of *c-fos* expression following mere exposure to a female presumably reflects the activation of precopulatory, incentivemotivational processes ultimately responsible for the initiation of goal-directed behavior.

Certain limitations within these studies, however, have prevented a complete portrayal of neural activity correlated with sexual desire. First, anogenital investigation of nonestrous females, while behaviorally similar to investigation of estrous females, does not provide equivalent, chemosensory input (Coolen, Peters & Veening, 1997). Certainly, male rats are more motivated to approach and engage estrous females over nonestrous females (e.g., Lopez, Olster, & Ettenberg, 1999); thus, *c-fos* induction following behavioral interaction with a nonestrous female does not reflect the full activation of sexually-specific motivational processes. Second, the presentation of female incentives is sometimes limited to pheromonal odors derived from the urine and feces of estrous females. While this technique has successfully induced *c-fos* expression within the MPOA and BNST of male hamsters (Kollack-Walker & Newman, 1997) and the premammillary nucleus of male mice (Yokosuka

et al., 1999), it has failed to induce greater *c-fos* expression in male rats compared to that seen following exposure to nonestrous odors (Bressler & Baum, 1996). Similarly, Baum and Everitt (1992) reported no difference in Fos-like immunoreactivity (Fos-Li) between male rats allowed to perceive an estrous female behind a mesh barrier, and isolated control males. In contrast, Greco et al. (1998b) not only found differences in *c-fos* induction between mated males and social controls (exposed to an estrous female, but prevented from physically interacting with them by a mesh barrier), but also between social controls and isolated controls, specifically within the MPOA, BNST, and dorsomedial amygdala.

In addition, all experiments that have looked at copulation- or cue-induced cfos expression in rats have utilized sexually-experienced males. Previous work by our laboratory and others has demonstrated that sexually-naïve male rats are more motivated to approach an estrous female over a nonestrous female, indicating that estrous cues are inherently attractive (Beach, 1942; Landauer, Wiese, & Carr, 1977; Lopez & Ettenberg, 2001; Lopez, Olster, & Ettenberg, 1999; Merkx, 1983). Thus, one might expect increased neuronal activation within sexually-significant brain regions in response to primary female incentives in naïve, as well as experienced males. Indeed, Wenkstern, Pfaus, and Fibiger (1993) have documented increased dopaminergic release within the nucleus accumbens of naïve male rats during their first exposure to an estrous female. One goal of the current experiment was to measure sexual incentive-induced *c-fos* activation in naïve male rats, with the

expectation that greater immunoreactivity would be observed following presentation of estrous versus nonestrous cues.

A second goal was to directly compare *c-fos* expression in naïve males to that in experienced males, and thus determine whether sexual experience induces measurable, long-term changes in neuronal reactivity to female incentives. Such changes might explain the enhanced sexual motivation of experienced males, as reflected by their greater propensity to initiate sexual behavior with a receptive female (Dewsbury, 1969; Fleming & Kucera, 1991), shorter mount latencies (Rabedeau & Whalen, 1959), and faster female-induced run times in an operant runway (Lopez, Olster, & Ettenberg, 1999), in comparison to naïve males. Experienced males are also less sensitive to losses of sensory information (Beach, 1942; Larsson, 1975; Saito & Moltz, 1986; Thor & Flannelly, 1977), to the anxietyprovoking effects of novel environments (Pfaus & Wilkins, 1995), to the loss of testosterone due to castration (Mitchell & Stewart, 1989), and to lesions of the MPOA (Allendash & Gorski, 1983; DeJonge et al., 1989). These observations collectively suggest that sexual experience modifies synaptic organization within motivationallyrelevant neural loci, such that the incentive value of estrous female cues is subsequently enhanced.

Based upon the conclusions of our earlier work (Lopez & Ettenberg, 2000; Lopez, Olster, & Ettenberg, 1999), we hypothesized that male subjects given one copulatory episode with a receptive female would subsequently demonstrate enhanced *c-fos* expression in response to the presentation of estrous female cues,

compared to that seen in naïve males. We focused our assessment on six specific neuronal populations, previously implicated in male sexual behavior: the NA (both core and shell), the MPOA, the BNST, and the amygdala (both basolateral and central regions).

Methods

<u>Animals</u>

A total of 24 male and 10 female Long-Evans rats were obtained from Charles Rivers Laboratories (Wilmington, MA). The males ranged from 80-100 days old and the females from 80-150 days old at the time of testing. All animals were housed individually in hanging wire cages within a temperature-controlled 22°C vivarium environment maintained under a reverse 14:10 light-dark schedule (lights on 2300 h-1300 h). Male and female rats were housed in separate rooms so as to prevent male perception of female incentives (e.g., olfactory and auditory cues) prior to testing. Food and water were provided on an *ad libitum* basis. Prior to arrival in the vivarium, the males were group housed but did not have access to females. Therefore, they were sexually-naive insofar as they lacked heterosexual copulatory experience. Surgery

All females were ovariectomized (OVX) through a single lower abdominal incision 1-8 weeks prior to testing using standard aseptic surgical techniques and under deep anesthesia induced by inhalation of isoflurane gas (4% induction, 2% maintenance; Western Medical Supply, Arcadia, CA). All animals were pretreated

with 0.3 mg/kg IP atropine (Pittman-Moore, Washington Crossing, NJ) 15 minutes prior to the induction of anesthesia in order to reduce potential respiratory problems. Females received at least one week of post-operative care prior to initiation of the experiment.

Inducing Female Sexual Receptivity

Within this paper, "nonestrous female" refers to an OVX female not given any hormonal treatments. An "estrous female" is an OVX female in which receptivity has been induced via hormonal treatment consisting of subcutaneous (SC) administration of 15 μ g of estradiol benzoate (in 0.1 ml sesame oil) 48 and 24 hours before testing, with an additional SC injection of 500 μ g progesterone (in 0.1 ml propylene glycol) 3-5 hours before testing. Steroid hormones were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, MO. Hormonally-treated females were screened prior to use in either copulatory experience or exposure tests to confirm receptivity.

Apparatus

Exposure tests occurred within a single Plexiglas cylinder (45 cm diameter, 40 cm height). Within this arena, a removable Plexiglas partition divided the area into two semi-circular halves. Sixteen 1.2 cm diameter holes drilled into the partition and spaced 8 cm apart from one another allowed air to pass between the two sides. Thus, the partition prevented even minimal tactile contact between subject and target, although visual, auditory and olfactory cues were accessible.

Procedure

Upon arrival, all subjects were handled for several days by the primary experimenter, and given three days of pre-exposure to the empty apparatus (10 minutes per day per animal). These steps were conducted in order to acclimate the subjects to the "background" stimuli they would encounter on test-day, thus reducing any potential novelty- or stress-induced *c-fos* response.

Subjects were divided into six groups, four animals per group: three groups were given sexual experience 24 hours prior to testing, while the other three groups remained sexually-naïve. Sexual experience consisted of a single pairing with a receptive female in an open-field (0.75m x 0.75m). Individual subjects were allowed to copulate with the female until they achieved a single ejaculation, at which point they were removed and returned to their home-cage. All copulatory episodes took place under red-light illumination, during the dark portion of the rats' photoperiod. All 12 males within the 3 sexually-experienced groups successfully achieved ejaculation with the female during this one pairing. In order to control for the experience of extra handling and transport, subjects in the sexually-naïve groups were individually placed within the open-field for 10 minutes each, without a female present.

The following day, subjects were tested in the exposure arena by pairing them with one of three stimulus targets: an uninhabited arena, a nonestrous female, or an estrous female. Prior to a subject's trial, the arena was prepared for use: a layer of bedding (Sanichips) was placed on the floor, the Plexiglas partition was introduced to

divide the arena into two halves, and a female target was placed into one half (for some test conditions). The stimulus properties of the bedding differed depending on the nature of the target. If the male was going to be exposed to an empty arena, then fresh, unscented bedding was used. If the male was going to be exposed to a nonestrous female, bedding that had been placed in holding-bin along with a different nonestrous female was used. Similarly, if the male was going to be exposed to an estrous female, bedding that had been scented by a different estrous female was used. The first and second males tested were always within the uninhabited-arena condition, the third and fourth within the nonestrous female target condition, and the fifth and sixth within the estrous female target condition. This order was maintained across test-days so as to prevent the possibility of lingering estrous odors influencing the *c-fos* expression in nonestrous-paired or uninhabited arena-paired subjects. However, the order of testing between sexually-naïve and sexually-experienced males was counterbalanced across test-days.

Each subject was exposed to their stimulus target for 15 minutes, during which time an experimenter recorded the number of genital grooms displayed by the subject. This was done in order to see whether subjects exposed to an estrous female engaged in a greater amount of physical self-stimulation, a potential confounding influence on *c-fos* expression in sexually-relevant brain systems. All testing occurred under red-light illumination during the dark portion of the photoperiod. Following the completion of each trial, the subject male was returned to his holding tub, the female target (if present) was either returned to her home-cage or prepared for use in

the next trial, and all bedding was removed from the floor of the arena. In addition, the experimenter wiped the entire arena with a moistened paper-towel between trials in order to remove any male and/or female odors.

Perfusion, tissue processing, and immunocytochemistry

Exactly one hour following the completion of each exposure trial, the subject was deeply anesthetized with an intraperitoneal injection of 1 ml sodium pentobarbital (Nembutol: Pittman-Moore, Washington Crossing, NJ) and perfused transcardially with 200 ml of 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer (PB; pH 7.2) followed by 400 ml of 4% paraformaldehyde in PB. Peak *c-fos* expression occurs approximately one hour following a significant stimulus event and persists for several hours (Baum & Everitt, 1992). Following perfusion, brains were removed, and cryoprotected for at least 24 hours in a 20% sucrose solution. Within five days, brains were disected into separate hemispheres, each right hemisphere was sliced into 40 µm coronal sections using a cryostat, and sections were immediately mounted onto slides. Slides were stored at -20° C until immunocytochemical staining.

The elite Vectastain Kit (Santa Cruz Biotech, Santa Cruz, CA) was used for the avidin-biotin peroxidase method of immunostaining. Sections were washed 2 X 10 min with 0.05 M tris-buffered saline (TBS), and then once for 5 min in 0.25% Triton-X-100, followed by 2 more 10 min washes with TBS. This was followed by a 5% dimethyl sulfoxide wash for 10 min, and 2 X 10 min TBS washes. To serve as a blocking step, each slide was incubated for one hour in a sealed, humidified chamber in 300 µl of a mixture containing 20% Normal Goat Serum (NGS), 1% Bovine Serum

Albumin, and TBS. Blocking was followed by a 24-hour incubation period with the primary antibody, also within sealed, humidified chambers. Primary antibody mixture consisted of rabbit anti-*c-fos* polyclonal (diluted 1:1000) in TBS, NGS, and 10% Triton. Sections were then washed 2 X 10 min in TBS before being incubated for 1 hour with the secondary antibody, consisting of anti-rabbit IgG, TBS, and NGS. Two more 10 min TBS washes followed. Sections were then incubated for 35 min in TBS containing 0.5% avidin-biotinylated horseradish peroxidase complex. Sections were washed 2 X 10 min in TBS prior to staining in a solution containing 3'3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB) and hydrogen peroxide in TBS for 20 min. Following a final 10 min wash in TBS, sections were dehydrated via a 70%, 95%, 100% ethanol series, cleared in a 30 min HemoDe soak, and lastly coverslipped using DPX.

In addition, a set of control slides were tested to ensure the specificity of the primary antibody. These slides were included in every step of the staining protocol with the following exception: during the primary antibody incubation, a mixture containing only TBS, NGS, and 10% Triton was applied. Later analysis of these slides revealed virtually no staining.

Cell Count

Numbers of positively stained nuclei, indicative of Fos-like immunoreactivity (Fos-Li), were counted using a microscope equipped with an eye-piece reticle that divided the field of view into a 10x10 grid (0.25 mm²). Initial positioning was accomplished at 10X magnification; the central four squares of the viewing-grid were placed over the targeted region. Magnification was then increased to 40X, and the

total number of positively-stained cells within the entire grid was counted. A research assistant, blind to each slide's experimental grouping, conducted all counting.

A total of six different brain regions were targeted for analysis, and an additional seventh brain region was included as a control. Both NA core (bregma +1.00, DV 7.3, ML 1.0) and shell (bregma +1.00, DV 6.8, ML 1.6) regions were examined, and were located using the position of the anterior commisure and third ventricle. The MPOA (bregma -0.92, DV 8.6, ML 0.3) and BNST (bregma -0.92, DV 7.6, ML 1.0) were identified using the positions of the anterior commisure, third ventricle, and optic chiasm. Both the basolateral (bregma -2.30, DV 8.5, ML 4.9) and central (bregma -2.30, DV 8.1, ML 4.0) nuclei of the amygdala were inspected, and located using the positions of the internal capsule and optic tract. Lastly, the ventral pallidum (VP; bregma -0.30, DV 7.8, ML 2.7) was examined as a control region. All brain areas were localized by referring to Paxinos and Watson (1986). Figure 9, panels A-C shows schematic diagrams of the areas under question.

Results

A preliminary analysis, consisting of a 2 (naïve/experienced) x 3 (teststimulus) ANOVA, revealed that there were no significant differences in the number of genital grooms displayed by subjects across all experimental conditions.

Figure 10, panels A-F, displays the mean (+SEM) number of positively stained, Fos- Li nuclei counted within a 0.25 mm² area in each of the six experimental



Figure 9. Location of seven neural regions that were targeted for Fos-Li analysis. These schematics were adapted from Paxinos & Watson (1986). $3V = 3^{rd}$ ventricle, ac=anterior commissure, AcbSh = nucleus accumbens shell, AcbC = nucleus accumbens core, AVPO = anteroventral preoptic nucleus, BLA = basolateral amygdala, BNST = bed nucleus of stria terminalis, CeA = central amygdala , Cpu = caudate putamen, ic = internal capsule, GP = globus pallidus, LH = lateral hypothalamus, LV = lateral ventricle, MPOA = medial preoptic area, opt = optic tract, ox = optic chiasm, VP = ventral pallidum.



Figure 10. Mean (+SEM) number of positively stained, Fos-Li nuclei counted within a 0.25 mm² area in each of the six experimental brain regions, for subjects exposed to each of the three test-stimuli. Panels A-F represent means from the a) NA shell, b) NA core, c) MPOA, d) BNST, e) basolateral amygdala, and f) central amygdala respectively. Black bars are sexually-naïve subjects and white bars are experienced subjects.



Figure 11. Photomicrographs of representative Fos-Li within the NA shell of naïve and experienced male rats exposed to the three test-stimuli. Panels A, C, and E are from naïve subjects, while panels B, D, and F are from experienced subjects. Panels A&B, C&D, and E&F are from subjects exposed to an uninhabited arena, a nonestrous female, and an estrous female, respectively.

brain regions. An overall 2 (naïve/experienced) x 3 (test-stimulus) x 6 (brain region) ANOVA revealed a significant effect of test-stimulus, F(2)=13.80, p<0.005. A total of six 2 x 3 (naïve/experienced x test-stimulus) ANOVA's were then conducted on the data presented in each of the panels of Figure 10, i.e. on the data for each brain region. These analyses revealed a main effect of test-stimulus within the NA shell, F(2)=11.81, p<0.005, and NA core, F(2)=5.13, p=0.017. There were no other significant main effects or interactions within any brain region.

A set of seven post-hoc, contrast-comparisons were then conducted on the data within panels A and B (NA shell and core), using Bonferroni's adjustment to achieve an alpha of 0.007 (comparisons between subjects placed within an uninhabited arena and subjects exposed to an estrous female were excluded because of their theoretical irrelevance). Within the NA shell, these analyses revealed a significant difference between naïve and experienced subjects exposed to an estrous female, p=0.006, and between experienced subjects exposed to a nonestrous versus estrous female, p=0.007. These differences in Fos-Li expression in the NA shell can be observed in the photomicrographs of Figure 11, panels A-F. There were no significant contrasts in the data obtained from the NA core.

Lastly, it should be noted that within the designated control region, the ventral pallidum, there were no differences in Fos-Li across all conditions. The mean (+SEM) numbers of stained nuclei noted within this brain region were 16.75 (+2.66), 18.50 (+3.69), 23.25 (+4.09), 13.00 (+5.70), 13.25 (+4.53), and 17.50 (+4.09) for the

naïve/control, naïve/nonestrous, naïve/estrous, experienced/control, experienced/ nonestrous, experienced/estrous conditions respectively.

Discussion

The results of this experiment indicate that the perception of primary female incentives, exclusive of copulatory activity, elicits *c-fos* activation within the nucleus accumbens of male rats. As hypothesized, incentive-induced *c-fos* expression within this region was enhanced by previous sexual experience; subjects allowed to copulate with a receptive female (24 hrs prior to testing) demonstrated greater Fos-Li when presented with an estrous female, compared to naïve subjects. In addition, there was greater Fos-Li within the NA shell of experienced males when exposed to an estrous female versus a nonestrous female. This suggests that the NA may be a critical processing center in the generation of male sexual motivation, a hypothesis that has already received a significant amount of support (Everitt, 1990; Pfaus & Everitt, 1995; Pfaus & Phillips, 1991). Thus, the measurement of incentive-induced Fos-Li may be a useful means of localizing areas dedicated to filtering motivationallyrelevant sensory input and/or those responsible for translating such information into appropriate behavioral responses (Mogenson et al., 1980).

Furthermore, given the evidence tying dopamine to incentive-motivational processes (Berridge & Robinson, 1998; Blackburn et al., 1987; Blackburn et al., 1989; Blackburn et al., 1992; Horvitz, 2000; Ikemoto & Panksepp, 1999; Kiyatkin, 1995; Mogenson et al., 1980; Phillips et al., 1991; Robbins & Everitt, 1996;

Salamone, 1994, 1996; Schultz, 1998; Schultz et al., 1997), it seems reasonable to hypothesize a link between dopamine release caused by the perception of primary female incentives and the enhanced Fos-Li noted in this study. Increases in extracellular dopamine within both the NA (Pfaus et al., 1990; Pleim et al., 1990; Wenkstern, Pfaus, & Fibiger, 1993) and MPOA (Hull et al., 1995) have been noted prior to and during copulation. These increases occur when males are simply allowed to perceive a receptive female from behind a mesh barrier, preventing physical interaction (Damsma et al., 1992; Fiorino, Coury, & Phillips, 1997; Hull et al., 1995), or when estrous pheromones are presented independent of an actual female (Louilot et al., 1991; Mitchell & Gratton, 1991, 1992). Moreover, repeated exposure to estrous female bedding leads to an increased, or sensitized, dopaminergic response within the NA (Mitchell & Gratton, 1991). These data collectively suggest that dopaminergic fluctuations within the NA and MPOA directly parallel changes in sexual motivation. The increased dopamine transmission during the preparatory and consummatory phases of sexual behavior in male rats could serve to both reward ongoing sexual activity and facilitate preparatory sexual behaviors that are elicited by primary or secondary incentives. The fact that the most significant Fos-Li seen in this study occurred within the nucleus accumbens shell, a primary terminal region for dopamine, certainly lends credence to the possibility that estrous cue-induced *c-fos* activity is correlated with dopaminergic release.

The observation that significant increases in Fos-Li were induced by estrous cues only in experienced males was somewhat surprising. Based on our previous

observations of the inherent incentive value of estrous cues (Lopez & Ettenberg, 2000, 2001; Lopez, Olster, & Ettenberg, 1999), and the fact that primary female incentives are capable of eliciting significant increase in dopamine release within the NA of naïve males (Wenkstern, Pfaus, & Fibiger, 1993), it was hypothesized that naïve males would also demonstrate enhanced Fos-Li in response to estrous versus nonestrous female cues. However, the *c-fos* IEG is only one member of a family of genes that are activated by neuronal stimulation, and its expression may not be involved in mediating unconditioned neurochemical responses to female incentives. Indeed, given the suspected role of *c-fos* and other IEG's in regulating long-term synaptic change due to experience, it is perhaps not surprising that the activity of this gene was more easily observed in sexually-experienced subjects. We have previously suggested that sexual experience, consisting of a single ejaculation, is capable of enhancing the incentive value of estrous cues (Lopez & Ettenberg, 2000; Lopez, Olster, & Ettenberg, 1999). The current experiment provided some evidence that such adjustments in incentive value may be related to activity of the *c-fos* gene, and specifically occur within the nucleus accumbens.

As stated in the introduction, copulation-inducted Fos-Li has been noted in the NA, as well as all of the other brain regions examined in this study. Perhaps such genomic activity during consummatory sexual behavior induces permanent synaptic changes that subsequently affect the sexual motivation and/or copulatory efficiency of experienced male rats. Lumley and Hull (1999) have noted that administration of a D1-receptor antagonist prior to copulation reduces the amount of Fos-Li observed in

the MPOA. This observation provides further evidence for a link between dopaminergic activity, induced by both appetitive and consummatory processes, and *c-fos* activation within sexually-relevant neural loci. We suspect that dopaminereceptor blockade during copulation would also prevent experience-mediated enhancement of incentive-induced Fos-Li, much as it prevents increases in male sexual motivation (Lopez & Ettenberg, 2000). **Chapter VI: Summary and Conclusions**
The data presented in this dissertation both expand upon and modify current hypotheses regarding the biopsychological features of male sexual motivation. Perhaps most importantly, the experimental results presented here challenge a fundamental tenet of incentive-motivational theory: that incentives must be learned through associative processes. The data presented in both Chapters II and III clearly indicate that adult male rats are inherently more attracted to estrous females over nonestrous females or other males. The perception of estrous female cues elicits unconditioned approach behavior in an operant runway, even though subjects have never experienced heterosexual copulation with a receptive female and are not allowed to physically interact with the target over the course of the experiment. It is perhaps because the majority of researchers implicitly assume that sexual experience is necessary for sexual motivation to emerge that virtually all methodologies utilized to examine motivational processes in laboratory animals involve the application of reinforcement and conditioning. In contrast, our research program demonstrates that an extended training period is not necessary, that subjects need merely to be exposed to goal-stimuli in order to exhibit goal-directed behavior. This finding should provide encouragement to researchers who wish to study motivational processes within naïve subjects across a number of behavioral domains, and explore the relationship between evolved psychological architecture and modification through learning.

To many scientists, and lay-people, it is perhaps not surprising that male rats are inherently attracted to estrous females. Ethologists and psychologists have long discussed the positive reproductive benefits that accrue to females who display their reproductive status to males, and to males who are capable of accurately interpreting such signals (Daly & Wilson, 1984; Symons, 1979). Periods of ovulation and possible fertilization occupy only small portions of the entire mammalian estrous/menstrual cycle. Sexual activity that occurs outside of this time frame is generally considered to be energetically wasteful and potentially dangerous, as copulation increases participants' risk of being the victim of predation or other environmental hazards. Females of many species evolved physical and behavioral signals that manifest themselves during this fertile period; in its characteristically efficient manner, natural selection causally tied such signals to the activity of ovarian hormones. Males who evolved the tendency to be attracted to and intiate copulation with those females displaying such cues possessed significant reproductive advantages over males that failed to distinguish between nonreceptive and receptive females.

Indeed, the alternative scenario, in which males must learn which stimuli predict possible copulation through processes of sexual reinforcement, is rife with contradiction. First and foremost, it fails to explain how or why a male would be capable of engaging in sexual activity with a receptive female during his first encounter. Some researchers have suggested that such an episode could occur spontaneously and accidentally (Agmo, 1999; Pfaus, 1996), but upon deeper consideration, the chances of an accidentally successful penile intromission into a waiting vagina are infinitesimally small. Second, even this scenario requires the existence of certain motivational biases, such as an attraction towards members of

one's species. The decision to draw the line of attraction arbitrarily between nonestrous and estrous female seems particularly nonsensical.

Having said this, it is also likely that certain non-copulatory, social interactions over the course of early development are essential to the formation of a "normal" motivational predisposition to engage estrous females. The pioneering work of Harlow stressed the importance of maternal bonding and physical feedback in the emergence of a normal adult sexual response (Harlow, 1965; Harlow & Harlow, 1969). In addition, it has been shown that adult male rats prefer to ejaculate in a receptive female whose vagina has been scented with an olfactory cue previously paired with the male's dam during his infancy (Fillion & Blass, 1986). Many species learn what a prospective mate should look like during infancy through contact with their parents and/or siblings (Bateson, 1983). However, such observations do not fit easily within the prototypical incentive-learning framework, as those mechanisms that establish the incentive value of sexual cues under these circumstances are clearly not simple reinforcement-mediated associative processes. Indeed, it is an amazinglyspecific learning process that allows an organism to learn certain attractiveness features from associations with kin while concurrently developing a functional incestavoidance mechanism (Lieberman, personal communication).

A further conclusion generated from this dissertation is that sexual experience is capable of influencing subsequent sexual motivation in two primary ways. First, it enhances the inherent positive incentive value of estrous female cues. Thus, on subsequent occasions, male rats with previous sexual experience demonstrate an increased desire to interact with receptive females, reflected in our experiments by faster approach behavior. This enhancement occurs even when sexual experience is limited to a single copulatory episode culminating in ejaculation; however, a single intromission with a receptive female is inadequate. We interpret these findings to signify that the rewarding consequences of copulation, and specifically ejaculation, strengthen the incentive value of those stimulus properties associated with female rats (both general feminine cues and specifically estrous cues). Thus, contrary to what has been suggested in the literature, primary incentives are not established by copulatory experience, but their value can be modified by it.

Whether this enhancement plays a functional role in the natural mating patterns of male and female rats is questionable. Wild rats live together in burrow colonies, generally consisting of a few unrelated adult males and several related females and their offspring (Barnett, 1963; Calhoun, 1962). Females that inhabit common burrows tend to experience estrous cycle synchronization, such that they enter "heat" concurrently. When mating occurs, numerous females and males copulate with one another, often switching mates between intromissions, until the estrous period terminates. This relatively unique mating system has been termed "panogamy" (McClintock, 1984). Assuming that a burrow might consist of both sexually naïve and experienced males, it is unclear what reproductive advantage experienced males would hold over their virgin counterparts, given that all males within the burrow tend to participate in mating once females come into estrus. It is

more likely that the enhanced sexual motivation of experienced males is a bi-product resulting from the activation of learning mechanisms that allow for the establishment of conditioned incentives.

This, as demonstrated in Chapter IV, is the second motivationally-significant consequence of sexual experience. Copulatory activity culminating in ejaculation is capable of transforming particular environmental stimuli, detached from the actual goal, into conditioned incentives that subsequently influence motivational systems. Again, it is likely that the rewarding aspects of copulation and ejaculation allow for such learning to take place. However, the exact nature of this learning process is far from clear. In particular, our results do not reveal whether the neutral stimulus becomes associated with the goal-stimulus (US) or the actual outcome (copulation). This question could be tested fairly easily: if a CS-US association is being formed, devaluing the US (through negative conditioning) following the establishment of the CS+ should reduce the motivational impact of the CS+. This assumes that perception of the CS triggers activation of an associated US representation that is ultimately responsible for stimulating motivation. If US devaluation had no effect on the motivational impact of the CS, this would provide evidence for a stimulus-outcome association (Dickinson & Balleine, 1994). This hypothesis has been tested in male Japanese quail, and results indicated that US devaluation did indeed attenuate approach behavior normally elicited by the CS+ (Hilliard & Domjan, 1995). However, the fact that sexual satiation was used as the mechanism of US-devaluation

introduces a serious confound into the results, namely that subjects were not sexually motivated in general, and thus not interested in the predictive value of the CS+.

On a functional level, the ability to form motivationally-specific CS-US or stimulus-outcome associations allows individual organisms to accommodate their behavior to local conditions (that vary between members of a species) in an attempt to efficiently satisfy recurring physiological needs and maximize survival and reproductive success. More specifically, sexual-conditioning might allow males to recall, seek, and identify locations where female conspecifics regularly gather, and where copulation is more likely to occur. In addition, sexual predictive signals may facilitate behavioral interactions between males and females, and potentially stimulate critical aspects of reproductive physiology (Domjan, Blesboi, & Williams, 1998; Graham & Desjardins, 1980). For example, male Japanese quail release a greater volume of semen and greater numbers of spermatozoa over controls when allowed to copulate in the presence of a sexually-conditioned, secondary incentive (Domjan, Blesboi, & Williams, 1998). More generally, such incentives are also capable of causing significant increases in both testosterone and lutenizing hormone within male rats (Graham & Desjardins, 1980), thus providing a physiological mechanism behind potential functional benefits.

This learning process is not necessary to establish primary female incentives, because those cues directly tied with the goal object are stable, recurrent features of an organism's environment, and thus a suitable target for natural selection. We would also expect primary incentives associated with other natural rewards, such as

134

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

food and water, and natural punishments, such as common predators, to unconditionally activate goal-directed behavior in experimental subjects. However, the stimulus properties of the experimental goal must adequately match those associated with the naturally-occurring, species-typical goal. For example, we would not expect that the presentation of laboratory "rat-chow" to activate midbrain dopamine systems in "naïve" rats, since it does not share many stimulus properties with the food normally consumed by wild rats in their natural habitat. In other words, their biopsychology is not well-adapted to respond to this goal. With repeated consummatory experience, however, subjects will learn to associate rat-chow with positive nutritional consequences, such that its stimulus properties become secondary incentives. It is this failure to appreciate the importance of an organism's "natural architecture" within the experimental setting that has engendered the bias towards learning in both traditional and modern incentive-motivational theory. Indeed, choice of both subject and goal alike is often conducted arbitrarily, with the assumption that the results generated reflect some common, universal structure among species. While aspects of both instrumental and classical conditioning are probably shared between many organisms, such an approach certainly precludes the examination of inherent motivational predispositions that are fundamental in the generation of natural behavior.

Beyond these speculations, there remain some critical questions regarding the ability of organisms to form predictive associations. First and foremost, how does an organism "decide" upon the local environmental cues that will become secondary

incentives, given the infinite possibilities available? It is very likely that the choice of secondary incentives is not a random process, and depends upon non-neutral incentive properties of particular classes of stimuli. For example, it is perhaps not surprising that those subjects discussed in Chapter IV found it relatively easy to associate food-related (orange and almond) olfactory cues with the US or sexual outcome. Certainly, it would be interesting to test whether other classes of stimuli (particularly non-organic smells, such as those of metal) would be as effective in conditioning regimens.

Second, what is the range of possible temporal and spatial relationships that can exist between the stimulus and physiological event (e.g., ejaculation) for conditioning to occur? Pfaus (personal communication) has suggested that for successful conditioning to occur, the US and CS must be paired during the postejaculatory interval. In the procedures described in Chapters III and IV, those males given sexual experience were allowed to co-exist with the females they copulated with for approximately one minute following ejaculation. Thus, it is possible that both the incentive-enhancement and incentive-establishment effects of sexual experience are mediated during this post-ejaculatory period.

It has been suggested that the answers to these questions are quite different depending upon the motivational/behavioral domain under examination (Domjan & Hollis, 1988). Adaptive learning specializations and constraints certainly exist for individual species and sexes (e.g., song-learning in male birds, learning of stellar orientation cues in migratory birds, dead-reckoning in ants; Sherry & Shacter, 1987).

Specializations may also exist in copulation-mediated learning, dependent upon the nature of a species' mating system and typical ecological conditions (Domjan & Galef, 1983; Domjan & Hollis, 1988). For these reasons, it would doubtless behoove researchers within this field to adopt a more evolutionary, comparative approach in the study of motivational systems, while the search for a common neural substrate or neurochemical mediator of "desire" continues.

The second central goal of this dissertation was to more specifically identify the role of dopamine in generating male sexual motivation. Previous research has made it quite clear that dopaminergic manipulations affect several aspects of male sexuality, even when controlling for potential motoric confounds. The data presented in Chapters IIB, IIIB, and IV suggest that dopamine participates in a variety of central processes that both directly and indirectly impact male sexual motivation. Before discussing these hypotheses, is should be noted that the use of haloperidol within this series of dissertation experiments introduces a number of interpretive difficulties, revolving around the drug's specificity. Haloperidol not only acts as a competitive dopamine-receptor antagonist at both D1 and D2 subtypes (with a substantially greater affinity for the latter), but also affects serotoninergic and adrenergic activity to a lesser degree (Kinon & Lieberman, 1996). Thus, while use of haloperidol in behavioral pharmacology has a long and well-established history, these studies should be viewed as a first-step in the exploration of dopamine's role in motivational processes. Further studies could make use of more specific dopamine-antagonist

drugs, as well as localize crucial neuronal populations through central administration of these drugs to particular brain regions.

With these caveats in mind, the results presented in Chapter IIIB suggest that dopaminergic release during sexual activity mediates incentive-enhancement, and presumably incentive formation as well (although this was not explicitly tested). This dopaminergic activity is probably also associated with the experience of sexual reward and the ability of copulation to reinforce operant behaviors, although the former is untestable and the latter, not applicable to the current research. Indeed, there are several possible means by which dopamine release during copulation could mediate incentive-learning or enhancement. Dopamine may be released during adaptively significant activities as a reflection of increased attention (Clark et al., 1987; Matthysse, 1978; Ragozzino, 2000). Attentional enhancement may, in turn, increase the probability of associative learning, and potentially focus such conditioning processes on relevant environmental stimuli. Dopamine may also mediate the learning process itself, such that haloperidol directly prevents incentiveformation. However, this hypothesis is less likely, considering the significant evidence documenting the continued capacity of organisms to learn even when under dopamine-receptor antagonist challenge (e.g., Spyraki, Fibiger, & Phillips, 1982ab). Finally, dopamine release may mediate a conscious hedonic experience that rewards organisms for engaging in adaptive behavior and simultaneously acts as a necessary catalyst for the establishment of stimulus-outcome associations. This explanation,

while intuitively reasonable, is also the most difficult to prove, given the inherently private nature of conscious experience.

In addition to mediating incentive-enhancement, dopamine also appears to serve as a signal of potential reward by responding to the presence of both primary and secondary incentives. Chapter IIB described an experiment in which haloperidol attenuated the unconditioned approach behavior that male rats display when presented with an estrous female, but did not affect run times for either nonestrous females or an empty goalbox. These results tie in quite well with previous *in vivo* demonstrations of an innate dopaminergic response to the presentation of estrous female cues within the nucleus accumbens (Louilot et al., 1991; Wenkstern, Pfaus, & Fibiger, 1993), with our data providing evidence that this response plays a functional role in mediating approach behavior towards a desired goal. However, it is possible that haloperidol treatment indirectly affected motivational activation via inhibition of sensory processes and/or attention.

Chapter IV presented an experiment in which haloperidol attenuated the motivational impact of secondary, conditioned incentives, previously established via copulatory experience. This result was somewhat surprising, for while several researchers had previously documented an inhibitory effect of dopamine-receptor antagonists on sexually-conditioned behaviors, such as lever-pressing for presentation of a conditioned incentive (Everitt, 1990) and level-changing behavior in a bi-level chamber (Pfaus & Phillips, 1989, 1991), it seemed possible that these earlier results were confounded by the involvement of multiple motivational factors. In addition,

our laboratory had previously shown that haloperidol does not reduce subjects' motivation to approach an olfactory discriminative stimulus (S+) predictive of either heroin or food reward (McFarland & Ettenberg, 1995, 1997, 1998).

However, a number of methodological differences between the McFarland & Ettenberg (hereforward, M&E) studies and those included in this dissertation may explain the discrepancy in results. Most significantly, in the M&E experiments, subjects were trained to traverse a runway through repeated trials of partial reinforcement. The discriminative stimuli placed within the runway (almond or orange extract) predicted the presence or absence of the goalbox reward. Motivational testing therefore took place within the same apparatus that conditioning was concurrently occurring. The subjects' motivation to approach the goalbox was mediated not only by the presence of secondary incentives (including the S+), but also the establishment of a stimulus-response association (and/or action-outcome association; Dickinson & Balleine, 1994). In addition, because reinforcement occurred within the runway, the many contextual cues available (i.e., the apparatus itself) most likely became salient secondary incentives over repeated testing. In contrast, those subjects in Chapter IV never received sexual reinforcement within the runway, and thus their motivation to approach the goalbox was based purely on the incentive value of the CS+ or CS-. One might expect that haloperidol would have less of a behavioral effect in the presence of multiple motivational inputs, including a strong S-R habit.

140

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

A second possibility emerges from the recent work of Shultz and colleagues (Schultz, 1998; Schultz et al., 1997) who have demonstrated that dopaminergic neurons respond to unexpected, but not expected, incentives. Perhaps then in the M&E studies, the subjects' increasing expectation of heroin or food reward upon presentation of the S+ led to an eventual decline in dopaminergic mediation of the incentive-motivational processes underlying their approach behavior. In contrast, for subjects in Chapter IV, the CS+ may have been an unexpected incentive in the context of the runway, and thus stimulated dopaminergic pathways. Haloperidol pretreatment annulled this response and prevented motivational activation.

Taken together, the data presented in Chapters IIB and IV suggest that sexual incentives, both primary and secondary, activate dopaminergic pathways that in some way are causally responsible for goal-directed, precopulatory behavior. This conclusion coincides with what other researchers have noted in different motivational domains, such as feeding, aggression, and the avoidance of a potentially dangerous stimulus (Berridge & Robinson, 1998; Blackburn, Pfaus, & Phillips, 1992; Blackburn, Phillips, & Fibiger, 1987; Blackburn et al., 1989; Ikemoto & Panksepp, 1999; Phillips, Pfaus, & Blaha, 1991; Robbins & Everitt, 1996; Salamone, 1994, 1996; Schultz, 1998; Schultz, Dayan, & Montague, 1997; Schultz et al., 1992). Interestingly, it seems that incentives may only activate dopaminergic pathways, and consequently stimulate goal-directed behavior, when an organism exists within a strong "drive-state." For example, Wilson et al. (1995) noted that a conditioned environment predictive of food-delivery induced accumbal dopamine release only

when animals were in a state of nutrient deprivation. Thus, motivational intensity seems to be directly correlated with the degree of midbrain dopamine activation. Given that sexual deprivation does lead to intensified sexual motivation under certain experimental circumstances (Lorenz & Leyhausen, 1973; Singer & Toates, 1987; Warner, 1927), we would predict that such deprivation would also lead to a greater dopaminergic response to the perception of both primary female incentives and sexually-conditioned incentives.

This potential interaction between drive and incentive value likely reflects a more general interaction between internal and external factors in the modulation of motivational states. Increased drive, as represented by the activation of homeostatic mechanisms and changing hormonal activity, may enhance the incentive value of goal-related stimuli via an interaction with midbrain dopaminergic pathways. Hull and colleagues (1997, 1999) have suggested that male sexual desire is heavily dependent upon testosterone-dopamine interactions within the MPOA. Similarly, within female rats, changing levels of ovarian hormones across the estrous cycle may act within other hypothalamic nuclei, such as the ventromedial nucleus, to alter the incentive value of male cues. Our data suggest that the internal, stored experience of past copulatory activity modulates dopaminergic activation of the nucleus accumbens (see Chapter VI). Thus, mesolimbic dopamine activity may indeed represent the final product of a crucial process whereby internal factors modify the incentive value of incoming representations of relevant environmental stimli.

If intensity of midbrain dopamine release is indicative of motivational strength and persistence, than a number of intriguing hypotheses present themselves. First, assuming that the intensity of male sexual desire is positively correlated with the attractiveness of a perceived female, then females with greater mate-value should stimulate a stronger dopaminergic response in the male brain. Additionally, for species that tend to establish long-term pair-bonds for reproductive purposes, perhaps the perception of one's mate would also stimulate greater dopamine release than perception of another conspecific. However, we have already noted how the opposite process, namely the perception of a novel female verus one that has been previously mated with, induces greater accumbens dopamine release in male rats (Fiorino, Coury, & Phillips, 1997). Would we see this response in species that do not exhibit strong Coolidge effects? These hypotheses are purely suggestive, and this discussion is not meant to indicate that dopamine is the only neurochemical mediator of sexual motivation. By necessity, this dissertation has focused on one neurotransmitter system, ignoring the role of serotonin, norepinephrine, and other chemicals that have been implicated in male sexual behavior (Pfaus & Everitt, 1995; Wilson, 1993).

From an information-processing standpoint, dopamine's dual role in mediating both reward-related learning processes and incentive-motivation is not illogical. An essential aspect of adaptive behavior is the translation of experienced events into motivational adjustment. In other words, an organism requires some means of integrating the results of behavioral choices into decision-making routines that will determine subsequent responses. Feedback regarding positive benefits (i.e.,

reward) and negative consequences (i.e., punishment) should not only create "cognitive expectancies" under similar environmental conditions (Tolman, 1932), but also modify pre-existing behavioral strategies in order to maximize future success in attaining relevant goals. Dopamine may be a biochemical substrate for mapping the positive effects of rewarding experience onto motivationally-appropriate algorithms, perhaps by simply increasing the probability of "approach" decisions when positive incentives are perceived.

The data presented in Chapter V provide some suggestive evidence regarding a potential neural locus of male sexual motivation. The observation of increased Fos-Li within the nucleus accumbens in response to estrous female cues (in comparison to nonestrous cue-induced activation) supports the hypothesis that this region is involved in appetitive sexual processes (Everitt, 1990; Pfaus & Phillips, 1991). The results also provide further support to a proposed link (Lumley & Hull, 1997) between dopaminergic release and *c-fos* activation. A variety of experimenters have recorded increases in dopamine concentration within the nucleus accumbens of male rats exposed to estrous female, using *in vivo* neurochemical techniques (Damsma et al., 1992; Fiorino, Coury, & Phillips, 1997; Pfaus et al., 1990; Pleim et al., 1990; Wenkstern, Pfaus, & Fibiger, 1993). A conjunction of these prior observations with the results from our *c-fos* study and the data presented in Chapter IIB, provide fairly compelling evidence that dopaminergic activation in the nucleus accumbens is a central causal factor in the generation of male sexual motivation.

The difference in incentive-induced Fos-Li between naïve and experienced males was particularly impressive since experienced subjects only received one copulatory episode to ejaculation prior to testing. However, the failure to note enhanced Fos-Li in response to estrous cues within sexually-naïve males was surprising, given our previous success in demonstrating the inherent attractiveness of primary female incentives. As suggested in the Chapter V discussion, activity of the *c-fos* gene may be more involved in mediating long-term changes in neuronal responsiveness based upon the effects of a previously rewarding experience. The fact that the strongest differences between naïve and experienced males were noted within the nucleus accumbens shell matches well with the results discussed in Chapter IIIB, in which dopaminergic blockade during copulation prevented subsequent increases in male sexual motivation. It is possible that increased dopaminergic activity within the nucleus accumbens during sexual activity may initiate a sequence of neurochemical events, involving *c-fos*, that subsequently lead to an enhanced, or sensitized neural response to the presenation of sexual incentives.

In summary, this dissertation has provided converging evidence in support of 1) an inherent male, motivational bias towards estrous incentives and 2) a role for dopaminergic release in mediating the behavioral-activating effects of both primary and secondary sexual incentives, and 3) a role for dopamine in copulation-mediated incentive-establishment and enhancement. These observations became possible through adoption of a modified operant paradigm in which subjects were not trained

to emit an operant response nor allowed consummatory sexual contact within the motivational-testing apparatus. Along with providing a new blueprint towards studying motivational processes in different behavioral domains, this dissertation also suggests that a more ethological, evolutionary approach towards studying appetitive processes is not only fruitful but necessary given the many potential species-specific motivational and learning predispositions. These considerations are particularly important in reference to sexual behavior, which may be regulated by quite different systems in males versus females, and across males of different mammalian species.

•

References

Agmo, A. (1999). Sexual motivation – an inquiry into events determining the occurrence of sexual behavior. <u>Behavioral Brain Research</u>, 105, 129-150.

Agmo, A. & Berenfeld, R. (1990). Reinforcing properties of ejaculation in the male rat: role of opioids and dopamine. <u>Behavioral Neuroscience, 104</u>, 177-182.

Allendash, G. & Gorski, R. (1983). Effects of discrete lesions of the sexually dimorphic nucleus of the preoptic area or other medial preoptic regions on the sexual behavior of male rats. <u>Brain Research Bulletin, 10</u>, 147-154.

Barnett, S.A. (1963). <u>The Rat: a Study in Behavior</u>. Chicago: Aldine Publishing

Bateson, P. (1983). <u>Mate Choice</u>. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.

Baum, M.J. & Everitt, B.J. (1992). Increased expression of *c-fos* in the medial preoptic area after mating in male rats: role of afferent inputs from the medial amygdala and midbrain central tegmental field. <u>Neuroscience, 50</u>, 627-646.

Baum, M.J. & Wersinger, S.R. (1993). Equivalent levels of mating-induced neural *c-fos* immunoreactivity in castrated male rats given androgen, estrogen, or no steroid replacement. <u>Biology of Reproduction, 48</u>, 1341-1347.

Beach, F.A. (1942). Analysis of the stimuli adequate to elicit mating behavior in the sexually-inexperienced male rat. <u>Journal of Comparative Psychology</u>, 33, 163-207.

Beach, F.A. (1956). Characteristics of masculine "sex drive". In M.R. Jones (Ed.), <u>Nebraska Symposium on Motivation</u> (pp. 1-31). Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

Beach, F.A. (1976). Sexual attractivity, proceptivity, and receptivity in female mammals. <u>Hormones and Behavior, 7</u>, 105-138.

Beach, F.A., & Jordan, L. (1956). Effects of sexual reinforcement upon the performance of male rats in a straight runway. <u>Journal of Comparative and</u> <u>Physiological Psychology</u>, 49, 105-110.

Berridge, K.C. & Robinson, T.E. (1998). What is the role of dopamine in reward: hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? <u>Brain Reserach</u> <u>Review, 28</u>, 309-369.

Bialy, M. & Kaczmarek, L. (1996). *C-fos* expression as a tool to search for the neurobiological base of the sexual behaviour of males. <u>Acta Neurobiologica</u> <u>Experimentalis, 56</u>, 567-577.

Bindra, D. (1976). <u>A Theory of Intelligent Behavior</u>. New York: Wiley.

Bitran, D. & Hull, E.M. (1987). Pharmacological analysis of male rat sexual behavior. <u>Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 11</u>, 365-389.

Blackburn, J.R., Pfaus, J.G., & Phillips, A.G. (1992). Dopamine functions in appetitive and defensive behaviors. <u>Progress in Neurobiology</u>, 39, 247-279.

Blackburn, J.R., Phillips, A.G., & Fibiger, H.C. (1987). Dopamine and preparatory behavior: I. Effects of pimozide. <u>Behavioral Neuroscience</u>, 101, 352-360.

Blackburn, J.R., Phillips, A.G., Jakubovic, A., & Fibiger, H.C. (1989).

Dopamine and preparatory behavior: II. A neurochemical analysis. <u>Behavioral</u> <u>Neuroscience</u>, 103, 15-23.

Boling, J., & Blandau, R. (1939). The estradiol-progesterone induction of mating responses in the spayed female rat. <u>Endocrinology</u>, 25, 359-364.

Bolles, R.C. (1975). Theory of Motivation. New York: Harper and Row.

Bozarth, M.A. (1991). The mesolimbic dopamine system as a model reward

system. In P. Willner & J. Scheel-Kruger (Eds.), The Mesolimbic Dopamine System:

From Motivation to Action (pp. 301-330). New York: Wiley and Sons.

Bozarth, M.A., & Wise, R.A. (1981). Intracranial self-administration of morphine into the ventral tegmental area in rats. <u>Life Sciences, 28</u>, 551-555.

Bressler, S.C. & Baum, M.J. (1996). Sex comparison of neuronal fos immunoreactivity in the rat vomeronasal projection circuit after chemosensory stimulation. <u>Neuroscience, 71</u>, 1063-1072.

Buss, D.M. (1994). <u>The Evolution of Desire: Strategies of Human Mating.</u> New York: Basic Books.

Calhoun, J.B. (1962). <u>The Ecology and Sociology of the Norway Rat</u>. USPHS Publication No. 1008.

Carr, W., Loeb, L, & Wylie, N. (1966). Responses to feminine odors in normal and castrated male rats. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 62, 336-338.

Carr, W., Loeb, L., & Dissinger, M. (1965). Responses of rats to sex odors. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 59, 370-379.

Chausmer, A., & Ettenberg, A. (1997). A role for D2 but not D1 dopamine receptors in the response-reinstating effects of food reinforcement. <u>Pharmacology</u>, <u>Biochemistry</u>, and <u>Behavior</u>, 57, 681-685.

Clark, C. R., Geffen, G. M., & Geffen, L. B. (1987). Catecholamines and attention: I. Animal and clinical studies. <u>Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews</u>, <u>11</u>, 341-352.

Coolen, L.M., Peters, H.J.P.W., & Veening, J.G. (1996). Fos immunoreactivity in the rat brain following consummatory elements of sexual behavior: a sex comparison. <u>Brain Research</u>, 738, 67-82.

Coolen, L.M., Peters, H.J.P.W., & Veening, J.G. (1997). Distribution of fos immunoreactivity following mating versus anogenital investigation in the male rat brain. <u>Neuroscience</u>, 77, 1151-1161.

Daly, M. & Wilson, M. (1984). <u>Sex, Evolution, and Behavior. Second</u> Edition. Boston: Willard Grant.

Damsma, G., Pfaus, J.G., Wenkstern, D., Phillips, A.G., & Fibiger, H.C. (1992). Sexual behavior increases dopamine transmission in the nucleus accumbens and striatum of male rats: comparison with novelty and locomotion. <u>Behavioral</u> <u>Neuroscience, 106</u>, 181-191.

DeJonge, F.H., Louwerse, A.L., Ooms, M.P., Evers, P., Endert, E., & Van de Poll, N.E. (1989). Lesions of the SDN-POA inhibit sexual behavior of male Wistar rats. <u>Brain Research Bulletin, 23</u>, 483-492.

DeJonge, F.H., Oldenburger, W.P., Louwerse, A.L., & VanDePoll, N.E.

(1992). Changes in male copulatory behavior after sexual exciting stimuli: effects of medial amygdala lesions. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 52</u>, 327-332.

de Wit, H., & Wise, R.A. (1977). Blockade of cocaine reinforcement in rats with dopaminergic receptor blocker pimozide, but not with noradrenergic blockers phentolamine or phenoxybenzamine. <u>Candaian Journal of Psychology</u>, 31, 195-203.

Dewsbury, D.A. (1969). Copulatory behavior of rats (*Rattus Norvegicus*) as a function of prior copulatory experience. <u>Animal Behavior, 17</u>, 217-223.

Di Chiara, G., Acquas, E., Tanda, G., & Cadoni, C. (1993). Drugs of abuse: biochemical surrogates of specific aspects of natural reward? <u>Biochemical Society</u> <u>Symposium, 59</u>, 65-81.

Dickinson, A & Balleine, B. (1994). Motivational control of goal-directed action. <u>Animal Learning and Behavior, 22</u>, 1-18.

Domjan, M., Akins, C., & Vandergriff, D.H. (1992). Increased responding to female stimuli as a result of sexual experience: tests of mechanisms of learning. Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, 45B, 139-157.

Domjan, M., Blesbois, E., & Williams, J. (1998). The adaptive significance of sexual conditioning: Pavlovian control of sperm release. <u>Psychological Science</u>, <u>9</u>, 411-415. Domjan, M. & Galef, B.G. (1983). Biological constraints on instrumental and classical conditioning: retrospect and prospect. <u>Animal Learning and Behavior, 11</u>, 151-161.

Domjan, M., Lyons, R., North, N.C., & Bruell, J. (1986). Sexual pavlovian conditioned approach behavior in male Japanese quail. <u>Journal of Comparative</u> <u>Psychology, 100</u>, 413-421.

Edwards, D.A. & Einhorn, L.C. (1986). Preoptic and midbrain control of sexual motivation. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 37</u>, 329-335.

Edwards, D.A., Walter, B., & Liang, P. (1996). Hypothalamic and olfactory control of sexual behavior and partner preference in male rats. <u>Physiology and</u> <u>Behavior, 60</u>, 1347-1354.

Eliasson, M., & Meyerson, B. (1975). Sexual preference in female rats during estrous cycle, pregnancy, and lactation. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 14</u>, 705-710.

Eliasson, M., & Meyerson, B. (1981). Development of sociosexual approach behavior in male laboratory rats. <u>Journal of Comparative and Physiological</u> <u>Psychology</u>, 95, 160-165.

Emery, D.E. & Sachs, B.D. (1976). Copulatory behavior in male rats with lesions in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 17</u>, 803-806.

Erskine, M.S. (1989). Solicitation behavior in the estrous female rat: a review. <u>Hormones and Behavior, 23</u>, 473-502.

Ettenberg, A. (1989). Dopamine, neuroleptics, and reinforced behavior. <u>Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 13</u>, 105-111.

Ettenberg, A., & Camp, C. (1986a). Haloperidol induces a partial reinforcement extinction effect in rats: implications for a dopamine involvement in food reward. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 25</u>, 813-821.

Ettenberg, A., & Camp, C. (1986b). A partial reinforcement extinction effect in water-reinforced rats intermittently treated with haloperidol. <u>Pharmacology</u>, <u>Biochemistry</u>, and Behavior, 25, 1231-1235.

Ettenberg, A., & Geist, T. (1993). Qualitative and quantitative differences in the operant runway behavior of cocaine and heroin reinforced rats. <u>Pharmacology</u>, <u>Biochemistry</u>, and Behavior, 44, 191-198.

Ettenberg, A., & Horvitz, J. (1990). Pimozide prevents the responsereinstating effects of water reinforcement in rats. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and</u> <u>Behavior, 37</u>, 465-469.

Ettenberg, A., MacConnell, L., & Geist, T. (1996). Effects of haloperidol in a response-reinstatement model of heroin relapse. <u>Psychopharmacology</u>, 124, 205-210.

Everitt, B.J. (1990). Sexual motivation: A neural and behavioral analysis of the mechanisms underlying appetitive and copulatory responses of male rats.

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 14, 217-232.

Everitt, B.J. (1995). Neuroendocrine mechanisms underlying appetitive and consummatory elements of masculine sexual behaviour. In J. Bancroft (Ed.), <u>The</u> <u>Pharmacology of Sexual Function and Dysfunction</u> (pp. 15-35). New York:

Everitt, B.J., & Stacey, P. (1987). Studies of instrumental behavior with sexual reinforcement in male rats (Rattus norvegicus): II. Effects of preoptic area lesions, castration and testosterone. Journal of Comparative Psychology, 101, 407-419.

Everitt, B.J., Cador, M., & Robbins, T.W. (1989). Interactions between the amygdala and ventral striatum in stimulus-reward associations: studies using a secord-order schedule of sexual reinforcement. <u>Neuroscience, 30</u>, 63-75.

Everitt, B.J., Fray, P., Kostarczyk, E., Taylor, S., & Stacey, P. (1987). Studies of instrumental behavior with sexual reinforcement in male rats (Ratus norvegicus): I. Control by brief visual stimulus paired with a receptive female. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Comparative Psychology, 101</u>, 395-466.

Everitt, B.J., Morris, K.A., O'Brien, A., & Robbins, T.W. (1991). The basolateral amygdala-ventrak striatal system and conditioned place preference: further evidence of limbic-striatal interactions underlying reward-related processes. <u>Neuroscience, 42</u>, 1-18.

Fadem, B., Barfield, R., & Whalen, R. (1979). Dose-respondent and timeresponse relationships between progesterone and the display of patterns of receptive and proceptive behavior in the female rat. Hormones and Behavior, 13, 40-48.

Feder, H. (1981). Estrous cyclicity in mammals. In N. Adler (Ed.), <u>Neuroendocrinology of Reproduction</u> (pp. 279-348). New York: Plenum Press.

Fillion, T.J. & Blass, E.M. (1986). Infantile experience with suckling odors determines adult sexual behavior in male rats. <u>Science, 231</u>, 729-730.

Finan, J.L. & Taylor, L.F. (1940). Quantitative studies in motivation: I. Strength of conditioning in rats under varying degrees of hunger. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Comparative Psychology, 29,</u> 119-134.

Fiorino, D.F., Coury, A., & Phillips, A.G. (1997). Dynamic changes in nucleus accumbens dopamine efflux during the Coolidge Effect in male rats. Journal of Neuroscience, 17, 4849-4855.

Fisher, A.E. (1962). Effects of stimulus variation on sexual satiation in the male rat. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 55, 614-620.

Fleming, A.S. & Kucera, C. (1991). Sexual experience effects are blocked both by the protein synthesis inhibitor, cycloheximide, and by the noncompetitive NMDA antagonist, MK-801. <u>Behavioral and Neural Biology, 56</u>, 319-329.

Fouriezos, G., & Wise, R.A. (1976). Pimozide-induced extinction og intracranial self-stimulation: responses rule out motor or performance deficits. <u>Brain</u> <u>Research, 103</u>, 377-380.

Fouriezos, G., Hansson, P., & Wise, R.A. (1978). Neuroleptic-induced attenuation of brain stimulation reward. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 92, 659-669.

Franklin, K.B.J. (1978). Catecholamines and self-stimulation: Reward and performance deficits dissociated. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 9</u>, 813-820.

155

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Franklin, K.B.J., & McCoy, S.N. (1979). Pimozide-induced extinction in rats: stimulus control of responding rules out motor deficit. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry,</u> <u>and Behavior, 11</u>, 71-76.

Gallistel, C.R., Boytim, M., Gomita, Y., & Klebanoff, L. (1982). Does pimozide block the reinforcing effect of brain stimulation? <u>Pharmacology</u>,

Biochemistry, and Behavior, 17, 769-781.

Geist, T., & Ettenberg, A. (1997). Concurrent positive and negative goalbox events produce runway behaviors comparable to those of cocaine-reinforced rats. <u>Pharmacology</u>, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 57, 145-150.

Gerber, G.J., Sing, J., & Wise, R.A. (1981). Pimozide attenuates lever pressing for water in rats. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 14</u>, 201-205.

Giantonio, G.W., Lund, N.L., & Gerall, A.A. (1970). Effect of diencephalic and rhinencephalic lesions on the male rat's sexual behavior. <u>Journal of Comparative</u> <u>and Physiological Psychology, 73</u>, 38-46.

Graham, J.M., & Desjardins, C. (1980). Classical conditioning: Induction of lutenizing hormone and testosterone secretion in anticipation of sexual activity. <u>Science, 210</u>, 1039-1041.

Greco, B., Edwards, D.A., Zumpe, D., & Clancy, A.N. (1998a). Androgen receptor and mating-induced Fos immunoreactivity are co-localized in limbic and midbrain neurons that project to the male rat medial preoptic area. <u>Brain Research</u>, <u>781</u>, 15-24.

Greco, B., Edwards, D.A., Zumpe, D., Michael, R.P., & Clancy, A.N.

(1998b). Fos induced by mating or noncontact sociosexual interaction in colocalized with androgen receptors in neurons within the forebrain, midbrain, and lumbrosacral spinal cord of male rats. <u>Hormones and Behavior, 33</u>, 125-138.

Hansen, S. (1982). Hypothalamic control of motivation: the medial preoptic area and masculine sexual behavior. <u>Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, Suppl. 1</u>, 121-126.

Hansen, S., Kohler, C., Goldstein, M., & Steinbusch, H.V.M. (1982). Effects of ibotenic acid-induced neuronal degeneration in the medial preoptic area and lateral hypothalamic area on sexual behavior in the male rat. <u>Brain Research, 239</u>, 213-232.

Harlow, H.F. (1965). Total social isolation: effects on Macacque monkey behavior. <u>Science, 148</u>, 666.

Hawlow, H.F. & Harlow, M.K. (1969). Effects of various mother-infant relationships on rhesus monkey behaviors. In B.M. Foss (Ed.), <u>Determinants of</u> <u>Infant Behavior</u>, Vol. 4 (pp. 15-40). New York: Barnes and Noble.

Harris, V.S. & Sachs, B.D. (1975). Copulatory behavior in male rats following amygdaloid lesions. <u>Brain Research, 86</u>, 514-518.

Heimer, L. & Larsson, K. (1966). Impairment of mating behavior in male rats following lesions in the preoptic-anterior hypothalamic continuum. <u>Brain Research</u>, <u>3</u>, 248-263.

Hetta, J., & Meyerson, B. (1978). Sexual motivation in the male rat. <u>Acta</u> <u>Physiologica Scandinavia, Suppl. 453</u>. Hilliard, S. & Domjan, M. (1995). Effects on sexual conditioning of devaluing the US through satiation. <u>The Quarterly Journal of Experimental</u> <u>Psychology, 48B</u>, 84-92.

Hlinak, Z., & Madlafousek, J. (1972). The dependence of sexual behavior of inexperienced males on the precopulation behavior of female albino rats.

Physiologica Bohemia, 21, 83.

Horvitz, J. (2000). Mesolimbocortical and nigrostriatal dopamine responses to salient non-reward events. <u>Neuroscience, 96</u>, 651-656.

Horvitz, J., & Ettenberg, A. (1989). Haloperidol blocks the responsereinstating effects of food reward: a methodology for separating neuroleptic effects on reinforcement and motor processes. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior,</u> <u>31</u>, 861-865.

Hughes, A.M., Everitt, B.J., & Herbert, J. (1990). Comparative effects of preoptic area infusions of opioid peptides, lesions, and castration on sexual behaviour in male rats: studies of instrumental behaviour, conditioned place preference, and partner preference. <u>Psychopharmacology</u>, 102, 243-256.

Hull, C.L. (1943). <u>Principles of Behavior</u>. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts.

Hull, E.M., Bitran, D., Pehek, E.A., Warner, R.K., Band, L.C., & Holmes, G.M. (1986). Dopaminergic control of male sex behavior in rats: effects of an intracerebrally-infused agonist. <u>Brain Research, 370</u>, 73-81.

Hull, E.M., Du, J., Lorrain, D.S., & Matuszewich, L. (1995). Extracellular dopamine in the medial preoptic area: implications for sexual motivation and hormonal control of copulation. <u>Journal of Neuroscience</u>, 15, 7465-7471.

Hull, E.M., Du, J., Lorrain, D.S., & Matuszewich, L. (1997). Testosterone, preoptic dopamine, and copulation in male rats. <u>Brain Research Bulletin, 44</u>, 327-333.

Hull, E.M., Eaton, R.C., Moses, J., & Lorrain, D. (1993). Copulation increases dopamine activity in the medial preoptic area of male rats. <u>Life Sciences</u>, <u>52</u>, 935-940.

Hull, E.M., Weber, M.S., Eaton, R.C., Dua, R., Markowski, V.P., Lumley, L., & Moses, J. (1991). Dopamine receptors in the ventral tegmental area affect motor, but not motivational or reflexive, components of copulation in male rats. <u>Brain</u> <u>Research, 554</u>, 72-76.

Hull, E.M., Lorrain, D.S., Du, J., Matuszewich, L., Lumley, L.A., Putman, S.K., & Moses, J. (1999). Hormone-neurotransmitter interactions in the control of sexual behavior. <u>Behavioral Brain Research, 105</u>, 105-116.

Ikemoto, S. & Panksepp, J. (1999). The role of nucleus accumbens dopamine in motivated behavior: a unifying interpretation with special reference to rewardseeking. <u>Brain Research Review, 31</u>, 6-41.

Jowaisas, D., Taylor, J., Dewsbury, D., & Malagodi, E. (1971). Copulatory behavior of male rats under an imposed operant requirement. <u>Psychonomic Science</u>, <u>25</u>, 287-290.

Kagan, J. (1955). Differential reward value of incomplete and complete sexual behavior. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 48, 59-64.

Kinon, B.J., & Lieberman, J.A. (1996). Mechanisms of action of atypical antipsychotic drugs: a critical analysis. <u>Psychopharmacology</u>, 124, 2-34.

Kippin, T.E., Talianakis, S., Schattmann, L., Bartholomew, S., & Pfaus, J.G.

(1998). Olfactory conditioning of sexual behavior in the male rat (Rattus

norvegicus). Journal of Comparative Psychology, 112, 1-11.

Kiyatkin, E.A. (1995). Functional significance of mesolimbic dopamine. <u>Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Review, 19</u>, 573-598.

Kollack-Walker, S. & Newman, S. (1997). Mating-induced expression of *c*fos in the male Syrian hamster brain: role of experience, pheromones, and ejaculations. Journal of Neurobiology, 32, 481-501.

Kondo, Y. (1992). Lesions of the medial amygdala produce severe impairment of copulatory behavior in sexually inexperienced male rats. <u>Physiology</u> <u>and Behavior, 51</u>, 939-943.

Kondo, Y. & Arai, Y. (1995). Functional association between the medial amygdala and the medial preoptic area in regulation of mating behavior in the male rat. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 57</u>, 69-73.

Kondo, Y. & Yamanouchi, K. (1995). The possible involvement of the nonstrial pathway of the amygdala in neural control of sexual behavior in male rats. Brain Research Bulletin, 38, 37-40.

Konorski, J. (1967). <u>Integrative activity of the brain</u>. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Koob, G.F. (1992). Neural mechanisms of drug reinforcement. In P.W. Kalivas & H.H. Samson (Eds.), <u>The neurobiology of drug and alcohol addiction</u>, <u>Annuals of the New York Academy of Science, 654</u>, 171-191.

Koob, G.F., & Goeders, N.E. (1989). Neuroanatomical substrates of drug self-administration. In J.M. Lieberman, & S.J. Cooper (Eds.), <u>The</u>

<u>Neuropharmacological Basis of Reward</u>. New York: Oxford University Press.

Kostarczyk, E.M. (1986). The amygdala and male reproductive functions: I. anatomical and endocrine bases. <u>Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 10</u>, 67-77.

Krebs, J.R. & Davies, N.B. (1993). <u>An Introduction to Behavioural Ecology</u>, <u>3rd ed</u>. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific Publications.

Landau, T., & Madden, J. (1983). Hormonal regulation of female proceptivity and its influence on male sexual preference in rats. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 31</u>, 679-685.

Landauer, M.R., Wiese, R.E., & Carr, W.J. (1977) Responses of sexuallyexperienced and naive male rats to cues from receptive vs. nonreceptive females. <u>Animal Learning and Behavior, 5</u>, 398-402.

Larsson, K. (1975). Sexual impairment of inexperienced male rats following pre- and postpubertal olfactory bulbectomy. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 14</u>, 195-199.

Larsson, K. & Heimer, L. (1964). Mating behaviour of male rats after lesions in the preoptic area. <u>Nature, 202</u>, 413-414.

LeMagnen, J. (1952). Les phenomenes olfacto-sexuels chez le rat blanc. Archives of Science Physiological, 6, 295-332.

Liu, Y., Sachs, B.D., & Salamone, J.D. (1998). Sexual behavior in male rats after radiofrequency or dopamine-depleting lesions in nucleus accumbens.

Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 60, 585-592.

Liu, Y., Salamone, J.D., & Sachs, B.D. (1997). Lesions in medial preoptic area and bed nucleus of stria terminalis: differential effects on copulatory behavior and noncontact erection in male rats. <u>Journal of Neuroscience</u>, 17, 5245-5253.

Lopez, H.H., & Ettenberg, A. (2000). Haloperidol challenge during copulation prevents subsequent increase in male sexual motivation. <u>Pharmacology</u>, <u>Biochemistry</u>, and Behavior, 67, 387-393.

Lopez, H.H., & Ettenberg, A. (2001). Dopamine antagonism attenuates the unconditioned incentive value of estrous female cues. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry</u>, and Behavior, 68, 411-416.

Lopez, H.H., Olster, D.H., & Ettenberg, A. (1999). Sexual motivation in the male rat: the role of primary incentives and copulatory experience. <u>Hormones and Behavior, 36</u>, 176-185.

Lorenz, K. & Leyhausen, P. (1973). <u>Motivation of human and animal</u> behavior. New York: Van Nostrand. Louilot, A., Gonzalez-Mora, J.L., Guadalupe, T., & Mas, M. (1991). Sexrelated olfactory stimuli induce a selective-increase in dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens of male rats: a voltammetric study. <u>Brain Research, 553</u>, 313-317.

Lumley, L.A. & Hull, E.M. (1999). Effects of a D1 antagonist and of sexual experience on copulation-induced Fos-like immunoreactivity in the medial preoptic nucleus. <u>Brain Research, 829</u>, 55-68.

Lydell, K. & Doty, R.L. (1972). Male rat odor preferences for female urine as a function of sexual experience, urine age, and urine source. <u>Hormones and</u> <u>Behavior, 3</u>, 205-212.

Madlafousek, J., Hlinak, Z., & Beran, J. (1976). Decline of sexual behavior in castrated male rats: effects of female precopulatory behavior. <u>Hormones and</u> <u>Behavior, 7</u>, 245-252.

Malmnas, C.O. (1976). The significance of dopamine, versus other catecholamines, for L-Dopa induced facilitation of sexual behavior in the castrated male rat. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior, 4</u>, 521-526

Malmnas, C.O. (1977). Dopaminergic reversal of the decline after castration of rat copulatory behavior. Journal of Endocrinology, 73, 187-188.

Malsbury, C.W. (1971). Facilitation of male copulatory behavior by electrical stimulation of the medial preoptic area. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 7</u>, 797-805.

Mason, S.T., Beninger, R.J., Fibiger, H.C., & Phillips, A.G. (1980).

Pimozide-induced suppression of responding: evidence against a block of food reward. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 12</u>, 917-923.

Matthysee, S. (1978). A theory of the relation between dopamine and attention. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 14, 241-248.

McClintock, M.K. (1984). Group mating in the domestic rat as a context for sexual selection: consequences for the analysis of sexual behavior and neuroendocrine responses. Advances for the Study of Behavior, 14, 1-50.

McFarland, K., & Ettenberg, A. (1995). Haloperidol differentially affects reinforcement and motivational processes in rats running an alley for intravenous heroin. <u>Psychopharmacology</u>, 122, 346-350.

McFarland, K., & Ettenberg, A. (1997). Reinstatement of drug-seeking behavior produced by heroin-predictive environmental stimuli.

Psychopharmacology, 131, 86-92.

McFarland, K. & Ettenberg, A. (1998). Haloperidol does not affect motivational processes in an operant runway model of food-seeking behavior. Behavioral Neuroscience, 112, 630-635.

McFarland, K. & Ettenberg, A. (1999). Haloperidol does not attenuate conditioned place preferences or locomotor activation produced by food- or heroinpredictive discriminative cues. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 62</u>, 631-641.
Mehrara, B.J. & Baum, M.J. (1990). Naloxone disrupts the expression but not the acquisition by male rats of a conditioned place preference response for an oestrous female. <u>Psychopharmacology</u>, 101, 118-125.

Melis, M.R. & Argiolas, A. (1995). Dopamine and sexual behavior.

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 19, 19-38.

Mendelson, S.D. & Gorzalka, B.B. (1987). An improved chamber for the observation and analysis of the sexual behavior of the female rat. <u>Physiology and</u> <u>Behavior, 39</u>, 67-71.

Mendelson, S.D. & Pfaus, J.G. (1989). Level searching: a new assay of sexual motivation in the male rat. Physiology and Behavior, 45, 337-341.

Merkx, J. (1983). Sexual motivation of the male rat during the oestrous cycle of the female rat. <u>Behavioural Brain Research</u>, 7, 229-237.

Meyerson, B.J., & Lindstrom, L. (1973). Sexual motivation in the female rat.

Acta Physiologica Scandinavia, Suppl. 389.

Michal, E.K. (1972). Effects of limbic lesions on behavior sequences and courtship behavior of male rats. <u>Behaviour</u>, <u>44</u>, 264-285.

Minerbo, G., Albeck, D., Goldberg, E., Lindberg, T., Nakari, M., Martinez, C., Garritano, J., & Smock, T. (1994). Activity of peptidergic neurons in the amygdala during sexual behavior in the male rat. <u>Experimental Brain Research, 97</u>, 444-450.

Mitchell, J.B. & Gratton, A. (1991). Opioid modulation and sensitization of dopamine release elicited by sexually relevant stimuli: a high speed

chronoamperometric study in freely behaving rats. Brain Research, 551, 20-27.

Mitchell, J.B. & Gratton, A. (1992). Mesolimbic dopamine release elicited by activation of the accessory olfactory system: a high speed chronoamperometric study. <u>Neuroscience Letters, 140</u>, 81-84.

Mitchell, J.B. & Gratton, A. (1994). Involvement of mesolimbic dopamine neurons on sexual behaviors: implications for the neurobiology of motivation. <u>Reviews in the Neurosciences</u>, 5, 317-330.

Mitchell, J.B. & Stewart, J. (1989). Effects of castration, steroid replacement, and sexual experience on mesolimbic dopamine and sexual behavior in the male rat. <u>Brain Research, 491</u>, 116-127.

Mogenson, G.J., Jones, D.L., & Yim C.Y. (1980). From motivation to action: functional interface between the limbic system and the motor system. <u>Progress in</u> <u>Neurobiology</u>, 14, 69-97.

Moses, J., Loucks, J.A., Watson, H.L., Matuszewich, L., & Hull, E.M. (1995). Dopaminergic drugs in the medial preoptic area and nucleus accumbens: effects on motor activity, sexual motivation, and sexual performance. <u>Pharmacology</u>, <u>Biochemistry</u>, and Behavior, 51, 681-686.

Moss, F.A. (1924). A study of animal drives. <u>Journal of Experimental</u> <u>Psychology</u>, 7, 165-185.

Nesse, R.M. & Berridge, K.C. (1997). Psychoactive drug use in evolutionary perspective. <u>Science</u>, 278, 63-64.

Paredes, R.G., Highland, L., & Karam, P. (1993). Socio-sexual behavior in male rats after lesions of the medial preoptic area: evidence for reduced sexual motivation. <u>Brain Research, 618</u>, 271-276.

Paxinos, G. & Watson, C. (1986). <u>The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates</u>, 2nd ed. San Diego, Academic Press.

Pehek, E.A., Warner, R.K., Bazzett, T.J., Bitran, D., Band, L.C., Eaton, R.C., & Hull, E.M. (1988). Microinjection of cis-flupenthixol, a dopamine antagonist, into the medial preoptic area impairs sexual behavior of male rats. <u>Brain Research, 443</u>, 70-76.

Pfaus, J.G. (1996). Homologies of animal and human sexual behaviors. Hormones and Behavior, 30, 187-200.

Pfaus, J.G., Damsma, G., Nomikos, G.G., Wenkstern, D.G., Blaha, C.D.,

Phillips, A.G., & Fibiger, H.C. (1990). Sexual behavior enhances central dopamine transmission in the male rat. <u>Brain Research, 530</u>, 345-348.

Pfaus, J.G. & Everitt, B.J. (1995). The psychopharmacology of sexual behavior. In F.E. Bloom & D.J. Kupfer (Eds.), <u>Psychopharmacology: The Fourth</u> <u>Generation of Progress</u>, (pp. 743-758). New York: Raven Press.

Pfaus, J.G. & Heeb, M.A. (1997). Implications of immediate-early gene induction in the brain following sexual stimulation of female and male rodents. <u>Brain</u> <u>Research Bulletin</u>, 44, 397-407. Pfaus, J.G. & Phillips, A.G. (1989). Differential effects of dopamine receptor antagonists on the sexual behavior of male rats. <u>Psychopharmacology</u>, <u>98</u>, 363-368.

Pfaus, J.G. & Phillips, A.G. (1991). Role of dopamine in anticipatory and consummatory aspects of sexual behavior in the male rat. <u>Behavioral Neuroscience</u>, <u>105</u>, 727-743.

Pfaus, J.G. & Wilkins, M.F. (1995). A novel environment disrupts copulation in sexually-naive but not experienced male rats: reversal with naloxone. <u>Physiology</u> and Behavior, 57, 1045-1049.

Phillips, A.G. (1984). Brain reward circuitry: a case for separate systems. Brain Research Bulletin, 12, 195-201.

Phillips, A.G., Pfaus, J.G., & Blaha, C.D. (1991). Dopamine and motivated behavior: insights provided by in vivo analyses. In P. Willner and J. Scheel-Kruger (Eds.), <u>The Mesolimbic Dopamine System: from Motivation to Action</u>, (pp. 199-224). Chichester: Wiley.

Pleim, E.T., Matochik, J.A., Barfield, R.J., & Auerbach, S.B. (1990). Correlation of dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens with masculine sexual behavior in rats. <u>Brain Research, 524</u>, 160-163.

Pottier, J.J.G. & Baran, D. (1973). A general behavioral syndrome associated with persistent failure to mate in the male laboratory rat. <u>Journal of Comparative and</u> <u>Physiological Psychology, 83</u>, 499-509.

Rabedeau, R.G. & Whalen, R.E. (1959). Effects of copulatory experience on mating behavior in the male rat. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 52, 482-484.

Ragozzino, M. (2000). The contribution of cholinergic and dopaminergic afferents in the rat prefrontal cortex to learning, memory, and attention.

Psychobiology Psychonomic Society, 28, 238-247

Robbins, T.W. & Everitt, B.J. (1996). Neurobehavioral mechanisms of reward and motivation. <u>Current Opinions in Neurobiology</u>, 6, 228-236.

Roberts, D.C., Corcoran, M.E., & Fibiger, H.C. (1977). On the role of ascending catecholaminergic systems in intravenous self-administration of cocaine. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior, 6</u>, 612-620.

Robertson, G.S., Pfaus, J.G., Atkinson, L.J., Matsumura, H., Phillips, A.G., & Fibiger, H.C. (1991). Sexual behavior increases *c-fos* expression in the forebrain of the male rat. <u>Brain Research, 564</u>, 352-357.

Sachs, B.D. (1997). Erection evoked in male rats by airborne scent from estrous females. Physiology and Behavior, 62, 921-924.

Sachs, B.D. & Barfield, R.J. (1976). Functional analysis of masculine copulatory behavior in the rat. In J.S. Rosenblatt, R.A. Hinde, E. Shaw, & C. Beer (Eds.), <u>Advances in the Study of Behavior, vol. 7</u> (pp. 91-154). Orlando, Academic Press.

Sachs, B.D. & Meisel, R.L. (1988). The physiology of male sexual behavior. In E. Knobil and J. Neil (Eds.), <u>The Physiology of Reproduction</u>, (pp. 1393-1485). New York: Raven Press.

Saito, T.R. & Moltz, H. (1986). Copulatory behavior of sexually naive and sexually experienced male rats following removal of the vomeronasal organ.

Physiology and Behavior, 37, 507-510.

Salamone, J.D. (1994). The involvement of nucleus accumbens dopamine in appetitive and aversive motivation. <u>Behavioral Brain Research</u>, 61, 117-133.

Salamone, J.D. (1996). The behavioral neurochemistry of motivation: methodological and conceptual issues in studies of the dynamic activity of nucleus accumbens dopamine. <u>Journal of Neuroscience Methods</u>, 64, 137-149.

Sato, Y., Wada, H., Horita, H., Suzuki, N., Shibuya, A., Adachi, H., Kato, R., Tsukamoto, T., & Kumamoto, Y. (1995). Dopamine release in the medial preoptic area during male copulatory behavior in rats. Brain Research, 692, 66-70.

Scaletta, L.L. & Hull, E.M. (1990). Systemic or intracranial apomorphine increases copulation in long-term castrated male rats. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry</u>, and Behavior, 37, 471-475.

Schultz, W. (1998). Predictive reward signal of dopamine neurons. <u>Journal</u> of Neurophysiology, 80, 1-27.

Schultz, W., Apicella, P., Scarnati, E., & Ljungberg, T. (1992). Neuronal activity in monkey ventral striatum related to the expectation of reward. <u>The Journal</u> of Neuroscience, 12, 4595-4610.

Schultz, W., Dayan, P., & Montague, P.R. (1997). A neural substrate of prediction and reward. <u>Science, 275</u>, 1593-1599.

Schwartz, M. (1956). Instrumental and consummatory meaures of sexual capacity in the male rat. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 49, 328-333.

Sheffield, F., Wulff, J., & Backer, R. (1951). Reward value of copulation without sex drive reduction. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, <u>44</u>, 3-8.

Sherry, D.F., & Schacter, D.L. (1987). The evolution of multiple memory systems. <u>Psychological Review, 94</u>, 439-454.

Shimura, T., Yamamoto, T., & Shimokochi, M. (1994). The medial preoptic area is involved in both sexual arousal and performance in male rats: re-evaluation of neuron activity in freely moving animals. <u>Brain Research, 640</u>, 215-222.

Simerly, R.B. & Swanson, L.W. (1986). The organization of neural inputs to the medial preoptic nucleus of the rat. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 246, 312-342.

Singer, B. & Toates, F.M. (1987). Sexual motivation. <u>The Journal of Sex</u> <u>Research, 23</u>, 481-501.

Slimp, J.C., Hart, B.L., & Goy, R.W. (1978). Heterosexual, autosexual and social behavior of adult male rhesus monkeys with medial preoptic-anterior hypothalamic lesions. Brain Research, 142, 105-122.

Spruijt, B.M., Meyerson, B.J., & Hoglund, U. (1989). Aging and sociosexual behavior in the male rat. <u>Behavioural Brain Research</u>, 32, 51-61.

Spyraki, C., Fibiger, H.C., & Phillips, A.G. (1982a). Attenuation by haloperidol of place preference conditioning using food reinforcement.

Psychopharmacology, 77, 379-382.

Spyraki, C., Fibiger, H.C., & Phillips, A.G. (1982b). Dopaminergic substrates of amphetamine-induced place preference conditioning. <u>Brain Research</u>, 253, 185-192.

Stefanick, M.L. (1983). The circadian patterns of spontaneous seminal emissions, sexual activity, and penile reflexes in the rat. <u>Physiology and Behavior</u>, <u>31</u>, 737-743.

Stellar, J.R., & Corbett, D. (1989). Regional neuroleptic microinjections indicate a role for nucleus accumbens in lateral hypothalamic self-stimulation reward. Brain Research, 477, 126-143.

Stellar, J.R., Kelley, A.E., & Corbett, D. (1983). Effects of peripheral and central dopamine blockade on lateral hypothalamic self-stimulation: evidence for both reward and motor deficits. <u>Pharmacology, Biochemistry & Behavior, 18</u>, 433-442

Stern, J. (1970). Responses of male rats to sex odors. <u>Physiology and</u> <u>Behavior, 5</u>, 519-524.

Stewart, J. (1995). How does incentive motivational theory apply to sexual behavior? In J. Bancroft (Ed.), <u>The Pharmacology of Sexual Function and</u> <u>Dysfunction</u> (pp. 3-14). New York: Excerpta Medica.

Symons, D. (1979). <u>The Evolution of Human Sexuality</u>. New York: Oxford University Press.

Tagliamonte, A., Fratta, W., Del Fiacco, M., Gessa, G. L. (1974). Possible stimulatory role of brain dopamine in the copulatory behavior of male rats.

Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior, 2, 257-260.

Tennent, B., Smith, E., & Davidson, J. (1980). The effects of estrogen and progesterone on female rat proceptive behavior. <u>Hormones and Behavior, 14</u>, 65-75.

Thor, D., & Flannelly, K. (1977). Social-olfactory experience and initiation of copulation in the virgin male rat. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 19</u>, 411-417.

Tiefer, L. (1969). Copulatory behavior of male Rattus novegicus in a multiple-female exhaustion test. <u>Animal Behavior, 17</u>, 718-721.

Toates, F. (1986). <u>Motivational Systems</u>. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Tolman, E.C. (1932). <u>Purposive Behavior in Animals and Men</u>. New York: Century Co.

Tombaugh, T.N., Tombaugh, J., & Anisman, H. (1979). Effects of dopamine receptor blockade on alimentary behaviors: home cage food consumption, magazine training, operant acquisition and performance. <u>Psychopharmacology</u>, 66, 219-225.

Van Furth, W.R. & Van Ree, J.M. (1996a). Appetitive sexual behavior in male rats: 1. The role of olfaction in level-changing behavior. <u>Physiology and</u> <u>Behavior, 60</u>, 999-1005.

Van Furth, W.R. & Van Ree, J.M. (1996b). Appetitive sexual behavior in male rats: 2. Sexual reward and level-changing behavior. <u>Physiology and Behavior</u>, <u>60</u>, 1007-1012.

Veening, J.G. & Coolen, L.M. (1998). Neural activation following sexual behavior in the male and female rat brain. <u>Behavioural Brain Research, 92</u>, 181-193.

Vega Matuszczyk, J., Appa, R.S., & Larsson, K. (1994). Age-dependent variations in the sexual preference of male rats. <u>Physiology and Behavior, 55</u>, 827-830.

Vega Matuszczyk, J., & Larsson, K. (1993). Sexual orientation and sexual motivation of the adult male rat. <u>Physiology and Behavior</u>, 53, 747-750.

Wallen, E.P. & Turek, F.W. (1981). Photoperiodicity in the male albino laboratory rat. <u>Nature, 284</u>, 402-404.

Ware, R. (1968). Development of differential reinforcing values of sexual responses in the male albino rat. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 63, 461-465.

Warner, L.H. (1927). A study of sex behavior in the white rat by means of the obstruction method. <u>Comparative Psychological Monographs</u>, 4, 1-67.

Warner, R.K., Thompson, J.T., Markowski, V.P., Loucks, J.A., Bazzett, T.J., Eaton, R.C., & Hull, E.M. (1991). Microinjection of the dopamine antagonist cisflupenthixol into the MPOA impairs copulation, penile reflexes and sexual motivation in male rats. <u>Brain Research, 540</u>, 177-182.

Wenkstern, D., Pfaus, J.G., & Fibiger, H.C. (1993). Dopamine transmission increases in the nucleus accumbens of male rats during their first exposure to sexually receptive female rats. <u>Brain Research, 618</u>, 41-46.

West, C.H., Clancy, A.N., & Michael, R.P. (1992). Enhanced responses of nucleus accumbens neurons in male rats to novel odors associated with sexually receptive females. <u>Brain Research, 585</u>, 49-55.

Whalen, R.E. (1961). Effects of mounting without intromission and intromission without ejaculation on sexual behavior and maze learning. Journal of <u>Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 54</u>, 409-415.

Whalen, R.E. (1964). Hormone-induced changes in the organization of sexual behavior in the rat. Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 57, 175-182.

Whalen, R.E. (1974). Estrogen-progesterone induction of mating in female rats. <u>Hormones and Behavior, 5</u>, 157-162.

Wilson, C. (1993). Pharmacological targets for the control of male and female sexual behavior. In A. Riley, M. Peet, & C. Wilson (Eds.), <u>Sexual</u> Pharmacology. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Wilson, C., Nomikos, G.G., Collu, M., & Fibiger, H.C. (1995). Dopaminergic correlates of motivated behavior: importance of drive. <u>The Journal of Neuroscience</u>, <u>15</u>, 5169-5178.

Wilson, J.R., Kuehn, R.E., & Beach, F.A. (1963). Modification in the sexual behavior of male rats produced by changing the stimulus female. Journal of <u>Comparative and Physiological Psychology, 56</u>, 634-644.

Wise, R.A. (1982). Neuroleptics and operant behavior: the anhedonia hypothesis. <u>Behavioral Brain Sciences</u>, 5, 39-87.

Wise, R.A. & Rompre, P. (1989). Brain dopamine and reward. <u>Annual</u> <u>Reviews of Psychology, 40</u>, 191-225.

Wise, R.A., Spindler, J., de Wit, H., & Gerber, G.J. (1978). Neurolepticinduced "anhedonia" in rats: Pimozide blocks reward quality of food. <u>Science, 201</u>, 262-264.

Wise, R.A., Spindler, J., & Legaut, L. (1978). Major attenuation of food reward with performance-sparing doses of pimozide in the rat. <u>Canadian Journal of</u> <u>Psychology</u>, 32, 77-85.

Yokel, R.A., & Wise, R.A. (1976). Attenuation of intravenous amphetamine reinforcement by central dopamine blockade in rats. <u>Psychopharmacology</u>, 48, 311-318.

Yokosuka, M., Matsuoka, M., Ohtani-Kaneko, R., Iigo, M., Hara, M., Hirata, K., & Ichikawa, M. (1999). Female-soiled bedding induced Fos immunoreactivity in the ventral part of the premammilary nucleus (PMv) of the male mouse. <u>Physiology</u> and Behavior, 68, 257-261.

Zamble, E., Mitchell, J.B., & Findlay, H. (1986). Pavlovian conditioning of sexual arousal: parametric and background manipulations. Journal of Experimental Psychology, 12, 403-411.

.

•